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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

This Annual Report (including the following sectiregarding Management’s Discussion and Analysisiréincial Condition and Results of Operations) am# forward-
looking statements regarding our business, finhooiadition, results of operations and prospectsrdd such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intendgldns,” “believes,” “seeks,”
“estimates” and similar expressions or variatiohsuzh words are intended to identify forward-lowkstatements, but are not the exclusive meardeafifying forwardlooking
statements in this Annual Report. Additionally tstaents concerning future matters, including statgmregarding our business, our financial positioa research and
development of our products and other statemegtzdeng matters that are not historical are forwlaoking statements.

n w n u

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&aport reflect the good faith judgment of our mamagnt, such statements can only be based on fatfaetors
currently known by us. Consequently, forward-loakstatements are inherently subject to risks awemsainties and actual results and outcomes méar difaterially from the
results and outcomes discussed in or anticipatetidbforward-looking statements. Factors that coalase or contribute to such differences in resuitsoutcomes include
without limitation those discussed under the hegiitisk Factors” below, as well as those discusdsewhere in this Annual Report. Readers are ungétb place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, whdak only as of the date of this Annual Repog.Midertake no obligation to revise or update anydrd-looking
statements in order to reflect any event or cirdamse that may arise after the date of this AnRegdort. Readers are urged to carefully review amsider the various
disclosures made in this Annual Report, which apietm advise interested parties of the risks antbfa that may affect our business, financial ctiowlj results of operations a
prospects.

Overview

We are developing active DNA immunotherapies arativees focused on treating and preventing cancetsrdectious diseases. Our DNA-based immunothesajm
combination with our proprietary electroporatioriielry devices, are intended to generate robustinmemesponses, in particular T cells, to fight stiskases. In 2014 we
reported that in a large, controlled phase Il chihstudy we achieved clinically relevant efficamainst a targeted disease (HPV-associated cedsisplasia) by generating
antigen-specific T cells. Our novel SynCommunotherapy design has shown the ability to begak the immune system’s tolerance of cancerdiss éédternatively, our
SynCon®product design is also intended to facilitate crstsain protection against known as well as newatshed strains of pathogens such as influenzanGhesrecognized
role of killer T cells in eliminating cancerousiofected cells from the body, our scientists bediéivat our active immunotherapies may play an itambrole in helping fight
such diseases. Human data to date have shownralfiéesafety profile of our DNA immunotherapiesideded using electroporation.

We have completed, current or planned clinical paogs of our proprietary SynC&immunotherapies for HPV-caused pre-cancers ancecgngrostate cancer,
breast/lung/pancreatic cancer, hepatitis C virulB\(H hepatitis B virus (HBV), HIV, influenza, andBla. Our partners and collaborators include Ffidafn-La Roche Ltd and
Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (“Roche”Yniversity of Pennsylvania, Drexel University, Natal Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Healtlyéncy of Canada, , National Institi
of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), UnileStates Military HIV Research Program (“USMHRRJ)S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectiddiseases
(“USAMRIID"), HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN"), Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (“DARRAY Medimmune, LLC.

Industry Background

Apart from the benefits provided by sanitation atehn water, we believe that the idea of stimugatire immune system, to date via preventive vascinas saved more
lives and prevented more human suffering than émgrdwuman invention. As recently as a century agectious diseases were the main cause of deatldwide, even in the
most developed countries. Today, there is a vasferaf vaccines available to protect against mtuaie two dozen infectious diseases, especiallyHibdren, completely or
virtually eradicating diseases such as smallpoxpetio.

Today the idea of stimulating the immune systemprévent or treat infections and cancers is an evare compelling concept, with significant time aragbital being
applied by the scientific community to advance pging new approaches. While conventional vacciohrtelogy long ago reached its technical boundattiesemergence of
new areas of scientific knowledge such as genoaridstechnologies like rapid sequencing have operad/ doors to new ways to enable the developmemtwfpreventive
vaccines for challenging infectious diseases andtreatments for diseases such as cancer, HIVhaepdtitis. Today the opportunity for immune stintinig technologies with
the potential to fight cancers and chronic infacsidiseases has never appeared more promisingryitable technology advancements such as checkipbibttors. Yet, while
yielding promising results, in many respects théame has been barely scratched. There remaigméicant need and opportunity for further advaneats.
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Inovio’s Solution

With our immunotherapy platform comprising our SymC products as well as our proprietary CELLECTR@lectroporation delivery technology, we have depetb:
rich pipeline of pre-clinical and clinical stageogucts that have generated, in vivo (in the bolg}t-in-class immune responses, in particular [5,0ehich are fundamental to
eliminating cancerous or infected cells. They &@ngng their potential to be used against any taxdjeancer or infectious disease. Our lead immumaply (for treating HPV-
associated precancer) met its primary and secomrghaiyoints in a large, controlled phase Il clingtaidy, achieving statistically significant anchatally relevant efficacy in
association with robust T cell activation. This veesomplished without serious adverse events andrily statistically significant adverse event lydimection site redness (our
immunotherapies are non-live and non-replicatirggefore they cannot cause the disease; they wosk maurally with the immune system and withincieétrols to reduce or
minimize the risk of unwanted inflammatory respas® serious adverse events have been attribwmar immunotherapies in human studies to dateds@tesults suggest
significant market potential not only for the lgaduct but for the broad spectrum of products thay be created based on our technology platform.

The Next Generation of Cancer and Infectious Dis&agatment: Inovio's SynC8tmmunotherapies

Our immunotherapies are designed to prevent asiggaophylactic) or treat an existing diseaserépeutic) by activating and magnifying an immungpanse to one or
more disease-specific antigens (proteins assocthda cancer or infectious disease that the hwitlyrecognize as foreign or not normal). Withobietquality control and
manufacturing challenges and costs of specifigaisonalized medicines, we can direct the immusigorese directly in the patient's own body to fighecific organisms or
cells. We do this simply by introducing the geneticle for the target antigen(s) into the tissugb®body that will serve as a temporary antigerdpction facility.

Our immunotherapies consist of one or more DNAmlds (circular string of DNA as a backbone) encgdinme or more selected antigen that are introdintecells
(directly in the body) of humans or animals. Oupra@ach uniquely enables dramatic uptake of the [pN&mids by the cells in a local tissue area. AfierDNA code for the
targeted antigen(s) is introduced to cells, thscehtural machinery for making their own proteirseful to the body temporarily produces the seteantigen(s) encoded by the
DNA sequences delivered to the cell. The antigpnitein manufactured through this process, is tiresented to the immune system and triggers ohetbrof two arms of the
immune system: the production of preventive antibgdknown as a humoral immune response, and/adtheation of therapeutic T-cells, known as awdel or cell-mediated
immune response. These responses are then readyttalize or eliminate infectious agents (e.gus@s, bacteria, and other microorganisms) or atelarefis (e.g. malignant
tumor or infected cells).

Our SynCor? DNA immunotherapies are designed to generate specifibody and T cell responses. First we idertifg or more antigens that we believe are the best
targets to help direct the immune system towardrtiqular cancer or infectious disease. We thetyapr SynCorf design process, which employs the extensive datiaile
from genomic databases. This SynCalesign uses the genetic makgof the selected antigen(s) from multiple vasasfta cancer or strains of a virus. We synthdticakate
new genetic sequence of the antigen that repreaaussensus of the slightly different DNA from tiplé variants or strains of the targeted antidie.can create a
differentiated SynCon variant to help the immunstem better recognize a cancer self-antigen (anéllantigen grown in the body). Alternatively, nave proof of principle in
human studies that we can generate immune respaitseSynCon immunotherapies not matched to diffestrains of an infectious disease, e.g. influenzeating a proof-of-
concept of the ability to move beyond today’s “dnug, one drug” paradigm in which a vaccine mustcim#tte strain of the circulating virus in ordeiptovide protection. These
SynCon®constructs may provide a solution to the genefiift'sand “drift” that is typical of many infecticidiseases. These new synthetic consensus DNArszegudo not
exist in nature and are patentable.

Technically speaking, SynCéimmunotherapies are designed by taking the priraariyno acid sequence from multiple strains or vasiaf a target disease antigen. We
align the multiple amino acid sequences and at pasttion of the sequence choose the individuaharacid that is most immunologically dominant, cawed or important. In
this process we create a new sequence that issersus of all the input sequences. This new syodtigtengineered sequence is similar to the odtiing sequences but does
match any. It does not exist in nature and is foeegatentable.

The SynCon sequences are further optimized at M Bvel for codon usage, improved mRNA stabiléyd are provided with enhanced leader sequencebésome
loading. The DNA inserts are therefore optimizethatgenetic level to give them high expressiorabdipy particularly in human cells. We believe skeedesign capabilities
allow us to better target appropriate immune systenhanisms and produce a higher level of the cadgden to enhance the overall ability of the inmatherapy to induce the
desired immune response.

The SynCon sequence is then inserted into a cirt@N6A plasmid. The plasmids are manufactured imaetdrial fermentation process using proven scalaislenology.
These DNA-based immunotherapies can be stable wmaderal environmental conditions for extended pisiof time.
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Inovio’s immunotherapies are injected in a localeaof selected tissue (muscle or skin) and therirejeorated (see next section) to facilitate catluiptake and gene
expression. The resulting immune response to théused antigens results in significant productibargibodies or T cells. Memory cells are creatmddurable effects and, in
the case of therapeutic applications, T cells @imtmediately “trafficked” to parts of the body wheells are displaying the target antigen.

Published human data from two different Syn€&NA immunotherapies--one for treating HPV-causeetqgancers and cancers as well as one for treatiignifection--
have generated best-in-class T cell responsesns tef magnitude, durability, and killing effectopiding evidence (demonstrated in three peer-mestkbclinical study
publications) of their potential to provide prevegatand therapeutic capabilities against canceddrdectious diseases. This compelling data is sttpf by the first clinically
significant efficacy data generated in a large imletd phase 1l study by any DNA-based immunothgnajth Inovio’s data reported in 2014.

Electroporation Delivery Technology

Despite how compelling the idea of delivering DNrAceding an antigen has been, delivering the DNAdtlly into a cell through the cell’'s protective ntmame has been a
significant challenge. Our immunotherapies areveedid into cells of the body into a small localeaoé tissue using our highly efficient, proprietafgctroporation (EP) DNA
delivery technology, which uses brief, locally @pglelectric fields to create temporary and rewdegpermeability, or pores, in the cell membranging this method allows us
increase the cellular uptake of the DNA plasmids ltifousand-fold or more compared to just deliyetire “naked DNA” alone. This extent of cellulartalge has proven to
enable the best-in-class immune responses thaawerkported, along with the efficacy results gatest by these immune responses.

Alternative delivery approaches based on the us&ruses and lipids are complex and expensive ané in the past created concerns regarding safetgaused
unwanted immune responses against the carriersttees (believed to compromise their ability tadeltheir DNA “payload” and provide protection).eMave published data
showing the superior immune responses generated$ynCorf immunotherapies delivered using our CELLECTR@lectroporation technology directly compared to a
leading viral vector (Adenovirus type 5) based apph. We have not seen any published data indictttencapability of alternative technologies foalisa using genetic code
generate preventive or therapeutic antigens toeskb®vio’s immune response data obtained to datematch the efficacy and immune responses datergeed in our large
controlled phase Il study.

We believe electroporation provides a relativetpightforward, cost effective method for deliverib®lA into cells with high efficiency, minimal coniphtions, and
importantly the ability to enable what we beliewsebe clinically relevant levels of gene expressioimune responses, and efficacy.

Products and Product Development

Inovio’s primary focus is to independently andfopiartnerships advance the products developedifsoimtegrated platform consisting of its SynCimmunotherapy and
CELLECTRA®electroporation technologies. We are currently tigpiag a number of DNA-based immunotherapies ferghevention or treatment of cancer and chronic
infectious diseases. The table below summarizestétas of our product development programs aseseber 31, 2014 .




Inovio SynCon® Immunotherapy Development

Development Status

Product and

Product Area Indication(s) Pre-Clinical Phase | Phase Il Phase IlI Partner/Funding/Sponsor
Cancer Cervical dysplasia (CIN 2/3) X X X P Inovio
(VGX-3100)
Cervical cancer (INO-3112) X 1P Inovio

(VGX-3100 + DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

Head/neck cancer (INO-3112) X IP Inovio
(VGX-3100 + DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

Aerodigestive cancer X IP Inovio
(INO-3106 +/- DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

Prostate cancer X P Inovio
(INO-5150 +/- DNA-based IL-12 cytokine)

hTERT expressing cancers (breast, lung, pancreatic) X IP Inovio
INO-1400

Infectious Disease  Hepatitis B Virus X P Roche
INO-1800
Hepatitis C Virus X IP GeneOne Life Sciences

INO-1800 + DNA-based IL-28 cytokine)

HIV (preventive & therapeutic) X P NIH/NIAID
(PENNVAX®-GP)

HIV (preventive) X 1P US MHRP/NIH/NIAID
(PENNVAX®-G)

Universal influenza X X NIH
(INO-3510)
Avian influenza X X Inovio

(VGX-3400x)

Ebola X P GeneOne Life Sciences
(VGX-4200)
Biodefense targets IP US AMRIID

X = Completed

IP = In Progress

P = Planning

Cancer Vaccines/Immunotherapies

Previous Immune Therapy Successes Point to thaeffatef Inovio’s Immunotherapy Approach

In recent years there have been multiple technadmtyancements and product approvals that haveidigéed the potential of immunotherapies to ushex irew era of
cancer therapeutics. Monoclonal antibodies (Mabsh ss Herceptifiand dendritic cell therapy Proven®yfor prostate cancer have had their varying degréssaccess.
Herceptin has been used to treat over 420,000 w¢@enentech Inc., 2010). While a significant stepvlrrd, suitable monoclonal antibodies with therappate characteristics
have been difficult to design or identify and exgiga to produce, and the technology does not lesedf o designing Mabs for many diseases. Dewmdvitiother cell-based
therapy is a highly personalized medicine involwiamoving cells from the patient, modifying themyltiplying them, then returning them to the bodgskles the high cost and
complex processes to manufacture the product, btie glaring weaknesses of this approach is thets not been shown to generate high levels afezespecific T cells.

More recently, progress in the field of immune dtpegnt inhibitors (Cls) has created further optimigegarding the potential for new immunotherapigsrst a
spectrum of cancers. The immune system reliessafeguard system of checkpoint mechanisms to prexeessive or incorrectly directed immune respsnigiany cancer ce
have the ability to “hijack” these checkpoints aredlitralize T cells sent by the immune system toiakte them. Checkpoint inhibitors prevent
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cancer cells’ ability to interfere with these cheaints and enable T cells (especially CD8 killezells) to complete their appropriate and intendéthdg function against the
cancer cell. Clinical studies by multiple comparvéslifferent checkpoint inhibitors have shown téatherapeutic impact against melanoma and otiresers - yet with
response rates in the 20 - 50% range, there reraaimportant opportunity to further improve thessults. They have also been associated with nartalesirable side effects.
Observations suggest that Cls may be less effeitiiere is not a high enough pre-existing levieduatigen-specific CD8 T cells. Nevertheless, thayvide significant
encouragement that a strong T cell generatingvattimmunotherapy used as a monotherapy or in coation with a checkpoint inhibitor may unleash phance significant
therapeutic potential. The first PD-1 ClI therapiese approved for commercial use in 2014.

More recently, a new category of immunotherapidiedadoptive cell transfer, for example CAR-T tealogy, has provided further evidence of the mafrjtroviding
an enhanced T cell presence to fight cancer. CARRsTachieved dramatic results in B cell cancerfottimately it has also been associated with sSicpnitt side effects. When
this technology has been applied to solid tumansiét generated significant cytokine storms thaeasulted in severe side effects including de&loseover, adoptive cell
transfer such as CAR-T, like dendritic cell theraipyolves removing T cells from a patient, modifyithem to better target a cancer cell, multiplytimg T cells, then returning
them to the patient. This is a highly personaliapdroach and as such this very complex therapprdgauct needs to be manufactured and release@dbrpatient, leading to
expensive manufacturing and increased supply a@iplexity. Moreover, this technology is still iaréy clinical development.

So while the last two decades have yielded promitnhnology advancements that better harnesdivateccapable killer T cells, there is a worlduotapped potential
to develop “ideal” immunotherapies to fight cancansl infectious diseases.

What is an “ideal” active immunotherapy? To state ¢ébvious, we want products that are effectiviggient, and safe. More specifically, we want imrothrerapies that:
« Target diseasspecific antigens (i.e. proteins unique to a cancénfectious diseas
« Do not depend upon being patient-specific andgelized (why remove from, modify, and reintrogleells to a patient if you can do the most impurteork
in the patient?)
« Activate functionakiller T cells with the necessary killing toolsgegranzyme and perfori
« Generate robust T cell responses (e.g. a signtfiamber of T cells) that are persistent and derabkr time (memory respon
¢ Do not induce unwanted immune respo
« Do not induce toxic inflammatory respon
* Are capable of “breaking tolerancef' cancer cells grown in the bo

Our phase Il data (discussed under HPV Immunotlyev&pX-3100) shows we are achieving these ideal charatitariwith our active immunotherapy approac
activating highly capable, antigen-targeted T dellgivo (in the body) and we are advancing a grapipeline of pre-clinical and clinical immunothgies products.

HPV Immunotherapy-VGX-3100
Late Stage Cervical Dysplasia (CIN 2/3)

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the causative ageaponsible for cervical pre-cancers (cervical dyspl), cervical cancer, other anogenital cancedae of the most
rapidly growing cancers in men - head & neck can&eany given time, approximately 11% of the wsldopulation is infected with HPV.

HPV is the most common viral infection of the reguotive tract and is recognized as the major cafiservical cancers. Almost 300 million women glthpare estimated
to be infected with HPV, with another 30 millionditibnal cases that have progressed to the preccans stage. Every year over 500,000 new case=atal cancer are
diagnosed world-wide and approximately half of the®mmen die. Virtually all cases are linked withgigtent infection with HPV. Challenges with aceeqte, accessibility, and
compliance of preventive vaccines have resultezhly a third of young women are being vaccinatethenUS, and even less in other countries aroumdvtld.

While roughly 90% of HPV infections are clearedtbg body on its own (i.e. by the person’s immurstesy), persistent HPV infection can lead to highdgrcervical
dysplasia (CIN 3) and, if untreated, eventuallyasive cervical cancer. Researchers have estintaegldbal prevalence of clinically poancerous HPV infections at betweer
and 40




million. HPV 16/18 are the two most prevalent higgk types of HPV worldwide, causing the vast miajoof HPV-related cancers. HPV 16/18 are foun82%6 of all high
grade pre-cancerous cervical lesions and 70% wgfozgicancers.

There is an annual incidence rate of CIN 1 caugddR) types 16 and 18 of 1.4M in the US and 1.3Nhimtop 5 European countries. There is an annaalénce rate of
CIN 2/3 caused by HPV types 16 and 18 of 270.8%&US and 267.4K in the top 5 European countfieese represent a significant market opportunitid Thas no
treatment. CIN 2/3 is served only by an invasivg®al procedure.

There are currently two FDA approved preventivecirmes, Gardasft and Cervari¥, that protect against HPV types 16 and 18, asasefypes 6 and 11(Gardasil).
However, studies have shown that preventive HP\¢imas cannot treat or protect those already infewith HPV, which is a large population. In additjmot all girls and
women eligible to be vaccinated are receiving theseines. In 2013, a US national survey found 5786 of girls aged 13-17 years had received at was dose of the HPV
vaccine series, but only 38% had received all 28ldsthe series. Currently there is no viable imathierapy or drug to fight established HPV infectiw treat cervical dysplas
and/or cancer caused by HPV.

Current treatment options for cervical dysplas@w@rappealing. The “watch-and-wait” process asgetiaith low grade dysplasia (CIN 1) is a stresafyproach. The only
available treatment option for high grade cervibadplasia (CIN 2/3) is surgery, which involves diblig or cutting a women'’s cervix to remove the pagcerous lesions. While
surgical procedures are generally effective in nmplesions, they can lead to cervical scarrind lamger-term reproductive risks such as pre-terth lmiscarriage, and
infertility. Anticipation of these procedures prads significant anxiety for patients, despite tldeictor's reassurances, and full recovery fromeyrgan take up to several
weeks. Because surgery does not clear the undgtftV/ infection, pre-cancer lesions can recur gesalt of persistent infection or incomplete remafahe lesion during
surgery.

Inovio's VGX-3100 is an immunotherapy designedramthtically increase immune responses (humoratatdnediated) against the E6 and E7 antigens &f tyPes 16
and 18 that are present in both pre-cancerousamzkmus cells transformed by these HPV typesnH@&Z are oncogenes that play an integral rolemimsforming HPV-
infected cells into pre-cancerous and cancerous. déle goal of the immunotherapy is to stimulae body's immune system to mount a killer T calpmse strong enough to
cause the killing of cells producing the E6/E7 piot The potential of such an immunotherapy wowdddtreat pre-cancerous dysplasias as well agcanaused by these HPV
types.

Phase | Study Results

We completed a phase | study of our cervical dygsalemnmunotherapy (VGX-3100) in 2010. This doseatdton study tested the safety and immunogenafityGX-3100
in women previously treated for moderate or secergical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN 2/3), alhigrade premalignant lesion that is a precurseeofical cancer. The trial
enrolled patients in three cohorts of six subjeetsh with VGX-3100 doses of 0.6 mg (0.3 mg eadiwofDNA plasmids), 2.0 mg, and 6.0 mg. Each subjexs dosed at months
0,1and 3.

In September 2010, we presented top-line data stipaghievement of best-in-class immune responstssinlose escalation study. Data from the triellided:

. Antigen-specific, doseelated T cell responses across the three doseg

. Strong antigerspecific antibody responses in all three dose g,

. VGX-3100 delivered using Inovio's proprietary OEECTRA ®intramuscular electroporation delivery device wasegally safe and well tolerated at all dose
levels; and

. No immunotherag-related serious adverse events (SAEs). Reportegtsalevents and injection site reactions were toifdoderate and required no treatn

Immunological analyses of blood samples collecefdie and after treatment indicate that antigerifipegmmune responses were induced against tlyetqroteins
produced by Inovio's immunotherapy. We assesseddifidar imnmune responses by different analytisaays that measure the production of antigenfgp&aiells as well as
their ability to kill in an antigen specific mann@verall, 17/18 (94%) patients, including 6/6 (%9)0of the high dose group, demonstrated vaccineded antigen specific T cell
responses by at least one measurement. Usingdatealj standard interferon- ELISpot assay, antggeeific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL, or killer Telt) responses were
observed against all four antigens (E6 and E7 profer HPV types 16 and 18). Overall, in all thoeese cohorts combined, 14 out of 18 immunizedesbj(78%) developed
significant CTL responses, with positive resporrs@ging from under 100 to over 5000 SFU per millbetis; 72% (13 of 18) responded to at least twi@ans; and 50% (9 of
18) responded to all four antigens.

In the 6 mg cohort, five of six immunized subje@8%) developed significant CTL responses by ELtSwith average responses of 1362 SFU per millelis after three
immunizations. This was a 118% increase comparéuet@ mg cohort average of 626 SFU per milliohsogbur responders out of six) and a 174% increasepared to the 0.6
mg dose cohort average of 497 SFU per million ¢édisr responders out of six).




Moreover, these ELISpot responses persisted 24snafed the last immunization in 86% of evalualdégnts, indicating that T cell responses, in adulito antibody
responses, persist for at least six months afeefilal immunization at month 3.

In July 2011, we reported data demonstrating l@mgrtdurability of T cell immune responses of upwo years (at the latest time measured) in 7 oféBuated patients
following a fourth vaccination of VGX-3100.

In October, 2012, we reported that the immune nesp® generated in this study displayed a poweiffirikeffect on cells changed by HPV into precamess dysplasias.
These results appeared in the peer-reviewed jguSwénce-Translational Medicinen an article entitled, "Immunotherapy againstMHE6/18 generates potent Th1l and
cytotoxic cellular immune responses.” In this stu@ils of patients who developed T cell responsew/sti the presence of CD8 T cells capable of theeatkkilling activity.
Direct killing by CTLs was observed in all immunizeubjects (6 of 6) in the 6 mg cohort.

Antibody responses to E6 and E7 antigens werena¢ésxsured. Specific antibody responses to tumogemican function as an important surrogate poteraier for
determining the immunogenicity (immune responseattaristics) of an immunotherapy, i.e. its abitiyinduce an immune response. Antibodies werergese: against all four
antigens, as tested by the enzyme-linked immunesp@dssay (ELISA). Overall, 100% of the study jp#ptints (18 of 18) reported antibody positivityatdeast two
immunotherapyantigens, and 94% (17 of 18) repgutesitivity to three antigens; 56% (10 of 18) weosifive to all four antigens.

In March 2011, we initiated a randomized, placebotiolled, double-blind phase Il study of VGX-31@€livered using our CELLECTRAintramuscular electroporation
device in women with HPV type 16 or 18 and diagdosih, but not yet treated for, high grade cerlioraepithelial neoplasia (CIN 2/3). The womerthie study received
either 6 mg of VGX-3100 (the highest dose usediinphase | study) or a placebo using the CELLECTRAvivo electroporation device at months 0, 1, 8nd@he study
assessed efficacy by measuring regression of egtesions from CIN 2/3 to CIN 1 or normal in tliedted versus control subjects. Immunological resps were also measured
in this clinical study to assess the ability oftttierapy to generate strong T cell responsedairgar, controlled study. Safety was also asse€igdcalTrials.gov
NCT01304524)

Phase Il Study Results

In July 2014, Inovio released top line efficacyadtbm this phase 1l clinical trial (HPV-003) foiGX-3100. The primary endpoint, histologic regreasiwas evaluated 36
weeks after the first treatment. In the per protacalysis of this three-immunization regimen, CIBI2esolved to CIN1 or no disease in 53 of 1075%9.women treated with
VGX-3100 compared to 11 of 36 (30.6%) who receipldtebo. This difference was statistically sigrifit (p=0.017). Intent to treat results were alatisttcally significant.

There was also a high level of complete clearaf€&M 2/3. In a post-hoc analysis, CIN 2/3 resolvedo disease in 43 of 107 (40.2%) women treatigu VG X-3100
compared to 6 of 36 (16.7%) who received placeb0.q06).

We also reported that women treated with VGX-310@werage experienced a robust increase in CD8sTspeecific to the E6 and E7 HPV antigens. Thigpomse
increased with each of the three immunizations) tteclined modestly to a sustained and durablé Ve cells (memory T cells) measured through ks (24 weeks post-
treatment).

This trial also demonstrated virological clearanotelPV 16 or 18 from the cervix in conjunction witistopathological regression of cervical dysplasi€IN1 or no
disease, a secondary endpoint of the trial, infAD@ (40.2%) VGX-3100 recipients compared to 39f14.3%) placebo recipients (p=0.001).

We have taken the steps to publish the phaseultsaés a peer-reviewed medical journal. Over mamnths we have conducted multiple, sophisticatedume assays
(measurements) to characterize the CD8 T cell reggmoand their association with our efficacy resaihd completed a rigorous analysis and preparafithe data for
publishing. We expect to see this paper publishe&2D15.

Preparation and launch of VGX-3100 registration paall study

Based on the preliminary phase Il results we h&ated our intention to advance VGX-3100 into a phifisstudy in early 2016. Following is an updatetbe steps we are
taking toward launching this clinical study.

We await completion of all follow-up in the studydek 88) which extends a full 52 weeks after thmary endpoint visits that were reached in thergpdf 2014. We
intend to obtain alignment with the FDA and varigisbal regulatory agencies on the details of ikietal phase IIl program to support an indicatiorGIN2/3.

In preparation for pivotal phase Il development @ommercialization, we have taken steps to sgalexanufacturing for both our VGX-3100 product and proprietary
electroporation device to support higher volumedpation requirements associated with commerciawtite continuing to meet the highest quality aasae standards, to
which we already adhere.




We have already identified highly qualified manutéaimg partners and are currently working with thienestablish manufacturing for phase 11l and belyon

We have conducted additional market research wiytsipians and patients that have further charaetérihe unmet medical needs relating to the tragtofenigh grade
cervical dysplasia (CIN 2/3). These include a meriee for a non-invasive, non-surgical proceduredmoving cervical lesions; a treatment that dearcHPV, the cause of the
pre-cancer, throughout the body and not just ifithited area of the lesion; and a treatment tlaat o risk of causing pre-term births or infestili€IN 2/3 represents a unique
market opportunity for a novel therapy capablerofjding a first-line alternative to surgery. Tihigrket research will help guide our communicatind iteraction with the
physician, patient, and support communities.

VGX-3100 has the potential to be a less-invasitg-fine treatment option, and to spare women ftioenanxiety of surgery and the risks it poses éir tieproductive
health. It strengthens the body’s immune respams$ieet HPV infection to clear the underlying HPVefion that causes cervical cancer. It can elirsipa¢-cancerous lesions
that, left untreated, would evolve to cancer.

In short, VGX-3100 has potential to offer women fingt non-surgical treatment for pre-cancerousicet dysplasia. As a novel therapy advancing tawar
commercialization, we are pleased that the variteiss necessary to launch the phase Il studyrip 2816 are advancing in a timely and successammer.

HPV Immunotherapy-INO-3112 (VGX-3100 +DNA-Based 2 €ytokine INO-9012)
Head & Neck CanceandCervical Cancer

HPV is also associated with head and neck canespecially those in the oropharynx and larynx tad ¢he oral cavity and nose/nasal passages. Thaieimce of HPV-
caused oropharyngeal cancer has increased signifiagithin the last 20 years and has been incngpat an epidemic rate. Approximately 15-20% 0f406,000 new head and
neck cancers globally are HPV related. HPV assedihead and neck cancer is growing fastest in dpedlcountries, such as the US, and in younger mehe US,
approximately 12,000 new cases of HPV-associatad bad neck cancer are diagnosed annually. Threagstl prevalence of HPV-caused oropharyngeal camtee U.S. in
2012 was nearly 212,000.

By 2020, scientists estimate that HPV will causeerases of oropharyngeal cancer than cervicakcamd by 2025 HPV will be the causative facto®@¥ of all head &
neck cancers (HPV currently causes 63% of headck nancers). Greater than 70% of cancers of thehargnx are linked to HPV, with HPV16 being the taevalent
serotype.

Improvements in primary treatment modalities (styged radiation) have produced significant improeats in morbidity but intensive radiation has efpund long-term
impact on mortality and quality of life. Based tiese factors, we believe there is a significanodpity for an effective immunotherapy.

In June 2014 we initiated a phase I/lla clinicaldst assessing the immunogenicity and safety of B1@2 (VGX-3100 in combination with a DNA-based |R-&ytokine
(INO-9012)) in head & neck cancer patients. We dduleg DNA-based IL-12 immune activator to VG300 for this cancer study because our HIV immueratpy clinical stud
(HVTN-080) showed that the addition of IL-12 to ddNA immunotherapy can enhance the activation o8Qrxells.

Up to twenty adults with HPV-positive head & necjuamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) will be treated Wid-3112 and followed for safety, immune and daii
responses in an open-label study called HPV-008n&npart of the study, up to ten patients wiltieated with INO-3112 before and after resectiothefr tumor. In the second
part of the study, up to ten patients will be teelavith INO-3112 after completion of chemotherapy aadiation therapy. Each INO-3112 treatment glladministered using
Inovio's CELLECTRA® delivery system. In addition to assessing saféfg,study will analyze T cell immune responseN@43112. Pre- and post-immunotherapy tumor tissue
will be analyzed to evaluate infiltration of T celhto the tumor and tumor bed. Clinical resport$esacterized by antismor effects, using RECIST criteria, and prograsdiee
survival will also be measured.

Cervical cancer is the most commonly occurring eaacnong women in developing countries and is ¢sersd most commonly occurring cancer amongst women
worldwide. Without consistent HPV vaccination ompiravements in screening and treatments, curreitténce trends suggest that the incidence of cdrwésecer could rise
from roughly 530,000 cases per year to approximdtehillion cases per year in 2050. The prognasisaflvanced cervical cancer patients is charatitaliy poor and treatme|
options are palliative at best.

In June of 2014 we initiated a phase I/lla clinistidy assessing the immunogenicity and safeti@F8112 (VGX-3100 in combination with INO112) in cervical canct
patients. Twenty patients with HPV-caused inoperailasive cervical cancer will be evaluated iropan-label study called HPV-004. Women will recefiver treatments of
INO-3112 every four weeks after completion of andtrd chemoradiation regimen. Each INO-3112 treatwél be a combination of 6 mg of VGX-3100 ananyy of INO-9012
delivered together intramuscularly with the CELLERA® delivery system. The study team will evaludtrical responses at the tumor site (tumor shriekagregression) and
assess disease-free survival




and disease recurrence up to 12 months after itied immunotherapy with Inovio's INO-3112. T cé@hmune responses will be analyzed pre- and postdinatherapy in the
tumor tissue as well as in the periphery (bloodstre

We expect to report interim data from these stuiti€015.

HPV Immunotherapy-INO-3106 +/- DNA-Based IL-12 Ryiie
Aerodigestive Cancer

Further expanding our HPV portfolio, we launchezbepassionate phase | clinical trial in patientdhwiPV-caused aerodigestive cancer. Aerodigestveer is a
condition that affects the lips, mouth, tongue endbroat, vocal cords, larynx, and parts of tr@phagus and windpipe. Current treatment for HP\6eiased aerodigestive
cancers includes chemotherapy, radiation, and syrgk of which have negative side effects.

This phase | study is testing INO-3106 alone axdmbination with DNA-based IL-12 in subjects witlP¥-6 associated invasive aerodigestive malignanveieshave
exhausted other treatment options (chemotheragiatian and surgery). Successful results could @ppath to pursuing an FDA orphan designation {apstatus granted for
therapies for rare diseases) for aerodigestiveetanc

Prostate Cancer Immunotherapy-INO-5150

The development of a new treatment for prostateerawould be a significant medical advance givext ginesent treatment options (surgery, radiatiehremimone
deprivation), while somewhat effective, all cargleterious side effects and often do not confeg4emm cure. Across the United States, there wereDPB&ew cases of prost
cancer and more than 29,000 deaths in 2013.

In January 2011, we announced the publicationsgientific paper in the journéluman Vaccinedetailing potent immune responses in a pre-clirstadly of our SynCon
®immunotherapy for prostate cancer targeting twégans, prostate specific antigen (“PSA”) and prestpecific membrane antigen (‘PSMA”). While cutrprostate cancer
therapies target single antigens, in this studyested the hypothesis in mice that multiple antsggaministered with Inovio's electroporation delwechnology would improve
the breadth and effectiveness of a prostate cameeunotherapeutic.

This study, conducted by our scientists and coliatoos, is described in the published paper edtiti€o-delivery of PSA and PSMA DNA vaccines witle@roporation
induces potent immune responses.” The SyrfGomunotherapy evaluated in this study consists®4 Bnd PSMA synthetic consensus immunogens bashdroan and
macaque amino acid sequences, which enabled therssep for these antigens to differ slightly frdra bative proteins associated with prostate candarmans. In humans,
this difference may help overcome self-toleranceanicer cells displaying these prostate-relatetem® and enable the generation of an anti-tumarune response. Mice
received two immunizations of highly optimized immatherapy delivered by electroporation. Imnmunogégnieas evaluated one week after the second immatiniz. The
resultant data showed the induction of strong PSAARSMA-specific cellular immune responses and sitsaificant antigen specific seroconversion, iitating that both
humoral and cellular immune responses can be gedog this approach.

In 2013 we established a license agreement witth&¢@escribed in more detail under Corporate Devetnt) that included Inovio’s prostate immunothgramduct. In
November 2014 Roche terminated its license for-5150, while still maintaining its license to armllaboration with Inovio’s hepatitis B immunotheyafll rights to INO-
5150 will be returned by Roche to Inovio.

We plan to initiate a phase | clinical trial for@\N5150 in the first half of 2015.

hTERT Immunotherapy-INO-1400

Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (nTERT) adteactive cancer immunotherapy target. Highlewe&€hTERT have been detected in more than 85&# diluman
cancers, including breast, lung, and pancreaticaranwhile normal cells showed undetectable levelslomerase expression. Immunological analysigated that hTERT is a
widely applicable target recognized by T-cells and be potentially used as a universal cancer inothenapy.

Lung, breast, and pancreatic cancer mortality ratesanked first, third, and fourth, respectivaljnong cancer types in the United States, despjteovement in detection
and treatment. In each of these three cancer tgpgsficant numbers of patients undergo surgieaéction and adjuvant therapy with an attempt i, daut only a fraction
remain in remission. This study will evaluate oavel immunotherapy with the ultimate goal of redhgcihe risk of relapse in these patients.

In July 2013, we announced that our h\TERT DNA caimenunotherapy administered with our CELLECTRAdaptive electroporation delivery device generavbadist
and broad immune responses, induced T cells witimar-killing function, and increased the rate efiéval in pre-clinical studies.
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In December 2014, we initiated a phase | clinidgal for our hnTERT (human telomerase reverse trapisse) DNA immunotherapy (INO-1400) alone or ambination
with our IL-12 immune activator (INO-9012) in adultvith breast, lung, or pancreatic cancer at higlhaf relapse after surgery and other cancerrtreats. This trial is an open
label, dose escalation study in approximately S3jests.

Infectious Disease Vaccines/Immunotherapies

Hepatitis B Virus-INO-1800

Although an effective preventive vaccine againgtatiéis B virus (HBV) infection has existed for a\taree decades, HBV remains a major epidemic,céspeamong
people of Asian and African descent. The World He@rganization estimates that 2 billion peopleébglty have been infected with HBV, with over 350limh people
chronically infected with the virus and at riskdsfveloping cirrhosis or liver cancer. It is estigththat upwards of 1.4 million people in the USiafected with the virus.
Currently, the only therapies available for chratflicinfected individuals are interferaipha and nucleoside analog treatments, whichifumbty controlling viral replication bi
unfortunately do not clear infection. Interferomgaevent viral replication in only 30% of patieatsd does so with undesirable side effects.

Liver cancer is the second most common cause ¢ifi diesan cancer worldwide, killing most patients it five years of diagnosis. About 782,000 new sasése each
year. One of the major causes and risk factorbver cancer is infection by hepatitis B. Chronlgahfected individuals may develop a permanentring of the liver (a
condition called cirrhosis). Liver cirrhosis carobxe into hepatocellular carcinoma, which claim$,000 lives annually.

In November 2012, we announced data indicatingdhatHBV immunotherapy generated strong T cell oesps that eliminated targeted liver cells in miResults from
this pre-clinical study appeared in the peer-reei@yournal, Cancer Gene Therapyn an article entitled, "Synthetic DNA immunogearceding hepatitis B core antigen drives
immune response in liver."

In this study, we developed a DNA immunotherapychhis encoded for the HBcAg antigen and representmsensus of the unique HBcAg DNA sequenced ofabr
HBYV genotypes (A through E). When delivered by &lgmoration, our researchers first demonstratetittiistherapy elicited strong HBcAg-specific Tlaatd antibody
responses in the periphery (outside of the livgrEbISpot, ICS and cell proliferation assays. Resgers observed that the immunization could aldade antigen-specific CD8
and CD4 T cells that produced both IFN-y and TNR-the liver, indicating a strong immunotherapy+iodd T cell response was also present in the liver.

Furthermore, study researchers found the immunagtiyespecific T cells exhibited a killing functioand could migrate to and stay in the liver and ealisarance of target
cells without any evidence of liver injury. Takemgeéther, this is the first study to provide evidetitat intramuscular immunization can induce killegells that can migrate to
the liver and eliminate target cells.

In September, 2013, Roche exclusively licensed3gisCon® immunotherapy in conjunction with the use of Indsi@ELLECTRA®electroporation technology for this
immunotherapy as part of a broader partnershipeageat with Inovio. We expect that a phase | stddhis immunotherapy will be initiated in the fidsalf of 2015. The
initiation of the trial will trigger a milestone paent from Roche. Roche is paying for all cost®eiséed with the development of this immunotherapy.

Hepatitis C Virus (HCV)-INO-8000/VGX-6150

Hepatitis C virus is a major cause of acute hapahtCV is spread primarily by direct contact withman blood, the major causes worldwide being #igeafi unscreened
blood transfusions and re-use of needles and ®gititat have not been adequately sterilized. Ayraarr5% -85% of newly infected patients may pregte develop chronic
infection. Of those with chronic liver disease, 520% may develop cirrhosis. About 1%-5% of infelgpeople may die from the consequences of long itgfention (due to
liver cancer or cirrhosis). Globally, an estimaté&f million people are chronically infected with MGwhich represents a reservoir sufficiently lafgeHCV to persist, and 3 to
4 million people are newly infected each yearhka S, while new incidences of HCV have droppedndtically, an estimated 3.2 million Americans aneonically infected.
People with chronic HCV infection face an increassk of developing hepatocellular cancer, a diffi¢o-treat cancer with a poor prognosis. MorentB&0,000 deaths each
year are attributed to HCV-caused liver cirrhosid hepatocellular cancer.

In April, 2010, we announced, along with our cotiedtors from Drexel University, Cheyney Universiaynd the University of Pennsylvania, that we reegia combined
$2.8 million grant from the PA Commonwealth Univa@rResearch Enhancement Program (CURE), to advangaroprietary immunotherapy to treat HCV using ou
CELLECTRA®electroporation delivery system. The grant fundesdglinical studies using an expanded set of SyrfGemmunogens to test
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the safety and effect on the immune system of ouenimmunotherapy designed to treat persons whelaronically infected with HCV and have not regeuhto currently
available therapies.

The HCV therapy market has been recently transfdrinyethe launch and rapid adoption of Sovaldi® atigr combo drugs in its class. Yet prices foréhm®ducts
remain high and out of reach for most of the pasiémthe world. Furthermore, there is no immunstesy stimulating approach that may provide a bstikrtion for many HCV-
infected people.

At the end of 2011 we announced positive pre-cihiesults from our HCV immunotherapy, INO-8000,iethwere published iMolecular Therapy This multi-antigen
DNA immunotherapy covers hepatitis C virus genotypa and 1b and targets the antigens NS3/4A, vihatides HCV nonstructural proteins 3 (NS3) and(B&4A), as well
as NS4B and NS5A proteins. Following immunizatidrgsus macaques mounted strong HCV-specific Tirnellune responses strikingly similar to those reggbih patients
who have cleared the virus on their own. The respsimcluded strong NS3-specific interferon-gamifill{g) induction, robust CD4 and CD8 T cell proté&on, and induction
of polyfunctional T cells. Importantly, we also @pged functional T cells in the liver.

In October 2013, our partner GeneOne (formerly Vi@brnational Inc.) launched a phase | study of HICV immunotherapy. Under a 2011 development ageeg,
GeneOne is fully funding IND-enabling, phase I, @hdse Il studies for this immunotherapy. Theycameently testing VGX-6150 (INO-8000 with DNA-baskd28 cytokine)
in phase | testing in Korea. We intend to repaiiiim data from this phase | study in 2015.

We are also planning to evaluate INO-8000 at amtufifi clinical study sites in the U.S.

HIV Preventive and Therapeutic Immune Therapies

Since its discovery in 1981, HIV, the virus whickuses AIDS, has killed more than 36 million peopie2011, there were roughly 2.5 million new caselllV diagnosed
In 2012, approximately 35 million people were ligiwith HIV worldwide. Each year in the United Stgtabout 50,000 people become newly infected with it the end of
2010, 1.1 million people in the US were living wihV.

Effective vaccines have been actively pursued ¥er @0 years, without success. HIV represents ftieeanost confounding targets in medicine. Thas/ihigh
mutagenicity (ability to mutate) has made effectraecine development very challenging. Its outeedpe, swathed in sugar molecules, is difficulatiack, and HIV strikes tt
very cells that the immune system launches to thswath an infection. Although several drugs (aetiavirals) are available to treat the patientseathey are infected, vaccines
and immunotherapies are necessary to stop thedspfeisease and perhaps reduce the need foredrdisiral treatment.

Noting that many long-term survivors have high dswof killer CD8 T cells, the HIV vaccine and imnuiherapy field has turned to stimulating the immaystem to
generate those cells. Recent HIV vaccine candigatepted the use of an adenovirus or a common haoidrvirus that had been genetically modified ¢atain code for HIV
antigens to prevent viral replication. These vaesihave proven to not be effective. More recehilyRV-144 trial, which employed an ALVAC™ (canaryxp vaccine prime
followed by a protein vaccine boost, demonstratedb &fficacy in preventing acquisition of infectiamongst the vaccinated population compared todh&a group. Although
the efficacy was relatively modest, the finding Fasthe first time showed that an immunotherapy e able to combat spread of HIV and has spulrediévelopment of
newer immunotherapy candidates. We believe, howévat a different approach is needed to develogff@etive vaccine or immunotherapy for HIV.

In October 2009, along with the HIV Vaccines Tigtwork (“‘HVTN”), we initiated a phase | study (HWF080) of PENNVAX®-B (with and without a DNA cytokine,
DNA IL-12) delivered with electroporation using tB&LLECTRA® delivery device in healthy, uninfected individualie vaccine consists of SynCon® immunogens targeti
HIV gag, pol, and env proteins from HIV subtypectade, B. This randomized, double-blind, multi-egrstudy was sponsored by the NIAID, an agendpeiNational
Institutes of Health (the “NIH"), and conductedtine NIAID-funded HVTN, and vaccinated 48 healthyykHhegative volunteers at several clinical sitea$sess safety and
levels of immune responses.

Of the 48 total volunteers, eight subjects recea@tacebo, 10 subjects received a 1 mg dose of\RX ®-B immunotherapy, and 30 subjects received a 1 osg of
PENNVAX ®-B along with IL-12 DNA. All volunteers received agine or placebo administered with electroporatibmonths 0, 1, and 3. T-cell immune responses were
detected using a validated flow cytometry-basedadlular cytokine staining (ICS) assay at the HiM3ore immunology laboratory at the Fred Hutchin€amcer Research
Center in Seattle, WA.

We reported final data from this study in Septenfirl. These data indicate that antigen-specifielTresponses were generated by the immunothémnegynajority of
subjects. Overall, either CD4 or CD8 or both T-cefiponses were observed against at least one ohthunotherapy antigens in 83.3% (30 of 36) ofuetad subjects after
three immunizations using electroporation. The sesp rate increased to 88.9% (24 of 27) of evalusibjects after three immunizations with electragion plus the IL-12
cytokine gene adjuvant. The investigators in thislyg concluded that PENNVAX-B + IL-12
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plasmid delivered via electroporation led to freggies and magnitudes of cellular immune respongesl ¢o or greater than those reported from cuweator-based HIV
vaccines such as adenovirus or traditional DNA wetion without electroporation. These results espnt best-itlass immune responses that have not been obsgitredther
platforms.

Other specific results included:

. Antigenspecific CD4 T cell responses were generated bintheinotherapy in 80.8% of evaluated immunothersaypients (21 of 26

. Significantly strong antigespecific CD8 T cell responses were also generateebimmunotherapy in 51.9% of evaluated immune@tpg recipients (14 of 2°

. In an assessment of immune response durabilityoosix months post dose 3, 53.6% (15 of 28hefdubjects maintained positive CD4 T cell resppiasel
42.9% (12 of 28) of the subjects maintained posi@D8 T cell responses out to six months.

. Compared to the previously conducted HVTN 078gehl study, which assessed PENNV2B with cytokine adjuvant IL-12 at double the dosith four

immunizations, but without electroporation delivergsponse rates in HVTN 080 with electroporati@mensignificantly higher for both CD4 responses{26)
and CD8 T cell responses (3.6%). Samples from giigitebo recipients and pre-vaccine samples fraroina recipients were also tested and were negfative
both CD4 T cell responses and CD8 T cell responses.

. PENNVAX ®-B delivered using the CELLECTRAIntramuscular electroporation delivery device withwithout IL-12 was safe and generally well totech
There were no immunotherapy-related serious adesrsets. Reported adverse events and injectiomesitgions were mild to moderate and required no
treatment.

This data was published in July 2013 in the pegiereedJournal of Infectious Diseas@sthe article, “Safety and comparative immunogiyiof an HIV-1 DNA vaccine
in combination with plasmid IL-12 and impact ofratnuscular electroporation for delivery.”

A second clinical study testing PENNVAXB in a therapeutic setting was conducted in coltation with the University of Pennsylvania. Thée/H001 open label, phas:
study enrolled 12 adult HIV-positive volunteersagsess safety and levels of immune responses gehesalnovio's PENNVAX -B immunotherapy delivered with our
CELLECTRA®electroporation device. Study volunteers were meguio be on a highly active antiretroviral thergAART) regimen, have undetectable plasma viratli¢<75
copies/mL), and have CD4 T lymphocyte counts at@cells/uL with nadirs over 200 cell/piTwelve (12) eligible subjects were administegeiur dose series (day 0, we:
4, 8 and 16) of PENNVAX -B containing 3 mg of DNA/dose via intramusculagattoporation.

T cell responses were measured using a validaté8eL assay at the University of Pennsylvania Imoahegy Core Facility. Overall, significant immunotapy-specific T
cell responses were observed in 75% (9 out of fi@)lnjects against at least one of the three imitienapy antigens (gag. pol, or env) following imnzation. Fifty percent of
the subjects (6 out of 12) had strong immunothemagyced antigen-specific responses above thenpmaanization levels to at least two of the antigémgortantly, the
responses induced by immunization were predomipantigen-specific (i.e. gag, pol and env) CD8 Tiscavhich are considered to be paramount in abegechronic viral
infections and an important measurement of theopmdnce of an immunotherapeutic. These resultmatark contrast to previously reported studiethwther DNA
immunotherapies delivered without electroporatiuat ty/ielded poor overall T cell immune responses.

Subsequent to year end, the results from thiscelirstudy appeared in the peer-reviewed jouMecular Therapy in the article, "Synthetic consensus HIV-1 DNA
induces potent cellular immune responses and ssistbégranzyme B, perforin in HIV infected indivals," authored by Inovio researchers and collabmsa

Our HIV immunotherapy was found to have signifibpmcreased antigen-specific CD8+C&Hl responses in all 12 patients. We observedtiese activated CD8+ killer
cells produced the cell-killing substances granz@vend perforin (both necessary to kill targetells@nd viruses) in quantities and characteriginslar to those of long-term
non-progressors. (HIV-infected individuals who,tvaitit treatment, do not progress to further staféseadisease). It is believed that in these exélgmare individuals who self-
regulate their HIV infection, part of their abilitg control the infection may lie in their uniquemune responses.

Another striking result of this HIV study was tHRENNVAX®-B increased the number of HIV-specific CPBiller T cells displaying the receptor integnmhich is
associated with the ability to carry T cells to gastrointestinal tract (GIT), the most importarget organ for HIV.

We believe these positive results demonstrate dtenpy of our immunotherapy technology platform eaide the potential for the development of immbecapies again
HIV.

The valuable proof of concept data achieved withRENNVAX®-B (targeting clade B envelope viruses) clinicabgs provided a strong and positive basis with tibx
advance our HIV immunotherapy development programaaHIV Vaccine Design and Development TeaflHyDDT) contract for PENNVAX®-GP (discussed below).
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In September 2010, the United States Military Hl&sRarch Program (MHRP) initiated a phase | tri&dZ82) using one of our prophylactic HIV immunothgies in a
unique prime-boost strategy. This program was des to protect against diverse subtypes of HI\Yel/glent in North America, Europe, Africa, and $oAmerica. The study
is being conducted by the United States MHRP thndtsyclinical research network in the US and Bdeta. The prime is a plasmid immunotherapy, ImsiPENNVAX®-G,
and the boost is a virus vector vaccine, Modifiet®nia Ankara-Chiang Mai Double Recombinant (MVMDBR). Together, the vaccines are designed to defiwdiverse
mixture of antigens for HIV-1 subtypes A, B, C, BdaE. The study will test PENNVAX-G delivered with electroporation in conjunctiorttvihe MVA-CMDR boost. The
NIAID is sponsoring the study, which is intendecetooll 92 total participants and assess safetyiramine responses. The study is being conductidaparts. Part A enrolle
12 subjects in the US (open label study) and ispteta. This study confirmed the safety profilelwé accine and opened the door to initiate theelgptacebo controlled
international study. Part B has completed the tatyenroliment and dosing of 80 subjects in thrée&an countries (Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda). Imeranalyses are being
performed by the MHRP and are ongoing. Interim ga¢sented at the HIV R4P meeting in Capetown itokar 2014 showed that the vaccine administratias generally safe
and well tolerated. Antigen specific T cell respemsvere detected by interferon gamma ELISpot a@esh®/27 subjects and antibody responses were mgt&d ISA in 10/11
subjects whose samples had been analyzed atrtieat ti

Based on the proof-of-concept established with PEAX ©-B, we were awarded a contract under the NIAID'¥ Mhccine Design and Development Teams program to
advance a more optimized preventive HIV DNA vaccPENNVAX ®-GP, delivered using intradermal electroporatiolivdey. The contract provides up to $25.3 millioh o
funding over seven years, including a five-yeareleriod and follow-on option years. The fundind development program covers pre-clinical optimaatimmunogenicity
and challenge studies in animal models, IND-enghlixxicology studies, cGMP (current good manufantupractices) manufacturing of all componentshef immunotherapy
and intradermal CELLECTRAelectroporation device, and the conduct of a phasenan clinical trial. cGMP manufacture of the IBXAX ©-GP constructs to support clini
trials is being conducted at the manufacturinglitgaf our affiliate, GeneOne/VGXI.

We expect that the HVTN will launch a phase | datistudy of PENNVAX®-GP in a preventive settingtire first half of 2015. A phase | clinical studyRENNVAX®-
GP as an immunotherapy is planned for the secolfidf2015.

HIV remains a challenging and tremendously impdréaga of medical research, and we value the Nitfpport to further evaluate the immunogenicity affitacy of our
electroporation delivery system and novel preventiWW immunotherapy candidate.

Avian Influenza Immunotherapies

Influenza is one of the most communicable diseasddypically affects children and elderly mostesely. Complications from influenza cause more th@d,000
hospitalizations and cause between 3,000-49,00Bisleach year in the United States alone, accotditite Centers for Disease Control. The worlchisually subjected to two
influenza sessions (one per hemisphere), betweea #nd five million cases of severe iliness, gntbus00,000 deaths. A pandemic occurs every téneaty years, which
infects a large proportion of the world's populatamd can kill tens of millions of people as th@&8ish Flu” did in just two years (50-100 millioraths during 1918-1919).

New influenza viruses are constantly produced btatian or reassortment, and can develop resistansiandard antiviral drugs. The H5N1 flu virus bagn spreading
from Asia despite the belief that it was under oolrimmediately after outbreaks there in 2004. 002, there were reports of H5N1 in wild birds irrépe. In 2006, there were
reports of an H5N1 strain in wild birds and poulmAfrica and the Near East. According to the Widilealth Organization, the H5N1 bird flu has inéet650 people and
resulted in 386 deaths (approximately 60% dea#) ratl5 countries since 2003 (WHO, February 20@¥ile HSN1 has never been passed person-to-parsbhas not spread
widely, one concern is the potential for the letH&N1 to “reassort” with another of the influenzédypes that have been prone to spread more yapitiumans, possibly
creating a more dangerous influenza strain. Thr@@§l6, over 140 million birds had been killed andra$10 billion spent to try to contain HSN1 aviafluenza, which has a
death rate of 90%-100% in birds.

Our VGX-3400X candidate targets H5SN1. The immunaipg consists of three distinct DNA plasmids coftedh consensus hemagglutinin (HA) antigen deriverh
different H5N1 virus strains; a consensus neuratase (NA) antigen derived from different N1 seq@sn@and a consensus nucleoprotein (NP) fusedrtat gortion of the m:
protein (m2E) based on a broader cross-sectionflofinza viruses in addition to HSN1 and H1N1.

In our first proof of principle study of our univead flu immunotherapy program, VGX-3400X was dalégewith intramuscular electroporation using oulLCECTRA ©
electroporation device. The primary objectiveshi$ tlinical trial were to assess safety and tdléitg. The secondary objective was the measurerakantigen-specific T cell
and antibody responses, including binding and hefégation inhibition (HAI) responses, i.e. a measof protection, against multiple strains of H5Nfluenza.
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The study assessed a total of 60 healthy voluntd@rs the US and 30 in Korea (in a separate |lphddinical trial sponsored by Inovio affiliateédeOne. Three dose
cohorts of 10 subjects were each given two injestiof 0.2 mg, 0.67 mg, or 2.0 mg of each plasmidatths 0 and 1.

In a report in July, 2011 of interim data, VGX-340@as found to be generally safe and well toleratiedll dose levels. There were no vaccine-relageibus adverse
events. Reported adverse events and injectiomesit¢gions were mild to moderate and required radrivent.

We tested for antibody responses against the targigfens and observed high levels of binding adi#s in 26 of 27 evaluated subjects (96%). Antie®avere generated
against all three antigens, as tested by the endipled immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Positive aotipresponses persisted to seven months, the timespoint tested.

In testing for HAI responses against the VietnanfH@N1/1203/04) strain, 3 of 27 subjects (11%) shabwé\l titers greater than 1:40, which is considei@bte an
indicator of protection against influenza in humanso of the three subjects with HAI titers excewdl:40 against the Vietnam strain also demonstrgiteater than 1:40 titers
against the Indonesia (A/H5N1/5/2005) strain, destraing cross-reactive responses in these volimtee

Significantly, antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphyge (CTL) responses were also observed againgtralk antigens (HA, NA and NP). After two vaccinas, 13 of 18
vaccinated subjects (72%) from the first two cobadveloped strong CTL responses to at least otieedfnmunotherapy components. After cohort 3 samplere analyzed, 20
of 29 immunized subjects (69%) in all 3 cohortseleped strong CTL responses to at least one afttreinotherapy components. These positive T cefiaeses were measul
up to seven months after the first immunizationn&ation of influenza antigen-specific T cell respes is believed to be important for generatingersal, long-lasting
immunity against influenza as well as to generatg@nger immune response against flu in eldergpfee

In another component of the study, participanteix&d a booster vaccination using just the H5 Hfiimotherapy component of VGX-3400X delivered usimtadermal
(rather than intramuscular) electroporation. Theatfermal (ID) part of the study was the first$ludy using ID electroporation delivery in humaliiselectroporation delivers
our SynCorf immunotherapies into skin, which contains large ant® of immune cells such as dendritic cells androghages considered most important for generating
protective antibodies. Our new ID electroporatienide uses a patented miniaturized needle arraghwdreates electroporation conditions uniquelyrojzied for skin delivery.
The goal of this booster vaccination was to deteenfi ID delivery of the H5 HA construct can incseaHAI titers beyond those achieved by the initistemuscular
immunizations. Twenty-two participants received beébooster immunization.

Immune response data measured one month aftérabst were reported in November 2011. Ten of 2(estdh(50%) exhibited a four-fold or greater ris@eometric
mean titers (GMT) in the HAI assay (ranging fror@(Lto 1:80 HAI titers) against the Clade 1 A/Vieta203/04 strain. Significantly, a four-fold or gter rise in GMT titers
against five other Clade 2 (Clade 2.1, 2.2; 2.3.2;4) and Clade 0 H5N1 viruses was also note@®i85P6 of the vaccinated subjects, further demotisgr@ross-reactive
immune responses in these volunteers. One subgtaged greater than 1:40 HAI titers against ialidifferent HSN1 viruses tested. ID immunizatioasvfound to be generally
safe and well tolerated.

HAI measurements from the blood of an immunizedexiifare used to assess the generation of pratemtitibody responses. A four-fold rise in HAI tit¢compared to
pre-vaccination) is considered to be an importadicator of immune activation. Generating an HAdrtiof 1:20 is generally regarded as a positiveiv@cresponse, with a titer
of 1:40 or higher in the blood of immunized subgegénerally associated with protection againstérfza in humans.

Seventeen subjects boosted with the minimally iiwea® vaccination were subsequently given a sedbnidooster vaccination. In May 2012 we reporteat tt00% and
89% of immunized subjects demonstrated high-titedibg antibody responses against the more comntaaeCl A/Vietham/1203/04 and Clade 2 A/Indo/5/04iss,
respectively, demonstrating vaccine-specific immacikivation. We also tested the immunotherapytybo generate protective HAI responses agaiinxstlistinct HSN1 virus
strains (Clades 0, 1, 2.1, 2.2, 2.3.2 and 2.3efpresenting all major genetic branches of the H§&lletic tree. Of the 17 subjects who completeduthénmunization regimen:

¢ Eight of 17 (47%) immunized subjects had an HAdrtizf 1:40 or higher against at least one of teeeteH5N1 viruse

¢« Twelve of 17 (71%) vaccinated subjects had an Htat bf 1:20 or higher against at least one H5Nais:

¢ Seven of 17 (41%) had an HAI titer of 1:40 or highgainst the Clade 2.2 A/Turkey/1/05 str

«  Five of 17 immunized subjects (29%) displayed arl Htar of 1:20 or higher against at least threffedent HSN1 viruses teste

* In an unprecedented result, two immunized subpetsonstrated an HAI titer of 1:20 or higher agaaikssix strains teste

Hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) measurements fréme blood of an immunized subject are used tosagbe generation of protective HA antibody respsrgenerated
by a vaccine. All HAI titer data are presented éogetric mean
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titers (GMT). Generating an HAI titer of 1:20 isrgeally regarded as a positive response to thaneca titer of 1:40 or higher in the blood of imnized subjects is generally
associated with protection against seasonal inflaetiruses and has been observed in multiple sabtyp

Although a number of companies have well-develapgdn influenza programs and lead vaccine candideege entered into national stockpiles (US and i)
believe there exists a need for broadly protedive easily scalable technologies to prepare foashget unknown target presented by the next fdravian influenza. Our
SynCon®technology provides protection from known aviaruafiza viruses (in animal studies) and has alswisttbe ability to protect against newly emergentnatched
strains.

Responding to the 2013 H7N9 influenza outbreakcarapleted the design, optimization, and manufaoguof an H7N9 DNA immunotherapy within two weekspre-
clinical study of this DNA therapy showed that 100%vaccinated mice were protected against sickardsleath when they were challenged with a letbsé of H7N9 virus.
This study further highlights the ability of InogoSynCorf immunotherapies to create cellular immune respothetould reduce the severity of H7N9 infectiormiperson
that acquires the virus and limit the spread ofvihes in a pandemic setting. Data from this stu@g published iVaccinein a paper titled “Protective immunity to H7N9
influenza viruses elicited by DNA vaccine.”

We are seeking additional grant funding to advahiseprogram further.

Universal Influenza Immunotherapy

Conventional vaccines are strain-specific and tiavieed ability to protect against genetic shiftsthe influenza strains they target. They are foeeemodified annually in
anticipation of the next flu season’s new strainfs significantly different, unanticipated newasn emerges, such as the 2009 swine-origin pard&nain, then the current
vaccines provide little or no protective capability contrast, we believe that our design appraadatharacterize a broad consensus of antigenssacaoisint strains of each
influenza sub-type creates the ability to protegtiast new strains that have common genetic regts though they are not perfectly matched. By fdatng a single
immunotherapy with some or all of the key sub-tygestection may be achieved against seasonal lhasveandemic strains such as swine flu or pancipotiential strains suc
as avian influenza noted above. We are focusedweloping DNA-based influenza immunotherapies &blerovide broad protection against known as wehewly emerging,
unknown seasonal and pandemic influenza strains.

Instead of targeting a specific strain or straims have developed a universal vaccine strateggabwlith the ever-changing flu threats. Using oym&on® process, our
scientists designed immunotherapies targeting éimapconsensus of HA, NA, and NP proteins derifrech multiple strains of each of the Type A subagpgH1N1, H2N2,
H3N2 (these three influenza stpes having been responsible for the majorityeafsenal and pandemic influenza outbreaks in huichaniisg the last century), as well as H5I
In theory, consensus HA vaccine constructs fronh saib-type, delivered using our electroporationa@®g\wcould potentially protect immunized subjectsrf 90-95% of all
human seasonal and pandemic influenza concernstigdly, we have also developed an optimal coeasrof HA sequences derived from influenza Typér&rss. Type B is
one of three components of current seasonal infmi@accinations. Thus, using our SynCanstructs, we have now developed immunotherapyesiés that can target both
pandemic-risk (H5N1, H7N9, H1N1) as well as seakmrfilmenza strains (H3N2, H1N1, influenza B).

Moreover, using our approach the immunotherapightmiot have to be administered annually aftefiteefew priming sessions. Rather, the same coatliin could be
used to boost the immune system every few years.

In September 2012, we announced that an interidysisaf a SynCoff universal HIN1 influenza vaccine showed that itegyated protective HAI titers against some of
most prevalent strains of HIN1 influenza from thstpl00 years in a phase | clinical trial. The ojpdel phase | study evaluated two H1IN1 hemagdfu(iiA) plasmids
designed to broadly protect against unmatchedentta strains within different branches of the HENbtype. These plasmids were delivered in heatfijtswith Inovio's
CELLECTRA®intradermal electroporation device up to three ¢inféhe delivered immunotherapy was well toleratedprted adverse events and injection site reactie@re
mild to moderate and required no treatment.

Researchers exposed blood samples from the vaedieabjects to each of the nine key H1N1 virusesraulation over the last 100 years: eight weré#i 5trains used to
formulate the seasonal vaccines of the last 25syeae was the H1IN1 strain that caused the 1918iSp#u. These unmatched influenza strains weeel tis assess the
generation of hemagglutination inhibition (HAl)elis meeting or exceeding 1:40. Demonstrating Inewiaccine's broad cross-reactive coverage, afisigimi percentage of
subjects immunized with Inovio's SynCbimmunotherapy had an HAI titer of 1:40 or higheaiagt each of the nine H1N1 strains tested, ranfjorg a 30% response rate to
the A/Brisbane/59/07 strain to a 100% responsetoatfee A/Beijing/262/95 strain. The benchmarktfoe current licensed seasonal flu vaccines, whietbased on matching the
vaccine HA sequence to that of the circulatingistria to have greater than 65% of vaccinees gémaraHAI titer of 1:40 or higher against the mattivaccine strain.
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By design, our SynCdhuniversal flu immunotherapy is not matched to angle virus and was not matched to any of the isérégsted in this study. The immunotherapy
recipients generated protective HAI responses agtie HLIN1 A/South Carolina/1/18 strain from ti84.8 Spanish flu as well as all the HIN1 strainsciwhiere part of the
annual seasonal trivalent inactivated flu vacci{ié¥) since 1986, including: A/Taiwan/1/86, A/Texa6/91, A/Bayern/07/95, A/Beijing/262/95, A/New @ebnia/20/99,
A/Solomon Islands/03/06, A/Brisbane/59/07, A/Califia/07/09. The HAI titers in the positive resporsdenged from 1:40 to greater than 1:1280.

Compared to the seasonal TIV (trivalent influenaacine)immunized control group, which was matched to timeent HIN1 seasonal flu strain (A/California/07y0®ose
immunized with our immunotherapy generated a higheimilar percentage of positive HAI titer respers against all of the strains except for A/Catifa/07/09. As
anticipated, the TIV recipients generated the bi@dttiters against the matched strain, but did gerierate vaccine-induced response rates againshmhatched strains.

We are conducting optimization studies in animatleis to further strengthen our HIN1 immunotherapgtency against all strains, especially the curcenulating
strain, A/California/07/09, as well as to reduce ttumber of injections needed to generate protctisponses against multiple strains.

In December 2012 we reported interim results diiasp | trial that showed that a single dose oHilM1 universal SynCofflu immunotherapy followed with a dose of a
seasonal flu vaccine generated protective immusioreses in 40% of trial subjects compared with% P&sponse rate in elderly patients who receiveds#asonal flu vaccine
alone.

People over 65 years of age represent about 9Gmofal influenza deaths in the US. Older peopte’stine systems typically mount much weaker protedtivmune
responses to seasonal vaccines, often in only 20%®of this population. In younger adults, the sdim vaccines generate protective immune respdnsaseast 65% of the
vaccine recipients. Other approaches, such assthefthigher vaccine doses and novel adjuvantg hawsignificantly improved the seasonal vaccimefsact in the older
population. Thus, there is a significant need foew approach to provide better protection in thése vulnerable population.

With the vulnerability of the elderly in mind, thihase | study evaluated the ability of Inovio'®sSgn®immunotherapy alone, as well as in combination Wigh2012
seasonal influenza vaccine, to generate protelgirgds of antigen-specific antibody immune resperisea greater proportion of the elderly populatisnvell as to assess the
potential for more universal protection againshhoiatched and unmatched seasonal influenza strains.

In the trial, conducted at the University of Mamiéoin Winnipeg, Canada, 50 healthy elderly patiamse divided into three groups: one group of Afjextts received a
two-dose regimen of Inovio's HIN1 universal Syn€fin immunotherapy delivered using Inovio's propigt CELLECTRA® intradermal electroporation device 16 weeks a
a second group of 20 subjects received one dols®vab's SynCorf immunotherapy delivered using electroporation fettd by a dose of seasonal flu vaccine 16 weeks kate
third group of 10 subjects received placebo deditldry electroporation followed by a dose of theseral flu vaccine 16 weeks later. The study's divies were to assess the
tolerability, safety, and immune responses of titfferent immunization regimens.

Serum samples from the immunized subjects were tasasisess the generation of hemagglutinationitidri(HAI) titers meeting or exceeding a dilution1:40 to the
current HIN1 seasonal flu strain (A/California/G).0An HAI titer of 1:40 is the level recognized agprotective immune response against influenfaimans. Because of
generally high HAI titer background rates to th€Alifornia/07/09 strain, immunotherapy-specifiotective response rates were determined by asgabgimumber of patients
in each group who had HAI titers greater than &A@ HAI titers at least 4-fold higher than the lirokind value at the start of the trial. In repoiitgdrim data, immunization
with the HIN1 universal SynCdtflu immunotherapy followed with a dose of a seasfinavaccine generated protective immune respoirsd6% (8 of 20) of trial subjects
compared with a 20% (2 of 10) response rate inrlgigatients who received the seasonal flu vacalnee. We are analyzing the final data with therihto prepare a paper for
submission to a peer-reviewed scientific publiaatio

Finally, on our path to develop a universal sealsfimanmunotherapy we are completing tests in adimodels of our immunotherapy constructs for A/l23ihd Type B
influenza. Our goal is to develop immunotherapieg tan also generate HAI titers exceeding 1:4thaganmatched strains within the H3N2 and TypeiBtypes. In January
2012, we reported that our immunotherapies foueriza Type A H3N2 and Type B achieved protectitidady responses in immunized animals against plaltinmatched
strains.

In the study of our SynCdhH3N2 immunotherapy, investigators immunized smailiveals (mice and guinea pigs) with a vaccine desigio produce the influenza
hemagglutinin (HA) antigen in the animals. Inouiwéstigators have to date tested blood samplestfieranimals for immune responses against unmasth&ds from several
clades of H3N2. (Like the branches of a tree, theeedozens of distinct strains within each of ¢hdades). The animals immunized with the Syn€dBN2 immunotherapy
developed HI titers exceeding the 1:40 level comignassociated with protective immunity against selelades of H3N2 tested. These included strdieslating in the 2000-
01, 2006-07, and 2008-09 influenza seasons, whidmlecessitated a change in the composition cfethgonal flu vaccine for those years. Additionahah
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testing of the remaining few H3N2 clades contintiedugh 2012 and was to include a new strain, H3{2indiana/10/2011 X203), which was selected inutay 2012 by the
CDC as a pandemic vaccine target.

Similarly, in the study of our SynCdiiType B immunotherapy, investigators tested bloadpas from immunized mice for immune responsesnaganultiple, unmatche
strains of Type B influenza. All the animals imnend with the SynCofiType B immunotherapy developed Hl titers exceetlregl:40 level against all of the strains of Type B
tested, including those circulating and consequenpart of the vaccine formulation in 2001-02, 2@9, and 2011-12. Type B influenza mutates marelglthan Type A, but
enough to preclude lasting immunity. Type B inflmarcan lead to life-threatening complications,udahg pneumonia, in young children, persons ovethse with chronic
diseases (e.g. diabetes) or suppressed immunensysiad others at risk for complications.

We are seeking additional grant and/or partnerifightb advance this program further.
Ebola

The Ebola virus has been described as one of tiseviralent viral diseases known to man with leitiyaiates approaching 90%. Ebola can spread thrbughan-tohumar
transmission by direct contact with the blood, egans, organs or bodily fluids of an infected indual and with surfaces or materials that contagncontaminated fluids of an
infected person, such as bedding and clothing.daipable of causing death within two to twenty-dags of exposure.

According to the CDC, the 2014 Ebola epidemic ésl#rgest in history, resulting in 20,747 laboratoonfirmed cases and 8,235 deaths. This virus@srautating into
diverse strains. There are no preventive vaccineffective therapeutic treatments for Ebola aredahse with which Ebola is generating genetic tiaria will complicate the
process of creating such solutions. In additionious experimental approaches have already beegiagsd with undesirable side effects and limitbiits to scale
manufacturing.

In 2014, we announced our intent to advance our DiwAunotherapy for Ebola into a phase | clinicalltin collaboration with GeneOne Life Science Ihtthe
collaboration, Inovio and GeneOne will co-developvio's DNA-based Ebola immunotherapy through sphalinical trial. We plan to initiate the cliicstudy in the first half
of 2015. In parallel with this effort, we are seekiadditional third party support and resourcesitther develop and commercialize this product.

The decision to advance our Ebola immunotherappsed on positive results achieved in preclinitadiss. We observed that 100% of immunized guirigs gnd mice
were protected from death after being exposedadtiola virus. Unlike the non-immunized animalsniomized animals were also protected from weigtg,laameasure of
morbidity. Researchers found significant increase®eutralizing antibody titers and strong and drievels of immunotherapy-induced T-cells, inclfkiller" T-cells,
suggesting that this product could provide botlvenéive and treatment benefits. This data was phétl in 2013 in the peer-reviewed jourilecular Therapyn a paper,
"Induction of Broad Cytotoxic T Cells by Protecti®A Vaccination Against Marburg and Ebola.”

Immunotherapies for Biodefense and Biosecurity

A number of infectious agents that are relativelertoday are poised for an upsurge in incidenceithgr “natural” or terrorismelated means. For example, natural thr
are posed by the influenza strains H5N1 and H7N@ @ same time, an engineered influenza virugntentional release would pose a significant huthagat.

Since 2001, the United States government has spetibcated over a billion dollars in funding tddress the threat of biological weapons. UnitedeStiunding for
bioweapons-related activities focuses primarilyr@search for and acquisition of medicines for dedeBiodefense funding also goes toward stockppirmgective equipment,
increased surveillance and detection of biologaggints, and improving state and hospital prepassdiiéie increase in this type of funding recergtiynainly due to the Project
BioShield Act adopted in 2004.

There are opportunities to secure development fgndind for proof-of principle immunotherapy studiesbiowarfare pathogens. Over the past five yeaeshave been
successful at securing funding from the US govemirfar such projects.

The company continues to actively pursue grantcamtract funding from the NIH, Department of Deferasd other government funding agencies as an targaource ¢
non-dilutive funding to support development of sfietechnologies that are broadly applicable asnwsiltiple product development programs in theaodaancer, infectious
diseases and biodefense. Based on various inégatind with the support of NIH funding we are ativacollaborator with the Department of DefenseSUArmy) and continue
research and development of DNA-based immunothesagelivered via our proprietary electroporatiostegn. Specifically, our projects are focused ontifgng
immunotherapy candidates with the potential to plevapid, robust immunity to protect against biarfare and bioterror attacks as well as developmkotr electroporation
devices.

In April 2012, we received a U.S. Department of@efe Small Business Innovation Research Grantvianae the development of a low-cost, non-invasivéase
electroporation (EP) delivery device and test ifitylin combination with
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our novel DNA immunotherapies against viruses Wititerrorism potential, including hanta, puumalanavirus and pandemic influenza. This projectdsmtinuation of a first-
stage DOD grant in 2011 that initiated Inovio'selepment of this skin delivery system.

In the first phase of this project, Inovio focusedoptimizing the device design of our current mially invasive surface EP device. In this secorasphthe objective is to
further advance and validate this device and theltiag immune responses in appropriate animal fsotlée will also investigate the development andhafiacture of low-cost
sterile disposables for the device and the posyiloi integrating dermal injection capabilitiegéra combined inject/EP device platform.

DNA Based Monoclonal Antibodies (dAMAb™)

Monoclonal antibodies (mAb) have become one ofhtlest valuable therapeutic technologies of receatsydn 2012, global sales of monoclonal antibodieseeded
$50 billion. Among the top 10 best-selling drug261.2, six of them were monoclonal antibodies, egitih annual sales exceeding $5 billion.

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are designed to enhidine immune system's ability to regulate cell fioms. They are designed to bind to a very speefitope (area)
of an antigen or cell surface target and can lralmost any selected target. They have the urafiligy to alert the immune system to attack aribiskiecific cancer cells (as in
the case of Yervoy®) or block certain biochemicathpvays (such as those leading to rheumatoid &sthais in the case of Remicade®). The global mddteherapeutic mAb
products was estimated at $44.6 billion in 2011weler, mAb technology has limitations. As a pasgimeunotherapy, meaning they are manufactureddritbie body, mAbs
require costly large-scale laboratory developmedt@roduction. Additional limitations include higbst to develop and manufacture and their limitadtion of in vivo
potency. We have created DNA based monoclonal @digls that overcome many of the limitations assediith conventional mAb technology.

With our core platform technology, the DNA sequefarea specific monoclonal antibody is encoded DNA plasmid and delivered directly into cells bétbody usin
electroporation, causing the mAbs to be "manufactuin the body by these cells - not outside oftibdy like conventional mAb technology. We beliewe can create
dMAbsfor many diseases that are not currently esdditgle with conventional mAbs. This is a new apiilim of our core technology platform consistinggoEoded DNA
plasmids delivered using electroporation and regssanother potentially paradigm-shifting transfation in the immunotherapy field with very sigodint business potential.
This capability we can potential make make dMAbsardy for new disease targets; we can also tagsting, commercially successful mAbs and prodacempetitive DmAb
with a more attractive dosing regimen and costatre.

Chikungunya Virus

Chikungunya virus (CHIKV) is a serious mosquito+m®alpha-virus responsible for several recent epickein tropical Africa and Asia. Recent evidentéhie
Caribbean suggests that CHIKV, which is primanignsmitted to humans from mosquitoes, is spredadigher parts of the world. There is currentlysagcine or therapeutic
against this virus. We have developed a novel DIN&mid encoding a highly engineered immunoglobetinoding a CHIKV monoclonal antibody (mADb) to difg@enerate it
vivo production of an anti-CHIKV mAb.

In a preclinical study, we demonstrated that ourrEidised mAb targeting CHIKV completely protectedenfrom a lethal CHIKV challenge. We demonstrateat the
serum of transfected animals exhibited the speabitity to bind to the CHIKV envelope antigen ahé serum possessed CHIKV-neutralizing activitgpbrtantly, the
treatment of the animals with anti-CHIKV mAb plasisiprotected 100% of the treated animals fromhaléhjection of CHIKV virus while 100% of the cont animals died.
The treated animals were also spared of viruseelatorbidity, as measured by dramatic weight losklethargy. Results from this study were preseated poster at the 17th
Annual Meeting of the American Society of Gene &lT&erapy in Washington, DC.

Other Disease Indications
In 2014, we announced that the Defense AdvanceedRes Projects Agency (DARPA) awarded $12.2 miltimscientists from the Perelman School of Medi@nhthe
University of Pennsylvania, Inovio Pharmaceuticafs] Medimmune to develop and assess dMADs inipieall studies.

This collaboration aims to demonstrate that the ON&#smids containing optimized DNA sequences endod@enerate disease-specific dMAbs can activdfeient
quantities of specific monoclonal antibodies in lioely to be protective against a pathogen challddgieg the capabilities and advantages of DNArlds delivered using
electroporation, the team will construct and eveduaultiple dMAbsfocused on influenza virus andlzintic resistant bacteria (Pseudomonas aerugiandeStaphylococcus
aureus). Successful completion of the initial préchl activities under the DARPA grant would aiml¢ad to clinical studies on selected product ichaids to be funded under a
future increment to
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the award. Perhaps more significant to Inovio, #émd other external funding will be utilized to loubut other dMAb product candidates with signifitanarket potential against
multiple types of infection as well as cancer.

Our Electroporation Delivery Technology
Choice of Tissue for DNA Delivery

Skeletal muscle has been a core focus for delwEBNA-based immunotherapies via electroporatiocalise it is mainly composed of large elongated egth multiple
nuclei. Muscle cells are non-dividing, hence loag# expression can be obtained without integraifdhe gene of interest into the genome. Musclis ¢elve been shown to
have a capacity for secretion of proteins intottle®d stream. Secreted therapeutic proteins magfthre act systemically and produce therapeutiecgdfin distant tissues of the
body. In this respect, the muscle functions as#ofg for the production of the biopharmaceutica¢ded by the body. We envision that delivery of DiNAelectroporation to
muscle cells will circumvent the costly and comated production procedures of viral gene delivergtors, protein-based drugs, conventional vacandsmonoclonal
antibodies. This approach may provide long-terrblstaxpression of a therapeutic protein or monaadlantibody at a sustained level.

For immunization, the DNA causes muscle cells twipce antigenic proteins that the immune systeindehtify as foreign and against which it will mattan immune
response. As with conventional vaccines, the immayséem will then develop memory of this antigemd(selated disease) for future reference. Intramlasdelivery by
electroporation of DNA encoded antigens has beewslto induce both humoral (antibody) and cellflacell) immune responses.

While we have generated pre-clinical and prelimir@dinical evidence that intramuscular electroporathased DNA delivery will be effective for a nuertof
immunotherapies, electroporation of the skin mayp &l a relevant route of administration. Skimtnraidermal administration is important and is beiognan attractive site for
immunization given its high density of antigen nmeting cells (APCs). Unlike muscle, skin is thaffiine of defense against most pathogens aneisftire very rich in immune
cells and molecules. Skin specifically containgaiarcells that are known to help in generatinglaust immune response. With intradermal administmatf electroporation, we
may be able to demonstrate a comparable immunenssgo muscle delivery. Drug delivery into skindermal tissue, is the most attractive methodrgitat the skin is the
largest, most accessible, and most easily monitorgah of the human body, and it is highly immuooapetent (able to recognize antigens and moumharuine response to
them).

Our Electroporation Systems

Our current electroporation systems consist oflectécal pulse generator box the size of a lasgedp attached by a cord to a separate needleasgeapplicator. We

have also developed a series of hand-held, cordlessoporation devices which bring together gdiareaking design and engineering advancementsibioe all components
into a self-contained, easy-to-use portable deieesize of a cordless hand tool.

CELLECTRA® System

There are several configurations in the CELLECTR#&vice family. The first covers intramuscular (ItBlivery of DNA; the second covers the intraderswitutaneous
delivery (ID) of DNA. Both devices have been vatieth manufactured under Current Good ManufactuPiragtices (cGMP) and are being used in human ealitials. We have
filed a device master file (MAF) with the FDA coimg the use of the CELLECTRA-IM EP device in human clinical trials. These degare intended to be used in
combination with a DNA plasmid-based immunotherapy.

The new CELLECTRA - SP products combine the functionality of our curigameration of skin and intramuscular electroponadevices in clinical testing with
enhanced form, design, and portability. All compasdrom the pulse generator and applicator asgmated into a cordless, rechargeable device. dt¢tergeable battery can
enable immunization of several hundred subject&jmyahe device highly amenable to mass vaccinaiitye devices are designed to accommodate diffeteatrode arrays to
meet the requirements of the particular immunotheemnd tissue for delivery (skin or muscle).

Next Generation Devices

All of our electroporation delivery systems notémbee can increase levels of gene expression (peugtion of the immune-stimulating protein the iommotherapy was
coded to produce) of DNA immunotherapies by 1006-&o more compared to delivery of DNA immunothéespria conventional injection alone. Delivery afr SynCorf
immunotherapies into muscle or skin tissue with@actroporation systems have generated robust immesponses in humans against cervical dyspiafiienza (H5N1 and
H1N1), and HIV, as well as against other diseasesimal models.

While our current intramuscular (IM) delivery tectiogies are well tolerated, we are also advanceg generation, minimally invasive intradermal #leporation
delivery devices. One ID device penetrates to neertttan 3 mm, compared to intramuscular devicesgithaeeper. Furthermore, a second ID device isface electroporation
(SEP) device that sits on

20




the surface of the skin and uses a virtually urddatde scratch to facilitate delivery of the immtirerapy. With the advancement of these devicesaiouiis to make
electroporation delivery amenable to mass propliglaaccination by decreasing dose levels, increasilerability of the vaccination, and increasthg breadth of viable
immunotherapy targets. Our data related to inflaghidV, malaria, and smallpox antigens demonstizeDNA delivery with this newer generation of dglivery including
SEP devices yields levels of immunogenicity in tewwhboth antibody and T cell responses and/ocadfi against a virus challenge that is comparabiettamuscular
electroporation devices currently in the clinic.

These results were highlighted in September 201the peer-reviewed journaHuman Gene Therapyin a paper (“Intradermal DNA vaccination enhanbgdow-current
electroporation improves antigen expression anddes robust cellular and humoral immune responsesith described the positive immunological effeaftshe optimized
electroporation parameters for its minimally invasskin (intradermal) EP delivery devices.

We also previously announced (February 2011) amemdlefree, contactless electroporation technology fanimotherapy delivery, which provides the powerfudlgling
capabilities of electroporation without contactthg skin. Our pre-clinical research was highlighited paper published in the scientific jourseiman VaccinesThe paper
appearing irHuman Vaccines“Piezoelectric permeabilization of mammalian dertissue for in vivo DNA delivery leads to enhagigeotein expression and increased
immunogenicity,” described an innovative electragimn method optimized for delivery into skin. Thisw method is based on piezoelectricity, whicthésgeneration of an
electric field or electric potential by certain maals in response to applied mechanical stress.

We have recently unveiled an efficient, tolerabled non-invasive multi-headed intradermal electration device designed to deliver multiple DNA prads
simultaneously but spatially separated, allowirgttiloring of delivery sites for combination imnatherapies. Results from a preclinical study rettgialdevice could allow for
the delivery of multiplasmid formulations without the risk of interfeoenof immune responses. This could be useful forbdoation immunotherapies that are rapidly formed
such as in response to emerging infectious digbasats or pandemics, and could overcome the lkihdtsing issues often associated with intradermlalety. Results from this
study were published iHuman Vaccines Immunotherapeutics paper titled, “A multi-head intradermal eleqoration device allows for tailored and increadese DNA
immunotherapy delivery to the skin.”

Corporate Development

We have entered into various arrangements withacatp, academic, and government collaboratorg)dimes, licensees and others. These arrangemerssramarized
below and elsewhere in this annual report. In &fditve conduct ongoing discussions with potermtidliaborators, licensors and licensees.

On September 10, 2013, we entered into an exclugivielwide license agreement with Roche to reseatetelop and commercialize our multi-antigen DNA
immunotherapies targeting prostate cancer (INO-p&56@ hepatitis B (INO-1800). Under the terms @&f #igreement, Roche made an upfront payment of $liémto Inovio
and agreed to pay for all ongoing development carstiscertain development, regulatory and commeegiaht based payments. Roche also agreed to @iepay additional
development event based payments if Roche purghesindications with INO-5150 or INO-1800.

In November, 2014, Roche terminated their 2013aboltation, option, and license agreement to coldpudlO-5150 as well as their research collaboratioprostate
cancer. All of Roche's rights to INO-5150, incluglithe right to license the product to other paytigh be returned to us. Due to the terminatidre potential future event based
payments have been reduced. We plan to indepegdeivance INO-5150 into a phase | clinical triathie first half of 2015.

Inovio and Roche will continue to collaborate anedevelop Inovio’s DNA immunotherapy (INO-1800) aust hepatitis B virus under this existing liceraggeement. The
partnership is on track to move INO-1800 collabwsdy into a phase | study in 2015.

On March 24, 2010, we entered into a Collaboratiod License Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Gene@armerly VGX International Inc.). Under the Agraent, we
granted GeneOne an exclusive license to our Syfi@oiversal influenza vaccine (the “Product”) dele@mwith electroporation to be developed in certainntries in Asia.

As consideration for this license we have receeesearch and development initiation fee, as agetesearch support and annual license maintefegseand will
receive royalties on net product sales. In additbmmtingent upon achievement of clinical and ratprly milestones, we will receive development paytmever the term of the
Agreement. The Agreement also provides us withusked rights to supply devices for clinical and eoencial purposes (including single use componeat§eneOne for use
the Product.

The term of the Agreement commenced upon execatidrwill extend on a country by country basis uthi last to expire of all Royalty Periods for te&itory (as such
term is defined in the Agreement) for any Prodadhat country, unless the Agreement is terminagetier in accordance with its provisions as altesfibreach, by mutual
agreement, or by GeneOne's right to terminate withause upon prior written notice.
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In October 2011, we entered into a product devetoyirollaboration agreement with GeneOne to coddpwaur SynCor? immunotherapies for hepatitis B and C
infections. Under the terms of the agreement, Geera@ceived marketing rights for these immunothiesin Asia, excluding Japan, and in return wafsity fund IND-
enabling and initial phase | and Il clinical stugligVe will receive payments based on the achieveofainical milestones and royalties based oesai the licensed territories
and will retain all commercial rights in all othterritories.

In conjunction with our announcement of our Rochernership we also announced that we reacquiredghts, title and interest to the SynCbinepatitis B
immunotherapy in Asia from GeneOne.

Under the terms of an original license agreemetit thie University of Pennsylvania (UPenn) complete®007 we obtained exclusive worldwide rightslevelop
multiple DNA plasmids and constructs with the pditrio treat and/or prevent HIV, HCV, HPV and indhza. The agreement also included molecular adijsivéthis agreeme!
and subsequent amendments provide for royalty patgneased on future sales, to UPenn. The techyolag developed in the University of Pennsylvaaltzoratory of
Professor David B. Weiner, a pioneer in the fidldDblA-based vaccines and chairman of our sciengifieisory board.

In January 2010, we announced that we expandeelxisting license agreement with UPenn, adding essetuworldwide licenses for technology and intellet property
for novel immunotherapies against pandemic inflagi@hikungunya, and FMD. The amendment also enceseganew chemokine and cytokine molecular adjuvant
technologies.

In July 2011, we expanded this license agreemeatlding exclusive worldwide licenses for technolagy intellectual property for novel immunotherapgainst
prostate cancer, herpes viruses, including CMVofoygalovirus), malaria, hepatitis B, RSV (respinagyncytial virus), and MRSA (methicillin-resistastaphylococcus
aureus). The amendment also encompassed a newzgutith-12 cytokine gene adjuvant.

In November 2012, we expanded this license agreebyeamdding worldwide rights to technology and iieetual property for novel vaccines against intesdtinfections
including Clostridium difficile, or C. difficile; ancer therapeutic vaccines targeting Wilms' tungoregor WT1; and biodefense pathogens includingeEaotl the family of
Filovirus such as Marburg.

In 2014 we added to our license agreement with dgrin-licensing expanded patents covering caneigeoducts for DNA based antibodies and thoseramyelengue
fever, H7N9 influenza, additional HPV serotypeswadl as certain other undisclosed cancer antigegets. In addition, the amended agreement prousiggobal rights to
DNA-based antibodies, immune activators (IL-212R & IL-33), Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MER&nd tuberculosis.

In 2009, we announced an agreement with the PATHulidaVaccine Initiative (MVI) to evaluate in a petinical feasibility study our SynCdhimmunotherapy
development platform. In 2010, MVI agreed to pravidllow-on research funding to continue evaluatiod development of our malaria vaccine candidat®in-human
primates. In 2013, we announced a follow-on coltabon with MVI focused on initiating human studies

In 2013 we published the successful pre-clinicahimogenicity data in mice and non-human primateetsoid the peer-reviewed jourriafection and Immunity
demonstrating the feasibility and benefits of depeig a first of its kind, five-antigen formulatiaaccine targeting malaria. Animal model data i tiho species demonstrated
the induction of strong malaria specific T-celiscfuding CD8+ T cells with cell killing activity)rad antibody responses to the circumsporozoite ceiffeotein (CSP) - both
responses thought to be important in treating argteventing malaria infection and hitherto difficto achieve with other vaccine modalities. By 20ftovio had successfully
met all objectives of the funded research and idagiprograms.

In 2014, MVI decided not to fund a phase | malagacine due to their focus on later-stage prodiietszio possesses the global commercial rightaéovaiccine and will
seek other development and commercialization parfinem among government, non-government, and cagiat@ntities.

In 2014 we acquired worldwide rights (excluding &hifor early preclinical therapies addressing Alater's disease and multiple sclerosis based oacdemic research
of Dr. Bin Wang, a professor at Fudan Universigtmnghai Medical College. These newly licensedrteiciyies are based on pat@mbtected and published discoveries from
Wang and his collaborator, who found a novel wagenerate inducible regulatory T cells, or iTréfsese novel approaches could be used to develogpike targeting major
inflammatory diseases.

In 2014 we along with the Perelman School of Mewtit the University of Pennsylvania and Medimmueee awarded $12.2 million from the Defense Advance
Research Projects Agency (DARPA) to develop DNAebasionoclonal antibodies (mAbs) for infectious dsetreatment. Together we will develop and agkessMAbs in
preclinical studies using technology developed égrPand licensed by Inovio. The collaboration ¥aus on influenza virus, Pseudomonas aeruginad&taphylococcus
aureus. Successful completion of the initial précél activities under the DARPA grant aims to |¢adlinical studies on selected product candidtid®e funded under a future
increment to the award.
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In 2014 VGX Animal Health, Inc. (VAH), Inovio’s 91%wned subsidiary, concluded an agreement fordteedf its animal health assets to Plumbline LifeeBces, Inc.
(PLS) of Korea. The assets transferred includeexafusive license with Inovio for animal applicatoof our growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRidhhology and
animal DNA vaccines plus a non-exclusive licenseupelectroporation delivery systems. VGX Animadtth will receive $2 million in cash in multiplepments and 20% of
the outstanding shares of PLS. VAH's 20% equityenaimip position in PLS will be maintained withoiitidon up to $10 million of additional equity furaising by PLS. We
will receive milestone payments and royalties ardpct sales as well as retain the human applicatbour GHRH technology.

Competition

We face competition at two levels. At the highesel we face competition by an array of existinglevelopment-stage drug and immunotherapy appredaahgeting
diseases we are pursuing. We are aware of vargiablished enterprises, including major pharmacalsti which are broadly engaged in vaccine/immueraiby research and
development. These include Crucell N.V (now pad&d), SanofiAventis, Novartis, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, MerdRfizer, and Medimmune, Inc., a wholly owned sdiasy
of AstraZeneca, Inc. There are also various devedoy stage biotechnology companies involved ired#ffit immunotherapy technologies. As these compal@eelop their
technologies, they may develop proprietary techgie®which may materially and adversely affectlousiness.

A number of companies are developing products éaifipally address diseases we are also targdilegck and GlaxoSmithKline have commercialized preive
vaccines against HPV to protect against cervicateg some companies are seeking to treat early iHfe¥tions or low grade cervical dysplasias; LE&Ehe current standard
of care for treating high grade cervical dysplagidyaxis and Kite have therapeutic cervical cameeduct candidates under development. Many compamee pursuing differe
approaches to prostate, breast, lung and otheersane are targeting.

At another level we compete more specifically vaittmpanies seeking to utilize antigen-encoding DNeAvered with electroporation or other DNA delivegchnologies
such as viral vectors or lipid vectors to induceiiwo generated antigen production and immune nesg®to prevent or treat various diseases. Toaaey competitive DNA
delivery technologies include viral vectors, lipiectors, and electroporation. All of these techgi@e have shown promise, but they each also ha¥etthique obstacles to
overcome. We believe our electroporation systestrangly positioned to succeed as the dominanteslimethod for DNA-based immunotherapies.

Viral DNA Delivery

This technology utilizes a virus as a carrier thvée genetic material into target cells. The meti®very efficient for delivering immunotherapytigens and has the
advantage of mimicking real viral infection so ttia recipient will mount a broad immune resporgsrest the immunotherapy. The greatest limitatibthe technology stems
from problems with unwanted immune responses agtiasviral vector, limiting its use to patients avhave not been previously exposed to the viraloreand making repeated
administration difficult. In addition, complexitynd safety concerns increase their cost and cont@liegulatory approval.

Ballistic DNA Delivery (Gene Gun)

This technology utilizes micron sized DNA-coateddyoarticles that are shot into the skin using caped gas. The method has matured considerabiyheviast
15 years and has been shown to be an efficientadéthdeliver a number of immunotherapy antigemscesthe DNA is dry coated, excellent stabilitytieé immunotherapy can
be achieved. The method is limited to use in skith@nly a few micrograms of genetic material camlélévered each time. This may limit the utilitytbie method for targets
such as cancer where higher doses of immunotharatipens and stronger T cell responses are needed.

Lipid DNA Delivery

A number of lipid formulations have been develoffet increase the effect of DNA immunotherapiesesEhwork by either increasing uptake of the DNA icetlls or by
acting as an adjuvant, alerting the immune sysWhile there has been progress in this field, ligiédivery tends to be less efficient than viral vestand is hampered by
concerns regarding toxicity and increased compjexit

DNA Immunotherapy Delivery With Electroporation

When an antigen-targeting DNA immunotherapy plasimjiection is followed by electroporation of thgdnted tissue, local cellular uptake (transfectisrgignificantly
greater with resultant gene expression generatiamered 1000-fold. This level of cellular uptake hasn shown to facilitate significant antigen pretthn by the transfected
cells and induce significant levels of antigenteaimmune responses. In fact, as described ireeadctions, this approach has achieved besagsdCD8+ killer T cells which
in turn been translated into clinically relevarfiegcy in a large controlled phase |l study, atfics Inovio and the field of immunotherapies. Tééave been no serious adverse
events attributed to our DNA immunotherapies deédeusing our electroporation devices in theseaalrstudies.
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We believe that the greatest obstacle to makingunatherapies a reality has been the lack of effecéfficient, and safe delivery of DNA plasmid stmcts into target
cells and that electroporation may become the ndetfichoice for DNA delivery into cells in many digations.

There are other companies with electroporatiorlé@dtial property and devices. We believe we hayeificant competitive advantages over other congmfocused on
electroporation for multiple reasons:

. We have an extensive history and experienceweldping the methods and devices that optimizeisieeof electroporation in conjunction with DNA-bes
agents. This experience has been validated withipfeusets of interim data from multiple clinicabdies assessing DNA-based immunotherapies andhescc
against cancers and infectious disease. Togetltierowr partners and collaborators, we have beeke#uEr in establishing proof-of-principle of eleqtoration-
delivered immunotherapies.

. We have a broad product line of electroporatiotrimsents designed to enable DNA delivery in tumorsscle, and ski

. We have been very proactive in filing for pateatswell as acquiring and licensing additional pateto expand our global patent es

If any of our competitors develop products withety or safety profiles significantly better thaur products, we may not be able to commercializepooducts, and sal
of any of our commercialized products could be fetnSome of our competitors and potential compstitave substantially greater product developmapalilities and
financial, scientific, marketing and human resoarten we do. Competitors may develop productseeaobtain FDA approvals for products more rapidiydevelop products
that are more effective than those under developtmens. We will seek to expand our technologiegdabilities to remain competitive; however, reskaned development by
others may render our technologies or productsletesor noncompetitive, or result in treatmentsumes superior to ours.

Our competitive position will be affected by theefse indications addressed by our product caedidat those of our competitors, the timing of regitroduction for
these products and the stage of development of tetbkenologies to address these disease indicafionsis and our competitors, proprietary technelghe ability to complet
clinical trials on a timely basis and with the dediresults, and the ability to obtain timely regaty approvals to market these product candidatetikely to be significant
competitive factors. Other important competitivetéas will include the efficacy, safety, ease of,uzliability, availability and price of produasd the ability to fund operatio
during the period between technological conceptioth commercial sales.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies may expaneicurequirements for public disclosure of DNA-®dproduct development data, which may harm ourpeditive
position with foreign and United States companiesetbping DNA-based products for similar indicason

Government Regulation
DNA Vaccine Product Regulation

Any pharmaceutical products we develop will requégulatory clearances prior to clinical trials amttlitional regulatory approvals prior to commelizéion. New gene-
based products for vaccine or therapeutic applinatare subject to extensive regulation by the Bbé& comparable agencies in other countries. Oeniat products will be
regulated as biological products that are usecktt br prevent disease. In the United States sdiug subject to regulation under the Federal Fdooe and Cosmetic Act, or t
FDC Act. Biological products, in addition to beisgbject to provisions of the FDC Act, are regulatethe United States under the Public Health $enfict. Both statutes and
related regulations govern, among other thingsinsmanufacturing, safety, efficacy, labelingrsige, record keeping, advertising, and other ptmmal practices.

Obtaining FDA approval or comparable approval freimilar agencies in other countries is a costly timé-consuming process. Generally, FDA approvaliires that
pre-clinical studies be conducted in the laboratorgt in animal model systems to gain preliminafgrimation on efficacy and to identify any majoredgfconcerns. In the
United States, the results of these studies amitteld as a part of an IND application which theABDust review and allow before human clinical siahn start. The IND
application includes a detailed description ofpiheposed clinical investigations.

A company must submit an IND application or equéwalapplication in other countries for each progga®duct and must conduct clinical studies to destrate the
safety and efficacy of the product necessary tainliiDA approval or comparable approval from simélgencies in other countries. For example, intthiged States, the FDA
receives reports on the progress of each phadmimhttesting and may require the modificationsgension, or termination of clinical trials if anwarranted risk is presentec
patients.

To obtain FDA approval prior to marketing a pharmaal product in the United States typically regsi several phases of clinical trials to demonstize safety and
efficacy of the product candidate. Clinical triale the means by which experimental treatmentteated in humans, and are conducted following pinézal testing. Clinical
trials may be

24




conducted within the United States or in foreignrtoies. If clinical trials are conducted in foreigountries, the products under development asaselie trials are subject to
regulations of the FDA and/or its counterpartshie dther countries. Upon successful completioriioical trials, approval to market the treatmentdarticular patient
population may be requested from the FDA in thetéthBtates and/or its counterparts in other caemtri

Clinical trials for therapeutic products are noryalone in three phases. Phase | clinical triadstgpically conducted with a small number of paseor healthy subjects to
evaluate safety, determine a safe dosage rangeifydgide effects, and, if possible, gain earlydence of effectiveness. Phase Il clinical triaks @onducted with a larger group
of patients to evaluate effectiveness of an ingasitinal product for a defined patient populat@mnd to determine common short-term side effectsiakd associated with the
drug. Phase llI clinical trials involve large scataulti-center, comparative trials that are condddb evaluate the overall benefit-risk relatiopstfi the investigational product
and to provide an adequate basis for product ladpeln some special cases where the efficacy tesfia product may present a special challengesting in humans, such as in
the case of a vaccine to protect healthy humams &dife-threatening disease that is not a nayuraiturring threat, effectiveness testing may logiired in animals.

After completion of clinical trials of a new produ&DA marketing approval must be obtained or eajent approval in comparable agencies in other trimsn For the
FDA, if the product is regulated as a biologic,ial&gics License Application, or BLA, is requirethe BLA must include results of product developrrestivities, pre-clinical
studies, and clinical trials in addition to detdilthemistry, manufacturing and control information.

Applications submitted to the FDA are subject taiapredictable and potentially prolonged approvatpss. Despite good-faith communication and coliation between
the applicant and the FDA during the developmeotgss, the FDA may ultimately decide, upon finalee of the data, that the application does nasBeits criteria for
approval or requires additional product developneeritirther pre-clinical or clinical studies. EviérDA regulatory clearances are obtained, a mackgroduct is subject to
continual review, and later discovery of previoushknown problems or failure to comply with the Bgable regulatory requirements may result in ietms on the marketing
of a product or withdrawal of the product from tharket as well as possible civil or criminal samicsi.

Before marketing clearance for a product can barselc the facility in which the product is manufaed must be inspected by the FDA and must comijity «GMP
regulations. In addition, after marketing clearaiscgecured, the manufacturing facility must bgéwsed periodically for cGMP compliance by FDA iesfors.

In addition to the FDA requirements, the NIH hatsklshed guidelines for research involving humeanegic materials, including recombinant DNA molesulThe FDA
cooperates in the enforcement of these guidelimeish apply to all recombinant DNA research thataaducted at facilities supported by the NIH, uathg proposals to
conduct clinical research involving gene therapldé® NIH review of clinical trial proposals and egfinformation is a public process and often imeslreview and approval by
the Recombinant DNA Advisory Committee, of the NIH.

Sponsors of clinical trials are required to registed report results for all controlled clinicav@stigations, other than phase | investigations, pfoduct subject to FDA
regulation. Trial registration may require publisdosure of confidential commercial developmertadasulting in the loss of competitive secretsicivitould be commercially
detrimental.

Medical Device Manufacturing Regulation

In addition, we are subject to regulation as a wadievice manufacturer. We must comply with aetsrof manufacturing, product development and ¢yadigulations in
order to be able to distribute our electroporatiesices commercially around the world. In Europe,must comply with the Medical Device Directivese Wave a Quality
System certified by its international Notified Bottybe in compliance with the international Quatitystem Standard, 1ISO13485, and meeting the Arir@udlity System
requirements of the MDD. We completed Annex Il Gonfity Assessment procedures to allow for the CEK\M# our electroporation devices.

In the United States, we are required to maintadilifies, equipment, processes and proceduresthah compliance with quality systems regulatiddgr systems have
been constructed to be in compliance with theselagigns and our ongoing operations are conducigdnithese systems. Commercially distributed desiwithin the United
States must be developed under formal design deratnal be submitted to the FDA for clearance oragd. All development activity is performed accogito formal
procedures to ensure compliance with all designrobregulations.

We employ modern manufacturing methods and contimadptimize performance and control costs. Intecapabilities and core competencies are stratéygidetermined
to optimize our manufacturing efficiency. We usizontract manufacturers for key operations, ssatiean room assembly and sterilization, whichnateeconomically
conducted in-house. We outsource significant sglerablies, such as populated printed circuit bododsyhich capital requirements or manufacturinguwmees do not justify
vertical integration.
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Other Regulations

We also are subject to various federal, state acal laws, regulations, and recommendations regjdtirsafe working conditions, laboratory and maatufiang practices,
the experimental use of animals, and the use amisial of hazardous or potentially hazardous snbss$aincluding radioactive compounds and infestidisease agents, usec
connection with our research. The extent of govemmegulation that might result from any futurgistation or administrative action cannot be acwmlyepredicted.

Commercialization and Manufacturing

Because of the broad potential applications oftecinnologies, we intend to develop and commereigiioducts both on our own and through our collatoos and
licensees. We intend to develop and commercialiadyzts in well-defined specialty markets, sucinéectious diseases and cancer. Where appropwat&tend to rely on
strategic marketing and distribution alliances.

We believe our plasmids can be produced in commlegaiantities through uniform methods of fermetatnd processing that are applicable to all pldsnWe believe
we will be able to obtain sufficient supplies oaginids for all foreseeable clinical investigations.

Relationship with GeneOne (Formerly VGX International Inc.)

In March 2014, the Company's affiliated entity V@¥Xernational Inc. changed its name to GeneOne %dfences
("GeneOne").

We acquired an equity interest in GeneOne in 268%f December 31, 2014, we owned 10.6% of thetautiing capital stock of GeneOne and GeneOne owB&D0
shares of our common stock. None of our currenter$, directors, or key employees beneficially swdirectly or indirectly, any securities of Gene&On

In 2008 we sold our manufacturing operations (iditlg patent rights to certain manufacturing tecbgg) to VGXI, Inc., a wholly-owned United Statessidiary of
GeneOne. In connection with this transfer we edtér® a Supply Agreement pursuant to which VGXL.| a cGMP contract manufacturer, produces angligsthe DNA
plasmids for all of our research and early clinicalls. The price of the plasmids we purchase fk&XI, Inc. is determined by us and GeneOne atithe of order placement
or, with respect to product supplied in connectigtih a grant contract, based on the contractegiwdlided by the applicable agency. We agreed @i teeneOne and its
subsidiary as our most favored supplier for DNAspiads and GeneOne and its subsidiary agreed tousess their most favored customer. Before wencanufacture DNA
plasmids on our own behalf or engage a third pattigr than GeneOne or its subsidiary to manufad@iA plasmids for us, we must first offer such miawturing work to
GeneOne or its subsidiary.

We have also entered into license and collaboratiprements pursuant to which we have granted Genegzlusive rights to certain of our product cdatés in certain
jurisdictions. For example, GeneOne has exclusgtgs in countries in Asia including Korea to ouX-3400X and INO-3510 for treatment of flu and oupéiitis C program.
In exchange for these rights, GeneOne shares tredogenent costs for some of our product candid&tgsr to signing the Roche Agreement, we reacdttine rights, title and
interest to hepatitis B in Asia previously licensedseneOne. As a result, we paid $300,000 to Geee® of December 31, 2013 based on the up-frgntert received from
Roche.

On September 23, 2014, we entered into a CollaberBevelopment Agreement with GeneOne to co-dgvafoEbola vaccine through phase | clinical trials.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018 amgnized revenue from GeneOne of $479,000 an8,8dQ , respectively, which consisted of licensing,
collaborative research and development arrangeraedtsther fees. Operating expenses related to@enfor the years ended December 31, 2014 and\2663%4.2 million
and $2.3 million, respectively, primarily relatedhiologics manufacturing. At December 31, 2014 2043 the Company had an accounts receivable lm&f$2,000 and $0 ,
respectively, from GeneOne and its subsidiariedédember 31, 2014 and 2013, $260,000 and $23bf0@@payments made to GeneOne were classifieahgstérm other
assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Intellectual Property

Patents and other proprietary rights are essent@ir business. We file patent applications tdgaoour technologies, inventions and improvementsur inventions that
we consider important to the development of ouirass. We file for patent registration extensivialyhe United States and in key foreign marketgh@ugh our patent filings
include claims covering various features of ourdois and product candidates, including compositiethods of manufacture and use, our patents doroeide us with
complete protection, or guarantee, against theldpwesnt of competing products. In addition,
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some of our know-how and technology are not patdeit&Ve thus also rely upon trade secrets, know;ltowtinuing technological innovations and licegsapportunities to
develop and maintain our competitive position. Wé® aequire employees, consultants, advisors attabavators to enter into confidentiality agreenseibut such agreements
may provide limited protection for our trade sesr&now-how or other proprietary information.

Our intellectual property portfolio covers our prigpary technologies, including electroporationivlrly and vaccine related technologies. As of Faty@5, 2015, our
patent portfolio included over 98 issued United&tgatents and 310 issued foreign counterpamisate

Key vaccine related technology patents and puldigiaent applications include the following:

European patent no. 1809336B1, entitled, “Gravithmone Releasing Hormone (GHRH) Enhances Vadom&esponse”

US Pat No. 7,846,720, entitled, “Optimized Higleld Synthetic Plasmids”

US Pat. No. 8,168,769, entitled, “Improved Vaes and Methods for Using the Sameith claims directed to HPV vaccine produ
US Pat. No. 8,389,706, entitled, “Vaccines famihn Papilloma Virus and Methods for Using the Same

International publication WO 08/014521, entitl&ldnproved Vaccines and Methods for Using the S@mwlich includes HCV, HPV, influenza, HIV, and caar
(hTERT) SynCorf DNA.

US Pat. No. 8,133,723, entitled, “Novel Vaccideginst Multiple Subtypes Of Influenza”

US Pat. No. 8,298,820, entitled, “Influenza MiclAcid Molecules and Vaccines Made Therefrom”

US Pat No. 8,835,620, “Novel Vaccines Againsttijle Subtypes Of Influenza Virus”

US Pat No. 8,697,084, entitled, "HIV Consensus Env&equences And Methods For Using The S

US Pat Nos. 8,829,174 and 8,921,536, "Improved Mavcines And Methods For Using The Sa

US Pat No. 8,535,687, entitled, "Smallpox DNA VaeciAnd The Antigens Therein That Elicit An ImmunesRonse

US Pat. No. 8,178,660, entitled, "Vaccines Amanunotherapeutics Using Codon OptimizedlAnd Methods For Using The Sar

European patent EU1976871, entitled, 'Vaccined lnmunotherapeutics Using Codon OptimizedlB And Methods For Using The Sar

US Pat No. 7,173,116, entitled, "Nucleic Acid Fotations For Gene Delivery And Methods Of U

US Pat No. 8,927,692, entitled;énsensus Prostate Antigens, Nucleic Acid Mole&ineoding The Same And Vaccine And Uses Comprisimg Same

US Pat No. 8,852,609, entitled, “Consensus Sezpeeof Chikungunya Viral Proteins, Nucleic Acid Isttules Encoding the Same and Compositions and
Methods for Using the Same”

Key electroporation related patents covering rasfdeld strengths include the following:

US Pat No. 7,922,709, entitled, “Enhanced dejivé naked DNA to skin by non-invasive in vivo efeporation.”
US Pat No. 7,328,064, entitled, “Electroporatitavice and injection apparatusyith claims directed to methods of delivering aerdgplus electroporatic

US Pat No. 7,245,963, entitled, “Electrode adsgrfor constant-current electroporation and use”
US Pat No. 7,664,545, entitled, “Electrode addgrior constant-current electroporation and use”
US Pat No. 6,697,669, entitled, “Skin and musalgeted gene therapy by pulsed electrical field”
US Pat No. 6,110,161 issued August 29, :

US Pat No. 6,261,281 issued July 17, -

US Pat No. 6,958,060 issued October 25,
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. US Pat No. 6,939,862 issued September 6,

If we fail to protect our intellectual property hitg adequately our competitors might gain accessitéechnology and our business would thus be édrim addition,
defending our intellectual property rights mightaghsignificant expense. Any of our intellectuabperty rights may be challenged by others or idea&d through administrati
processes or litigation through the courts. In toldj our patents, or any other patents that magdeed to us in the future, may not provide u$ aity competitive advantages,
or may be challenged by third parties. Furthermiegal standards relating to the validity, enfolikty and scope of protection of intellectual pesty rights are uncertain.
Effective patent, trademark, copyright and tradeeteprotection may not be available to us in eamintry where we operate. The laws of some fore@mtries may not be as
protective of intellectual property rights as thaséhe United States, and domestic and internatiorechanisms for enforcement of intellectual prgpeghts in those countries
may be inadequate. Accordingly, despite our effevesmay be unable to prevent third parties frofriiging upon or misappropriating our intellectyabperty or otherwise
gaining access to our technology. We may be rediaarexpend significant resources to monitor aradgat our intellectual property rights. We mayiati claims or litigation
against third parties for infringement of our prietary rights or to establish the validity of oupprietary rights. Any such litigation, whetherrat it is ultimately resolved in o
favor, would result in significant expense to ud divert the efforts of our technical and managerpensonnel.

There may be rights we are not aware of, includipglications that have been filed but not publistied, when issued, could be asserted againsteseTthird-parties
could bring claims against us, and that would causs® incur substantial expenses and, if sucdesgéinst us, could cause us to pay substantiahdam Further, if a patent
infringement suit were brought against us, we ctvéldorced to stop or delay research, developmesufacturing or sales of the product or biologiegdcandidate that is the
subject of the suit. As a result of patent infrimgmt claims, or in order to avoid potential claimve, may choose or be required to seek a license thhe third-party. These
licenses may not be available on acceptable tesre, all. Even if we are able to obtain a liceribe,license would likely obligate us to pay licerfiees or royalties or both, and
the rights granted to us might be non-exclusivackvhould result in our competitors gaining acdesthe same intellectual property. Ultimately, veeid be prevented from
commercializing a product, or be forced to ceaseesaspect of our business operations, if, as # kfsactual or threatened patent infringementrokgiwe are unable to enter
into licenses on acceptable terms. All of the issiescribed above could also impact our collabosatehich would also impact the success of theaboltation and therefore us.

Important legal issues remain to be resolved #ise@xtent and scope of available patent protedtiohiologic products, including vaccines, andgasses in the United
States and other important markets outside theed8tates, such as Europe and Japan. Foreign sarkgtnot provide the same level of patent prataas provided under the
United States patent system. We recognize thgatitin or administrative proceedings may be necgssaletermine the validity and scope of certdiowr and others’
proprietary rights. Any such litigation or proceeglimay result in a significant commitment of resesrin the future and could force us to interruptaperations, redesign our
products or processes, or negotiate a license mgregall of which would adversely affect our rewvenFurthermore, changes in, or different integifens of, patent laws in the
United States and other countries may result iargdaws that allow others to use our discoverredewelop and commercialize our products.

We cannot guarantee that the patents we obtaleasripatented technology we hold will afford usigigant commercial protection.

Significant Customers and Research and Development

During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 204 8lenived 70% and 68% of our revenue from Roclspeetively. During the years ended December 314 20
2013, we derived 12% and 16% of our revenue fraarNHAID, respectively.
Since our inception, virtually all of our activisidnave consisted of research and developmentsffgeted to developing our electroporation tecbgiels and immunotherapies.
Research and development expense consists of egimasirred in performing research and developmetitities including salaries and benefits, fai@tand other overhead
expenses, clinical trials, contract services aheémoutside expenses. Our research and develogxeense was $ 34.1 million in 2014 and $21.4 mmillim2013.

Corporate History and Headquarters

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. grew out of the mefeyGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“VGX”) and Inovio®hedical Corporation. On June 1, 2009, VGX, a pe\@mpany
primarily focused on developing DNA immunotherapissmpleted a merger with Inovio Biomedical Corpiara a publicly listed company whose main focuswaveloping
electroporation delivery technology and devicesspant to the terms of an Amended and RestatedefAgget and Plan of Merger dated December 5, 2008rtaer amended
on March 31, 2009. Subsequent to the merger, weéumbrour business through our United States whmliyied subsidiaries, VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC ande®enics, Inc.
On May 14, 2010, the entity changed its corporateeto Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Our corporatiuarters is located at 660 W. Germantown Pike,
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Suite 100, Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania 19464,tha telephone number is (267) 440-4200. Inoviarilaceuticals (NASDAQ: INO) is focused on advangnoducts
based on its integrated technology platform coingjsif its SynCorf DNA immunotherapies and vaccines delivered wittCE.LECTRA® electroporation delivery devices.

VGX was originally incorporated as Viral Genomirgl under the laws of Delaware on April 17, 20@0dévelop new drugs and therapies to treat visdaties and
cancers. The company was renamed VGX Pharmaceytinal on May 31, 2006. On February 21, 2007, V@&Huired Advisys, Inc., a company possessing DN an
electroporation technology, through an asset pgehgreement. On April 14, 2007, VGX entered im@x¢clusive license agreement with the Truste¢seotUniversity of
Pennsylvania related to therapeutic and prophgl@MA vaccines developed by Dr. David Weiner atlthméversity of Pennsylvania School of Medicine. V@<¢used on
advancing its DNA immunotherapy technology targgtiancers and infectious diseases.

Inovio Biomedical Corporation originated as a compancorporated on June 29, 1983, under the lav@atifornia as Biotechnologies & Experimental Reskalnc. The
company was formed to develop electroporation @svior the research marketplace and later begexpiore human applications of electroporation tivde agents such as
chemotherapeutic agents, gene therapies, and DIAlitatherapies. The company changed its corporate taBTX, Inc. on December 10, 1991, and Genatspminc. on
February 8, 1994. On April 14, 1994, Genetronins, became a public company through a share exeragrgement with Consolidated United Safety Teduies, Inc., a
company listed on the Vancouver Stock Exchangeruhedaws of British Columbia, Canada, which tisbanged its name to Genetronics Biomedical LtdSeptember 29,
1994. Genetronics, Inc. remained as a wholly ovwoptating subsidiary. On September 2, 1997, thepeoslisted on the Toronto Stock Exchange. On Déeer@, 1998, the
company listed on the American Stock Exchange (oawed by the NYSE and referred to as the NYSE MKWg. voluntarily de-listed from the Toronto Stockdrnge on
January 17, 2003. On June 15, 2001, Genetronigsdiwal Ltd. completed a change in jurisdictionnmrporation from British Columbia, Canada, to #tate of Delaware ar
became Genetronics Biomedical Corporation. On g2 2005, Genetronics Biomedical Corporationuéegl Inovio AS, a gene delivery technology compady March 31,
2005, Genetronics Biomedical Corporation was remhmevio Biomedical Corporation. On September 4,.£20he Company provided notice to the NYSE MKTt thavould
voluntarily transfer the listing of its common stopar value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stodkdin NYSE MKT to the NASDAQ Global Select MarkéNASDAQ”).
The Common Stock was approved for listing on NASD&@ began trading on NASDAQ on September 15, 2014.

Available Information

Our Internet website addressasw.inovio.com We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarteports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Forky &orms 3, 4, and
filed on behalf of directors and executive officeard any amendments to those reports filed oished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of theufes Exchange Act of
1934, or the Exchange Act, available free of chamgeur website as soon as reasonably practicétbievee electronically file such material with, foirnish it to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. You can el and copy any materials we file with the SE@@SECS Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgsiin DC
20549. You can obtain additional information abitwt operation of the Public Reference Room byroglihe SEC at 1-800-SE@330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Inte
site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy iafofrmation statements, and other information rég issuers that file electronically with the SEQIluding us.

Information regarding our corporate governancduitiag the charters of our audit committee, our m@tion and corporate governance committee and@upensation
committee, our Code of Business Conduct and EtbiasCorporate Governance Policy and informatiarctmtacting our board of directors is availableoon Internet site
(www.inovio.com). We will provide any of the foreigg information without charge upon request to Pkies, 10480 Wateridge Circle, San Diego, CA, 912

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics include€ode of Ethics applicable to our Chief Executdficer and Chief Financial Officer, who also ses\as our
principal accounting officer. Any amendments tanvaivers of the Code of Ethics will be promptly peisbn our Internet site (www.inovio.com) or in pog on Form 8-K, as
required by applicable law.

Employees

As of March 9, 2015, we employed 106 people orilaifue basis and 4 people under consulting angept@mployment agreements. Of the combined t8€alyere in
product research, which includes research and dewelnt, quality assurance, clinical, engineerimg, manufacturing, and 24 were in general and adinative, which includes
corporate development, information technology, lleigaestor relations, finance, and corporate adstriation. None of our employees are subject ttectiVe bargaining
agreements.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factmgarding information included in this Annual Repdhe risks and uncertainties described belowrasethe only ones
we face. Additional risks and uncertainties notgargly known to us or that we currently deem imnatelso may impair our business operations. If/af the following risks
actually occur, our business, financial conditiomdaoperating results could be materially adverssfected.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred losses since inception, expedhtmir significant net losses in the foreseeable doé and may never become profitable.

We have experienced significant operating lossekate; as of December 31, 2014 our accumulateditiefis approximately $ 331.9 million . We have giated limited
revenues, primarily consisting of license and graaenue, and interest income. We expect to coatiouncur substantial additional operating logsesit least the next several
years as we advance our clinical trials and rebesmd development activities. We may never sucalgsiommercialize our vaccine product candidateslectroporation-based
synthetic vaccine delivery technology and thus meyer have any significant future revenues or aghénd sustain profitability. We believe that catreash and cash
equivalents plus short-term investments are sefficio meet planned working capital requirementsuth the end of 2017, excluding our planned phasénical trial of VGX-
3100. We will continue to rely on outside sourcefirmncing to meet our capital needs beyond fhigt

We have limited sources of revenue and our sucéssiependent on our ability to develop our vaccared other product candidates and electroporatiorugzment.

We do not sell any products and may not have amgrgtroducts commercially available for severakgeifat all. Our ability to generate future reues depends heavily
on our success in:

« developing and securing United States and/@idarregulatory approvals for our product candisiaitecluding securing regulatory approval for coctthg clinical
trials with product candidates;

« developing our electroporatidrased DNA delivery technology; &

« commercializing any products for which we receippraval from the FDA and foreign regulatory autties

Our electroporation equipment and product candsdait require extensive additional clinical stualyd evaluation, regulatory approval in multiplegdictions,
substantial investment and significant marketirfgrés before we generate any revenues from prashles. We are not permitted to market or promotestactroporation
equipment and product candidates before we recegudatory approval from the FDA or comparable iigneregulatory authorities. If we do not receivgukatory approval for
and successfully commercialize any products, wenet generate any revenues from sales of eleatatipo equipment and products, and we may not keetatrontinue our
operations.

None of our human vaccine product candidates hagbepproved for sale, and we may not develop coneially successful vaccine products.

Our human vaccine programs are in the early staesearch and development, and currently incliadeine product candidates in discovery, pre-ciinstudies and
phase | and Il clinical studies. There is limitedaregarding the efficiency of synthetic vaccicesmpared with conventional vaccines, and we mustlect a substantial amount
of additional research and development before egylatory authority will approve any of our vaccpreduct candidates. The success of our effortietelop and
commercialize our vaccine product candidates cfaildor a number of reasons. For example, we ceulokrience delays in product development andcdirtrials. Our vaccine
product candidates could be found to be ineffeativensafe, or otherwise fail to receive necesszgylatory clearances. The products, if safe afet#fe, could be difficult to
manufacture on a large scale or uneconomical taehaor our competitors could develop superior ireeproducts more quickly and efficiently or mofteetively market their
competing products.

In addition, adverse events, or the perceptiordeéese events, relating to vaccines and vaccineeatigltechnologies may negatively impact our apild develop
commercially successful vaccine products. For exapgharmaceutical companies have been subjetaitosthat the use of some pediatric vaccines aaseatl personal
injuries, including brain damage, central nervoysteam damage and autism. These and other claimsnfiagnce public perception of the use of vacgneducts and could
result in greater governmental regulation, striabeling requirements and potential regulatoragein the testing or approval of our potentialdorais.
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We will need substantial additional capital to déme our synthetic vaccine and electroporation deliy technology and other product candidates and éar future
operations.

Conducting the costly and time consuming resegm@hclinical and clinical testing necessary to @btagulatory approvals and bring our vaccine deimechnology and
product candidates to market will require a commaittof substantial funds in excess of our currapital. Our future capital requirements will dep@mdmany factors,
including, among others:

« the progress of our current and new product devedop program:

« the progress, scope and results of ourcfinéeal and clinical testin:

« the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals

« the cost of manufacturing our products and prodantidate:

« the cost of prosecuting, enforcing and defendirajrey patent infringement claims and other intéllebproperty right:

«  competing technological and market developmentd

« our ability and costs to establish and maintaitebalrative and other arrangements with third psutileassist in potentially bringing our productsrtarket

Additional financing may not be available on acedp terms, or at all. Domestic and internatiomglital markets have been experiencing heightenkdilty and turmoil
making it more difficult to raise capital throudietissuance of equity securities. Furthermore,rasut of the recent volatility in the capital rkets, the cost and availability of
credit has been and may continue to be adversiggtaél by illiquid credit markets and wider cresfiteads. Concern about the stability of the mareterally and the strength
of counterparties specifically has led many lendd institutional investors to reduce, and in seases cease to provide, funding to borrowersh&@xtent we are able to re
additional capital through the sale of equity sii@s or we issue securities in connection withthaotransaction, the ownership position of exgstockholders could be
substantially diluted. If additional funds are eighrough the issuance of preferred stock or sletrities, these securities are likely to havetsigpreferences and privileges
senior to our common stock and may involve sigaificfees, interest expense, restrictive covenantshee granting of security interests in our asgétgtuating interest rates
could also increase the costs of any debt finane@gnay obtain. Raising capital through a licensingther transaction involving our intellectuabperty could require us to
relinquish valuable intellectual property rightsladhereby sacrifice long-term value for short-tdiquidity.

Our failure to successfully address ongoing ligyidequirements would have a substantially negathgact on our business. If we are unable to otstdafitional capital c
acceptable terms when needed, we may need to ¢tkasathat adversely affect our business, ourkspoice and our ability to achieve cash flow in theure, including possibly
surrendering our rights to some technologies odypecbopportunities, delaying our clinical trialsaurtailing or ceasing operations.

We depend upon key personnel who may terminatertBeiployment with us at any time and we may neetiite additional qualified personnel in order to ¢éin financing,
pursue collaborations or develop or market our prad candidates

The success of our business strategy will depeadstgnificant degree upon the continued servi€éep management, technical and scientific persbané our ability to
attract and retain additional qualified personmel mnanagers, including personnel with expertisglimcal trials, government regulation, manufaatgri marketing and other
areas. Competition for qualified personnel is isEeamong companies, academic institutions and otganizations. If we are unable to attract andingtey personnel and
advisors, it may negatively affect our ability tecsessfully develop, test, commercialize and masketproducts and product candidates.

We face intense and increasing competition and marfiypur competitors have significantly greater rasoes and experience.

If any of our competitors develop products withety or safety profiles significantly better thaur products, we may not be able to commercializepooducts, and sal
of any of our commercialized products could be fetnSome of our competitors and potential compstitave substantially greater product developmapalilities and
financial, scientific, marketing and human resoarten we do. Competitors may develop productseeaobtain FDA approvals for products more rapidiydevelop products
that are more effective than those under developtnens. We will seek to expand our technologiegdabilities to remain competitive; however, reskaned development by
others may render our technologies or productsletesor noncompetitive, or result in treatmentsumes superior to ours.

Many other companies are pursuing other formseafttnent or prevention for diseases that we taFgetexample, many of our competitors are workingleveloping and
testing H5N1, HIN1 and universal influenza vacciresl several HLN1 vaccines developed by our catopehave been approved for human use. Our cotopetind potenti
competitors include
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large pharmaceutical and medical device compami@srere established biotechnology companies. To@sgpanies have significantly greater financial atiger resources and
greater expertise than us in research and develdpseruring government contracts and grants tpatipesearch and development efforts, manufagugre-clinical and
clinical testing, obtaining regulatory approvalslanarketing. This may make it easier for them g&pomd more quickly than us to new or changing dpipéfes, technologies or
market needs. Many of these competitors operage lavell-funded research and development programiave significant products approved or in develept. Small
companies may also prove to be significant comgmstiparticularly through collaborative arrangersenith large pharmaceutical companies or througfuia@ion or
development of intellectual property rights. Outegatial competitors also include academic institagi, governmental agencies and other public avdterresearch
organizations that conduct research, seek pateteqgtion and establish collaborative arrangememtprioduct and clinical development and marketigsearch and
development by others may seek to render our téobhies or products obsolete or noncompetitive.

If we lose or are unable to secure collaboratorsgartners, or if our collaborators or partners doohapply adequate resources to their relationshigish us, our product
development and potential for profitability will $ter.

We have entered into, or may enter into, distriutco-promotion, partnership, sponsored researdfother arrangements for development, manufactusales,
marketing and other commercialization activitidatiag to our products. For example, in the pastaee entered into a license and collaborationeageait with Roche. The
amount and timing of resources applied by our boltators are largely outside of our control.

If any of our current or future collaborators brieas or terminates our agreements, or fails to odmalur collaborative activities in a timely manneuy commercialization
of products could be diminished or blocked compjeteis possible that collaborators will changeit strategic focus, pursue alternative technel®gir develop alternative
products, either on their own or in collaboratioithvothers. Further, we may be forced to fund paags that were previously funded by our collabostand we may not have,
or be able to access, the necessary funding. Teetigeness of our partners, if any, in marketing products will also affect our revenues and eeysii

We desire to enter into new collaborative agreemétbwever, we may not be able to successfully tietgoany additional collaborative arrangements #restablished,
these relationships may not be scientifically anomercially successful. Our success in the futupedds in part on our ability to enter into agreetnievith other highly-
regarded organizations. This can be difficult duenternal and external constraints placed on theganizations. Some organizations may have irgeafft administrative and
related infrastructure to enable collaborationwitany companies at once, which can extend theititakes to develop, negotiate and implement kbotation. Once news of
discussions regarding possible collaborations aosvk in the medical community, regardless of whethe news is accurate, failure to announce alooitive agreement or t
entity's announcement of a collaboration with aap#ntity may result in adverse speculation abeutesulting in harm to our reputation and our ess.

Disputes could also arise between us and our egisti future collaborators, as to a variety of erattincluding financial and intellectual propemtgtters or other
obligations under our agreements. These disputdd be both expensive and timensuming and may result in delays in the developraed commercialization of our produ
or could damage our relationship with a collabarato

A small number of licensing partners and governmesantracts account for a substantial portion of ouevenue.

We currently derive, and in the past we have ddrigesignificant portion of our revenue from a tieai number of licensing partners and governmemtgrand contracts.
For example, during the year ended December 34,2Rdche and the NIAID accounted for approxima#§o and 12% , of our consolidated revenue, resmygtilf we fail to
sign additional future contracts with major licemspartners and the government, if a contractleyee or deferred, or if an existing contract egpior is canceled and we fail to
replace the contract with new business, our reverugd be adversely affected.

We have agreements with government agencies, whighsubject to termination and uncertain future fuling.

We have entered into agreements with governmemicégge such as the NIAID and the US Army, and viend to continue entering into these agreemerttseifuture.
Our business is partially dependent on the contippegformance by these government agencies ofrisgdonsibilities under these agreements, includdeguate continued
funding of the agencies and their programs. We haveontrol over the resources and funding thaegawent agencies may devote to these agreemerit$, mhy be subject 1
annual renewal and which generally may be termihbjethe government agencies at any time.

Government agencies may fail to perform their resfilities under these agreements, which may ctinese to be terminated by the government agenicieidition, we
may fail to perform our responsibilities under thagreements. Many of our government agreementiject to audits, which may occur several yettes the period to whic
the audit relates. If
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an audit identifies significant unallowable costs, could incur a material charge to our earninggduction in our cash position. As a result, we im@ unsuccessful entering,
ineligible to enter, into future government agreatae

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate sidigantly.

We expect our operating results to be subject #otqtly fluctuations. Our net loss and other opegatesults will be affected by numerous factansjuding:
« variations in the level of expenses related toadectroporation equipment, product candidates tiréudevelopment prograr
* expenses related to corporate transactions, imguaties not fully complete
«  addition or termination of clinical trials or fumdj suppor
¢ any intellectual property infringement lawsuit ifieh we may become involve
¢ any legal claims that may be asserted against asyoof our officer:
« regulatory developments affecting our electroporagquipment and product candidates or those of@upetitors
« our execution of any collaborative, licensing anitar arrangements, and the timing of payments \ag make or receive under these arrangement

« if any of our products receives regulatory approtra levels of underlying demand for our prodt

If our quarterly operating results fall below theectations of investors or securities analysts pifice of our common stock could decline substiiptiFurthermore, any
quarterly fluctuations in our operating results friayturn, cause the price of our stock to fluctusitibstantially. We believe that quarterly companssof our financial results are
not necessarily meaningful and should not be reljgeh as an indication of our future performance.

If we are unable to obtain FDA approval of our pradts, we will not be able to commercialize thentlie United States

We need FDA approval prior to marketing our elgmbration equipment and products in the United Stdfeve fail to obtain FDA approval to market alectroporation
equipment and product candidates, we will be untab$ell our products in the United States, whidhsignificantly impair our ability to generate ymevenues.

This regulatory review and approval process, witichudes evaluation of pre-clinical studies andichl trials of our products as well as the evatuabf our
manufacturing processes and our third-party contmanufacturers' facilities, is lengthy, expensinel uncertain. To receive approval, we must, anutier things, demonstrate
with substantial evidence from well-controlled @il trials that our electroporation equipment anoduct candidates are both safe and effectivedoh indication for which
approval is sought. Satisfaction of the approvglirements typically takes several years and the tieeded to satisfy them may vary substantiadiget) on the type,
complexity and novelty of the product. We do nobwrif or when we might receive regulatory approvialsour electroporation equipment and any of aedpct candidates
currently under development. Moreover, any appiotizt we obtain may not cover all of the clinicalications for which we are seeking approval,auld contain significant
limitations in the form of narrow indications, wargs, precautions or contra-indications with respeconditions of use. In such event, our abiiityyenerate revenues from
such products would be greatly reduced and ounbasiwould be harmed.

The FDA has substantial discretion in the apprpvatess and may either refuse to consider ourcgijaln for substantive review or may form the opmafter review of
our data that our application is insufficient ttoal approval of our electroporation equipment arabpct candidates. If the FDA does not consideapgrove our application, it
may require that we conduct additional clinicak-glinical or manufacturing validation studies autmit that data before it will reconsider our é&mtion. Depending on the
extent of these or any other studies, approvahgfaplications that we submit may be delayed bgise years, or may require us to expend more ressuhan we have
available. It is also possible that additional &adif performed and completed, may not be suégessconsidered sufficient by the FDA for apprboaeven to make our
applications approvable. If any of these outconeesig we may be forced to abandon one or more épplications for approval, which might signifi¢igrharm our business
and prospects.

It is possible that none of our products or anydpat we may seek to develop in the future will edetain the appropriate regulatory approvals necgdsr us or our
collaborators to commence product sales. Any del@ptaining, or an inability to obtain, applicalbégulatory approvals would prevent us from comiad¢iming our products,
generating revenues and achieving and sustainofgaiility.
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Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive mress with an uncertain outcome, and results of éarktudies and trials may not be predictive ofdue trial results.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take manys/gacomplete, and its outcome is uncertain. Faiban occur at any time during the clinical tdedcess. The results of
pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials afrgproducts may not be predictive of the resultitr-stage clinical trials. Results from one gtathy not be reflected or
supported by the results of similar studies. Resaflan animal study may not be indicative of rssathievable in human studies. Human-use equipamehproduct candidates
in later stages of clinical trials may fail to shtive desired safety and efficacy traits despitérftaprogressed through pre-clinical studies antigintlinical testing. The time
required to obtain approval by the FDA and simiitaeign authorities is unpredictable but typicalkes many years following the commencement ofadlirtrials, depending
upon numerous factors. In addition, approval peticregulations, or the type and amount of cliniieah necessary to gain approval may change. Wer@obtained regulato
approval for any human-use products.

Our products could fail to complete the clinicéltprocess for many reasons, including the foltayvi

* we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaof the FDA or comparable foreign regulatoryhauities that our electroporation equipment andoa pct
candidate are safe and effective for any indication

« the results of clinical trials may not meet thedlleof statistical significance required by the FDAcomparable foreign regulatory authorities foprapal
« the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authcsitieay disagree with the design or implementatioounfclinical trials

* we may not be successful in enrolling a sufficiemmber of participants in clinical tria

« we may be unable to demonstrate that our electatiporequipment and a product candidate's clirsindl other benefits outweigh its safety ri

« we may be unable to demonstrate that our electation equipment and a product candidate presengslvantage over existing therapies, or oveepladn any
indications for which the FDA requires a placebatcolled trial;

« the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory auttesimay disagree with our interpretation of datenf preelinical studies or clinical trial

« the data collected from clinical trials of ounguct candidates may not be sufficient to supth@tsubmission of a new drug application or otlénsission or to
obtain regulatory approval in the United Stateslsewhere;

« the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory auttesi may fail to approve the manufacturing processdacilities of us or third-party manufacturerish which we or
our collaborators contract for clinical and comnirsupplies; and

« the approval policies or regulations of the FBrAcomparable foreign regulatory authorities mayicantly change in a manner rendering our céhitata
insufficient for approval.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clifitesting could result in increased costs to us atelay or limit our ability to generate revenue

Delays in the commencement or completion of cliniesting could significantly affect our productvééopment costs. We do not know whether plannetocdi trials will
begin on time or be completed on schedule, iflatrabddition, ongoing clinical trials may not bempleted on schedule, or at all. The commencearahtompletion of clinical
trials can be delayed for a number of reasonsydticy delays related to:

«  obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clirtidal;
« adverse results from third party clinical trialsaiving gene based therapies and the regulatoporee theret:

* reaching agreement on acceptable terms wittppative CROs and trial sites, the terms of whiahloa subject to extensive negotiation and may saificantly
among different CROs and trial sites;

« future bans or stricter standards imposed on gaseddtherapy clinical tria
« manufacturing sufficient quantities of our electsogtion equipment and product candidates for usdiiical trials
«  obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, appabto conduct a clinical trial at a prospective;

« slower than expected recruitment and enrollnoépatients to participate in clinical trials fovariety of reasons, including competition fromestllinical trial
programs for similar indications;

« conducting clinical trials with sites internatiolyatlue to regulatory approvals and meeting intéonai standard
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«  retaining patients who have initiated a clinic@l but may be prone to withdraw due to sideef$ from the therapy, lack of efficacy or persdssilies, or who are
lost to further follow-up;

¢ collecting, reviewing and analyzing our clinicaatrdata; an

« global unrest, terrorist activities, and econonmd ather external facto

Clinical trials may also be delayed as a resuétrobiguous or negative interim results. In additeolinical trial may be suspended or terminatedibythe FDA, the IRB
overseeing the clinical trial at issue, any of dlinmical trial sites with respect to that site,aiher regulatory authorities due to a number ofofie; including:

« failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordaneith regulatory requirements or our clinical prois
* inspection of the clinical trial operations or tigites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of a clinical ho
« unforeseen safety issues;

« lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicall;

If we experience delays in completion of, or if tgeminate, any of our clinical trials, the commatgrospects for our electroporation equipment@unrdproduct candidat
may be harmed and our ability to generate prodaanues will be delayed. In addition, many of thetdrs that cause, or lead to, a delay in the camereent or completion of
clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the dgrf regulatory approval of a product candid&tarther, delays in the commencement or completiatirical trials may
adversely affect the trading price of our commarlist

We and our collaborators rely on third parties torduct our clinical trials. If these third partieslo not successfully carry out their contractual des or meet expected
deadlines, we and our collaborators may not be aol@btain regulatory approval for or commercializeir product candidates.

We and our collaborators have entered into agretsméth CROSs to provide monitors for and to mandge for our on-going clinical programs. We and@iOs
conducting clinical trials for our electroporatiequipment and product candidates are requiredrgplyowith current good clinical practices, or GCRsyulations and guidelines
enforced by the FDA for all of our products in aial development. The FDA enforces GCPs througlogirinspections of trial sponsors, principal istigators and trial sites.
If we or the CROs conducting clinical trials of quroduct candidates fail to comply with applicaBI€Ps, the clinical data generated in the clinidals may be deemed
unreliable and the FDA may require additional dtitrials before approving any marketing applmagi

If any relationships with CROs terminate, we or oaoltaborators may not be able to enter into areaments with alternative CROs. In addition, theseltharty CROs are
not our employees, and we cannot control whethapbthey devote sufficient time and resourcesutoom-going clinical programs or perform trials efficigntThese CROs me
also have relationships with other commercial E#jtincluding our competitors, for whom they migoabe conducting clinical studies or other druged@ment activities,
which could harm our competitive position. If CR@snot successfully carry out their contractualedubr obligations or meet expected deadlinebgey heed to be replaced, or
if the quality or accuracy of the clinical dataytabtain is compromised due to the failure to adherour clinical protocols, regulatory requirengemtr for other reasons, our
clinical trials may be extended, delayed or ter@daand we may not be able to obtain regulatopy@al for or successfully commercialize our pradtandidates. As a result,
our financial results and the commercial prospftsur product candidates would be harmed, outsamsuld increase and our ability to generate regercould be delayed.
Cost overruns by or disputes with our CROs mayifsaamtly increase our expenses.

Even if our products receive regulatory approvaiety may still face future development and regulatdifficulties.

Even if United States regulatory approval is ol#dirthe FDA may still impose significant restrictsoon a product's indicated uses or marketing ppga ongoing
requirements for potentially costly post-approvatiges. This governmental oversight may be pasditylistrict with respect to gene based therapies.pBoducts will also be
subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing #ieling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotiecord keeping and submission of safety and qtbst-market
information. In addition, manufacturers of drug¢wots and their facilities are subject to contimeaiew and periodic inspections by the FDA anceotlegulatory authorities fi
compliance with current good manufacturing prastice cGMP, regulations. If we or a regulatory ayesiscover previously unknown problems with a piidsuch as adverse
events of unanticipated severity or frequency,robfems with the facility where the product is méamtured, a regulatory agency may impose restristan that product, the
manufacturer or us, including requiring withdrawéthe product from the market or suspension ofufeturing. If we, our product candidates or thenafacturing facilities fo
our product candidates fail to comply with applieategulatory requirements, a regulatory agency:may

¢ issue Warning Letters or untitled lette
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« impose civil or criminal penaltie

¢ suspend regulatory appro\

* suspend any ongoing clinical tri

« refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrterapplications filed by L

* impose restrictions on operations, including cosyv manufacturing requirements

*  seize or detain products or require us to initeapgoduct reca

Even if our products receive regulatory approvaltine United States, we may never receive approvaloonmercialize our products outside of the Unit&tates.

In order to market any electroporation equipment aroduct candidates outside of the United Statesnust establish and comply with numerous andingmegulatory
requirements of other countries regarding safetyedficacy. Approval procedures vary among coustaerd can involve additional product testing arditamhal administrative
review periods. The time required to obtain appravather countries might differ from that requdreo obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approvalgess in other countries
may include all of the risks detailed above regagdiDA approval in the United States as well agiotisks. Regulatory approval in one country dagisemsure regulatory
approval in another, but a failure or delay in @bty regulatory approval in one country may haveegative effect on the regulatory process in athieailure to obtain
regulatory approval in other countries or any delagetback in obtaining such approval could haeesame adverse effects detailed above regardiAgapproval in the United
States. Such effects include the risks that oudymrbcandidates may not be approved for all indioatrequested, which could limit the uses of aadpct candidates and have
an adverse effect on their commercial potentiabquire costly, post-marketing follow-up studies.

We face potential product liability exposure andisuccessful claims are brought against us, we niragur substantial liability.

The use of our electroporation equipment and syicthiaccine candidates in clinical trials and takef any products for which we obtain marketipgraval expose us to
the risk of product liability claims. Product lidiby claims might be brought against us by consienkealth care providers, pharmaceutical compamiethers selling or
otherwise coming into contact with our products: &ample, pharmaceutical companies have beencsubjelaims that the use of some pediatric vacchrees caused personal
injuries, including brain damage, central nervoggtesm damage and autism, and these companiesritawresid material costs to defend these claimsel€annot successfully
defend ourselves against product liability claims,could incur substantial liabilities. In additioegardless of merit or eventual outcome, protiability claims may result in:

« decreased demand for our product candic

¢ impairment of our business reputati

« withdrawal of clinical trial participant

«  costs of related litigatio

« distraction of management's attention from our prytbusines
« substantial monetary awards to patients or otteémelnts

* loss of revenues; a

¢ inability to commercialize our produc

We have obtained product liability insurance cogertor our clinical trials, but our insurance cage may not be sufficient to reimburse us for afpeases or losses we
may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becgrncreasingly expensive, and, in the future, wg mat be able to maintain insurance coverage easonable cost or in
sufficient amounts to protect us against lossegalliability. On occasion, large judgments haverbewarded in class action lawsuits based on ptedat had unanticipated
side effects. A successful product liability claimseries of claims brought against us could causetock price to decline and, if judgments exaeadinsurance coverage,
could adversely affect our business.

We currently have no marketing and sales organipatiand have no experience in marketing productswié are unable to establish marketing and salesatzfities or enter
into agreements with third parties to market andlsgur products, we may not be able to generatedurct revenues.

We currently do not have a sales organizationtferharketing, sales and distribution of our elgmiration equipment and product candidates. In da@leommercialize
any products, we must build our marketing, salesridution, managerial and other non-technicalatgties or make arrangements with third partepérform these services.
We contemplate
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establishing our own sales force or seeking thardyppartners to sell our products. The establistirard development of our own sales force to maRkgtproducts we may
develop will be expensive and time consuming anddcdelay any product launch, and we may not be bsuccessfully develop this capability. We wifio have to compete
with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology comgsitn recruit, hire, train and retain marketing aales personnel. To the extent we rely on thirtlggato commercialize our
approved products, if any, we will receive lowerarues than if we commercialized these productsebees. In addition, we may have little or no cohtiver the sales efforts
third parties involved in our commercializationa@ts. In the event we are unable to develop our marketing and sales force or collaborate withiratharty marketing and
sales organization, we would not be able to comialére our product candidates which would negagiveipact our ability to generate product revenues.

If any of our products for which we receive regutatly approval does not achieve broad market accep&rthe revenues that we generate from their salésbe limited.

The commercial success of our electroporation enei and product candidates for which we obtairketarg approval from the FDA or other regulatoryhauities will
depend upon the acceptance of these products byttmtnedical community and patient population. €age and reimbursement of our product candidatéisital-party
payors, including government payors, generallyide aecessary for optimal commercial success. €lgee of market acceptance of any of our approwvediiets will depend ¢
a number of factors, including:

« our ability to provide acceptable evidence of saetd efficacy

« the relative convenience and ease of administr;

« the prevalence and severity of any actual or peeceadverse side effec

« limitations or warnings contained in a produEf®A-approved labeling, including, for example, grttial “black box warnings
« availability of alternative treatmen

« pricing and cost effectivene

« the effectiveness of our or any future collaborsitsales and marketing stratec

« our ability to obtain sufficient thirgarty coverage or reimbursement;

« the willingness of patients to pay out of podkethe absence of thidarty coverag

If our electroporation equipment and product caatdig are approved but do not achieve an adequateofeacceptance by physicians, health care paymispatients, we
may not generate sufficient revenue from theseymisgd and we may not become or remain profitabl@ddition, our efforts to educate the medical comity and third-party
payors on the benefits of our product candidateg neguire significant resources and may never beessful.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable to our producandidates, could hinder or prevent our product&mmercial success.

Our ability to commercialize our electroporatiorugmment and product candidates successfully wibesel in part on the extent to which governmenttiarities, private
health insurers and other third-party payors estalalppropriate coverage and reimbursement lewelsur product candidates and related treatmersts threshold for coverage
and reimbursement, third-party payors generallyirecthat drug products have been approved for etiaudk by the FDA. Thirgparty payors also are increasingly challenging
effectiveness of and prices charged for medicalyets and services. We may not be able to obtaith-fplarty coverage or reimbursement for our proslirciwhole or in part.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or preventr products' commercial succes

In both the United States and certain foreign licisons there have been, and we anticipate thé@reamtinue to be, a number of legislative andulegpry changes to the
healthcare system that could impact our abilitgeth any of our products profitably. In the UnitBthtes, the Federal government passed healthdarmriegislation, the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act, or the ACA. Tarevisions of the ACA have become or will becorffeative on various dates. While many of the dstedigarding the
implementation of the ACA are yet to be determineel believe there will be continuing trends towagdpanding coverage to more individuals, contaitiieglth care costs and
improving quality. At the same time, the rebatéscalunts, taxes and other costs associated witA@#eare expected to be a significant cost to thermaceutical industry.

The continuing efforts of the government, insuracoepanies, managed care organizations and otlierspaf healthcare services to make and implemesitiicare
reforms may adversely affect:

« our ability to set a price we believe is fair fargroducts
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« our ability to generate revenues and achieve ontaiai profitability
« the availability of capital; ar

« our ability to obtain timely approval of our prodsi

If we fail to comply with applicable healthcare ratations, we could face substantial penalties andar dusiness, operations and financial condition clolbe adversel
affected.

Certain federal and state healthcare laws andatgos pertaining to fraud and abuse and patiggtgs may be applicable to our business. We cbaldubject to
healthcare fraud and abuse and patient privacylaggu by both the federal government and the stiatevhich we conduct our business, without liniitat The laws that may
affect our ability to operate include:

« the federal healthcare program Anti-Kickbacki@®t which prohibits, among other things, peopbenf soliciting, receiving or providing remuneratjatirectly or
indirectly, to induce either the referral of aniividual, for an item or service or the purchasingulering of a good or service, for which paymmaty be made und
federal healthcare programs such as the Medicar®/adicaid programs;

« federal false claims laws which prohibit, amaniger things, individuals or entities from knowipgiresenting, or causing to be presented, claimpadgment from
Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payorstthre false or fraudulent;

« the ACA expands the government's investigatie enforcement authority and increases the pegdtiidfraud and abuse, including amendments to thettralse
Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute to makedsier to bring suit under those statutes;

« the federal Health Insurance Portability and d\a@tability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibiesxecuting a scheme to defraud any healthcare beme§ram or
making false statements relating to healthcarearsa#ind which also imposes certain requiremerdsimglto the privacy, security and transmissiomdividually
identifiable health information;

« the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, whichragrather things, strictly regulates drug productkating, prohibits manufacturers from marketinggiproduct:
for off-label use and regulates the distributiomnfg samples; and

« state law equivalents of each of the above fddaws, such as anti-kickback and false claimslesich may apply to items or services reimbursedry thirdparty
payor, including commercial insurers, and stateslgawverning the privacy and security of healthimfation in certain circumstances, many of whiclfedifrom eacl
other in significant ways and often are not preadty HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Additionally, the compliance environment is chamgiwith more states, such as California and Masssetts, mandating implementation of compliance fanog,
compliance with industry ethics codes, and spenlfilinigs, and other states, such as Vermont, Maine, Minnesota requiring reporting to state govemtsef gifts,
compensation, and other remuneration to physiclander the ACA, pharmaceutical companies are reduiv record any transfers of value made to doetodsteaching
hospitals and to disclose such data to HHS. Ttage &ll provide for penalties for non-complianche Bhifting regulatory environment, along with thquirement to comply
with multiple jurisdictions with different compli@e and/or reporting requirements, increases theilitity that a company may run afoul of one or mtaws.

If our operations are found to be in violation af/af the laws described above or any other goventah regulations that apply to us, we may be sultjepenalties,
including civil and criminal penalties, damagesgef and the curtailment or restructuring of ouragiens. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailneemestructuring of our
operations could adversely affect our ability t@Kate our business and our financial results. Aripia against us for violation of these laws, eifeme successfully defend
against it, could cause us to incur significantlezxpenses and divert our management's attemtamthe operation of our business. Moreover, a@hieand sustaining
compliance with applicable federal and state pgiyaecurity and fraud laws may prove costly.

If we and the contract manufacturers upon whom wely fail to produce our systems and product candiain the volumes that we require on a timely tsagir fail to compl
with stringent regulations, we may face delays iretdevelopment and commercialization of our elegioation equipment and product candidates.

We manufacture some components of our electroporagistems and utilize the services of contractufsaturers to manufacture the remaining componafitsese
systems and our product supplies for clinical ¢ridlhe manufacture of our systems and product msprgquires significant expertise and capital weent, including the
development of advanced manufacturing techniquégercess controls. Manufacturers often encountiéeudties in production, particularly in scaling
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up for commercial production. These problems ineldificulties with production costs and yieldsatjty control, including stability of the equipmeaihd product candidates
and quality assurance testing, shortages of gedlgersonnel, as well as compliance with striatiipeced federal, state and foreign regulationsdfor our manufacturers were
to encounter any of these difficulties or our mactifirers otherwise fail to comply with their obligas to us, our ability to provide our electropg@a equipment to our partners
and products to patients in our clinical trialg@commercially launch a product would be jeopadizAny delay or interruption in the supply of atial trial supplies could del:
the completion of our clinical trials, increase tusts associated with maintaining our clinicaltgrogram and, depending upon the period of detsyire us to commence new
trials at significant additional expense or ternnthe trials completely.

In addition, all manufacturers of our products masnply with cGMP requirements enforced by the Rbfough its facilities inspection program. Thesguieements
include, among other things, quality control, qyadissurance and the generation and maintenareearfis and documentation. Manufacturers of owlyets may be unable to
comply with these cGMP requirements and with offi@A, state and foreign regulatory requirements.h&'ee little control over our manufacturers' commtia with these
regulations and standards. A failure to comply lithse requirements may result in fines and cefilgities, suspension of production, suspensiorlaydn product approval,
product seizure or recall, or withdrawal of prodapproval. If the safety of any product is compraedi due to our or our manufacturers' failure tceaelto applicable laws or fi
other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regylapproval for or successfully commercialize products, and we may be held liable for any ingigastained as a result.
Any of these factors could cause a delay of clirigals, regulatory submissions, approvals or cargialization of our products, entail higher castsesult in our being unable
to effectively commercialize our products. Furthers) if our manufacturers fail to deliver the regdicommercial quantities on a timely basis, purst@mprovided
specifications and at commercially reasonable prise may be unable to meet demand for our produnctsvould lose potential revenues.

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rket additional product candidates or approved prmtis would impair our ability to grow.

We may acquire, iticense, develop and/or market additional prodant$ product candidates. The success of these sctépends partly upon our ability to identify, st
and acquire promising product candidates and pteduc

The process of proposing, negotiating and implemgrat license or acquisition of a product candidatepproved product is lengthy and complex. Otleenpanies,
including some with substantially greater financibrketing and sales resources, may compete witbruhe license or acquisition of product cantédand approved produc
We have limited resources to identify and exedmgegicquisition or in-licensing of third-party prats, businesses and technologies and integrateitfieraur current
infrastructure. Moreover, we may devote resourogmstential acquisitions or in-licensing opportigstthat are never completed, or we may fail ttizedghe anticipated benefits
of such efforts. We may not be able to acquireritjiets to additional product candidates on ternas we find acceptable, or at all.

In addition, future acquisitions may entail numeraperational and financial risks, including:

«  exposure to unknown liabilitie

« disruption of our business and diversion of our aggament's time and attention to develop acquiredyats or technologie

* incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuamesecurities to pay for acquisitio

« higher than expected acquisition and integraticsis

¢ increased amortization expen:

« difficulty and cost in combining the operations geasonnel of any acquired businesses with ouratipes and personn

« impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to changemagement and ownership;

« inability to retain key employees of any acquiresibesse

Further, any product candidate that we acquire reqyire additional development efforts prior to enercial sale, including extensive clinical testargl approval by the
FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authoriti&.product candidates are prone to risks of faltypical of product development, including thegibgity that a product
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safel effective for approval by regulatory authesti

39




Our business involves the use of hazardous materahd we and our third-party manufacturers must cpiyp with environmental laws and regulations, whican be
expensive and restrict how we do business.

Our and our third-party manufacturers' activitiegolve the controlled storage, use and disposhhafrdous materials, including the components ppmduct candidates
and other hazardous compounds. We and our mantéestare subject to federal, state and local lawlsregulations governing the use, manufactureaggrhandling and
disposal of these hazardous materials. In the edfeart accident, state or federal authorities magad the use of these materials and interrupthusiness operations. If we are
subject to any liability as a result of our or ¢hird-party manufacturers' activities involving Bagous materials, our business and financial cmmdihay be adversely affected.

We may be subject to stockholder litigation, whisdould harm our business and financial condition.

We may have actions brought against us by stockh®lelating to past transactions, changes intoak grice or other matters. Any such actions cgiNe rise to
substantial damages, and thereby have a mateviatssleffect on our consolidated financial positl@uidity, or results of operations. Even if attian is not resolved against
us, the uncertainty and expense associated withlsttder actions could harm our business, finareoabition and reputation. Litigation can be cadtitype-consuming and
disruptive to business operations. The defensavaduits could also result in diversion of our marmagnt's time and attention away from business tipasa which could harm
our business.

Our results of operations and liquidity needs couleé materially affected by market fluctuations agéneral economic conditions.

Our results of operations could be materially afddy economic conditions generally, both in thnétédl States and elsewhere around the world. Cosaarer inflation,
energy costs, geopolitical issues and the avaitialaihd cost of credit have contributed to increlgelatility and diminished expectations for th@eamy and the markets going
forward. These factors, combined with volatilemices, declining business and consumer confidandencreased unemployment, have precipitated @moaaic recession.
Domestic and international capital markets have béen experiencing heightened volatility and tutnitnese events and the continuing market upheawaly have an adverse
effect on us. In the event of a continuing marl@tidturn, our results of operations could be advesiected. Our future cost of equity or debt ¢apand access to the capital
markets could be adversely affected, and our gtdick could decline. There may be disruption inlelay in the performance of our third-party cortimes and suppliers. If our
contractors, suppliers and partners are unablatisfgtheir contractual commitments, our businesdd suffer. In addition, we maintain significamhounts of cash and cash
equivalents at one or more financial institutidmattare in excess of federally insured limits. @itlee current instability of financial institutionse may experience losses on
these deposits.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
It is difficult and costly to generate and protectir intellectual property and our proprietary teclmogies, and we may not be able to ensure theittection.

Our commercial success will depend in part on oirigiand maintaining patent, trademark, trade seanel other intellectual property protection rigigtto our
electroporation equipment and product candidatesiedl as successfully defending these intellegiuaperty rights against third-party challenges.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotelclyy companies can be highly uncertain and invols@plex legal and factual questions for which intgat legal
principles remain unresolved. The laws and requiatregarding the breadth of claims allowed ind@ibhology patents has evolved over recent yearsamtthues to undergo
review and revision, both in the United States. Bim¢echnology patent situation outside the Unf¢ates can be even more uncertain depending aotimry. Changes in
either the patent laws or in interpretations oepataws in the United States and other countrigg diminish the value of our intellectual properygcordingly, we cannot
predict the breadth of claims that may be allowedrdorced in our licensed patents, our patenis tiird-party patents, nor can we predict the likelihoodwf patents survivir
a patent validity challenge.

The degree of future protection for our intelletfu@perty rights is uncertain, because legal decimaking can be unpredictable, thereby often simgsulting in limited
protection, which may not adequately protect ogints or permit us to gain or keep our competitideasmtage, or resulting in an invalid or unenfordegdatent. For example:

*  we, or the parties from whom we have acquirelicensed patent rights, may not have been thetéirle the underlying patent applications or fist to make the
inventions covered by such patents;

« the named inventors or co-inventors of patensabent applications that we have licensed oriaedunay be incorrect, which may give rise to ineeship and
ownership challenges;
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« others may develop similar or alternative tedbgies, or duplicate any of our products or techgis that may not be covered by our patents, dirdudesign-
arounds;

« pending patent applications may not result in idguetents

« the issued patents covering our products and téofies may not provide us with any competitive adages or have any commercial va

« theissued patents may be challenged and invatidateendered unenforceat

« theissued patents may be subject to reexaminatioich could result in a narrowing of the scopelafms or cancellation of claims found unpatent;
« we may not develop or acquire additional proprietachnologies that are patenta

« our trademarks may be invalid or subject to a thay's prior use; |

« our ability to enforce our patent rights willgd on our ability to detect infringement, anijétion to enforce patent rights may not be pursiliegito significant
financial costs, diversion of resources, and uripteflility of a favorable result or ruling.

We depend, in part, on our licensors and collabosab protect a portion of our intellectual prageights. In such cases, our licensors and cotkatioos may be primarily
or wholly responsible for the maintenance of patemd prosecution of patent applications relatinignportant areas of our business. If any of theesées fail to adequately
protect these products with issued patents, ounéss and prospects would be harmed significantly.

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect am@ogy, especially where we do not believe pagbentection is appropriate or obtainable. Howetrage secrets are
difficult to protect. Although we use reasonablieé to protect our trade secrets, our employe@ssultants, contractors, outside scientific caltalors and other advisors may
unintentionally or willfully disclose our trade sets to competitors. Enforcing a claim that a tpedty entity illegally obtained and is using arfyoar trade secrets is expensive
and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredietéibladdition, courts outside the United Statessametimes less willing to protect trade sechtseover, our competitors
may independently develop equivalent knowledgehods and know-how.

If we or our licensors fail to obtain or maintaiatent protection or trade secret protection formraduct candidates or our technologies, thirdigaould use our
proprietary information, which could impair our ktlyito compete in the market and adversely aftectability to generate revenues and attain prafitg.

From time to time, U.S. and other policymakers hanaposed reforming the patent laws and regulatdriseir countries. In September 2011 the Amelie@nts Act (the
Act) was signed into law. The Act changed the aurtfrst-to-invent” system to a system that awaadsatent to the “first-inventor-to-file” for an plfcation for a patentable
invention. The Act also created a procedure tolehgé newly issued patents in the patent officepeist-grant proceedings and new inter parties ramaion proceedings.
These changes may make it easier for competitaatienge our patents, which could result in insegl competition and have a material adverse effeotir product sales,
business and results of operations. The changeslsaynake it harder to challenge third-party pstand place greater importance on being theifiveintor to file a patent
application on an invention.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and tienconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome in thatdtion would have ¢
material adverse effect on our business.

Other companies may have or may acquire intellépnagerty rights that could be enforced againstfufiey do so, we may be required to alter ooht®logies, pay
licensing fees or cease activities. If our prodacttechnologies infringe the intellectual propeights of others, they could bring legal actiomiagt us or our licensors or
collaborators claiming damages and seeking to eoy activities that they believe infringe theitellectual property rights.

Because patent applications can take many ye#sue, and there is a period when the applicagorains undisclosed to the public, there may beentlyr pending
applications unknown to us or reissue applicattbas may later result in issued patents upon whighproducts or technologies may infringe. Thengl@¢@lso be existing
patents of which we are unaware that our productsahnologies may infringe. In addition, if thipdrties file patent applications or obtain patetagming products or
technologies also claimed by us in pending apptinator issued patents, we may have to participatgerference or derivation proceedings in thététhStates Patent and
Trademark Office to determine priority or derivatiof the invention. If third parties file oppositi® in foreign countries, we may also have to pipdie in opposition
proceedings in foreign tribunals to defend the mptatgility of our filed foreign patent applications.
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If a third party claims that we infringe its intetitual property rights, it could cause our businessiffer in a number of ways, including:
* we may become involved in tinkensuming and expensive litigation, even if thénales without merit, the third party's patent izatid or we have not infringe
« we may become liable for substantial damages fstripkingement if a court decides that our tecbgas infringe upon a third party's pat

* we may be enjoined by a court to stop makinllingeor licensing our products or technologieshaitt a license from a patent holder, which maytsoavailable on
commercially acceptable terms, if at all, or whighy require us to pay substantial royalties or fgcawss-licenses to our patents; and

« we may have to redesign our products so that thayotlinfringe upon others' patent rights, whichymat be possible or could require substantial stment or time

If any of these events occur, our business couférsand the market price of our common stock maglide.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock is expected to betit and an investment in our common stock couleoine substantially in value.

In light of our small size and limited resourcesweell as the uncertainties and risks that carcaéfer business and industry, our stock price pseeted to be highly volati
and can be subject to substantial drops, with enéw the absence of news affecting our busines®dPto period comparisons are not indicativeutdife performance. The
following factors, in addition to the other riskcfars described in this annual report, and therpiaty low volume of trades in our common stoclgyrhave a significant impact
on the market price of our common stock, some a€lwhre beyond our control:

« developments concerning any research and develdpoli@ical trials, manufacturing, and marketingoefs or collaboration
« fluctuating public or scientific interest in thetpatial for influenza pandemic or other applicasidor our vaccine or other product candid:
« our announcement of significant acquisitions, styat collaborations, joint ventures or capital catmments

¢ fluctuations in our operating rest

¢ announcements of technological innovati

« new products or services that we or our competitéfes;

« theinitiation, conduct and/or outcome of intelledtproperty and/or litigation matte

« changes in financial or other estimates by seesrdnalysts or other reviewers or evaluators obasimes:

« conditions or trends in bipharmaceutical or other healthcare indust

« regulatory developments in the United States ahdratountries

¢ negative perception of gene based thel

« changes in the economic performance and/or mageations of other biotechnology and medical decimapanies

* additions or departures of key persor

« sales or other transactions involving our commonglks

« changes in our capital structt

« sales or other transactions by executive officedirectors involving our common sto

« changes in accounting principl

¢ global unrest, terrorist activities, and econonmd ather external factors; ¢

« catastrophic weather and/or global disease pandk
The stock market in general has recently experienelatively large price and volume fluctuations particular, the market prices of securities oében biotechnology ar
medical device companies have experienced drafiatications that often have been unrelated orrdigprtionate to the operating results of these aoigs. Continued market

fluctuations could result in extreme volatilitytime price of the common stock, which could caudedine in the value of the common stock. In additiprice volatility may
increase if the trading volume of our common st@rkains limited or declines.
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Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdaDelaware law could delay or prevent a change oftrol which could limit the market price of our comon stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatbntains provisions that could delay or prexedhange of control of our company or changes irboard of director
that our stockholders might consider favorable. Soffithese provisions include:

« the authority of our board of directors to isshares of undesignated preferred stock and tondiete the rights, preferences and privileges af¢hghares, without
stockholder approval;

« all stockholder actions must be effected at a dalied meeting of stockholders and not by writtengent; an

¢ the elimination of cumulative votir

In addition, we are governed by the provisionsedftidn 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Lalicivmay prohibit certain business combination$wtockholders
owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stoidhese and other provisions in our amended andteestertificate of incorporation, amended andatedtbylaws and
Delaware law could make it more difficult for sthakders or potential acquirers to obtain controbof board of directors or initiate actions tha apposed by the then-current
board of directors, including to delay or impedaerger, tender offer or proxy contest involving oampany. Any delay or prevention of a change oftrab transaction or
changes in our board of directors could cause e price of our common stock to decline.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commoglstind we do not anticipate paying dividends in floeeseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on our common stodkte, and we currently intend to retain ourfetearnings, if any, to fund the development amavtgr of our
business. In addition, the terms of any future delaredit facility may preclude or limit our altylito pay any dividends. As a result, capital apfation, if any, of our common
stock will be your sole source of potential gaintfee foreseeable future.

The market price for our shares may not maintainetin pre-reverse stock split market price.

On June 5, 2014, we effectuated a 4-for-1 reveplieas the Company's outstanding common stock.dAtenot be certain that the reverse split will haveng-term
positive effect on the market price of our commturtls, or increase our ability to consummate fineagarrangements in the future. The market pricguofcommon stock is
based on factors that may be unrelated to the nuaflshares outstanding. These factors includgetformance, general economic and market condiiadsother factors,
many of which are beyond our control. The marketepfor our post-reverse stock split shares mayigetor remain constant in proportion to the réiducin the number of pre-
split shares outstanding before the reverse gglitordingly, the total market capitalization of aemmon stock after the reverse split may be Idhen the total market
capitalization before the reverse split.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
We have no unresolved written comments from the S regarding our filings under the Exchange. Act

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own no real property and have no plans to aeariy real property in the future. Our corporatedogiarters is located at 660 W. Germantown Pikige 300,
Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania. This lease wasesign March 2014 and we occupied the building imeJ2014. The initial term of the lease is 11.5 gédar a total of
approximately 21,000 square feet. The base reostsdperiodically throughout the term of the leag&) monthly payments ranging from $0 to $58,0@0addition, we will pay
the landlord our share of operating expenses gmdperty management fee. We have paid the landl@eturity deposit of $49,000.

The lease for our former corporate headquarteegdacat 1787 Sentry Park West in Blue Bell, Pervasyé, was amended in July 2014 to allow the legsopption to
recapture all or a portion of the premises. In ®etd2014, the lessor exercised the option to reca®,749 square feet of the 8,761 total squate Tée rent for the remaining
space was prorated to reflect the decrease insdoatage. Although we intend to sublet the renmgjrsipace, we will continue to be subject to rentlease obligations through
June 30, 2017.

The corporate office in San Diego is located at800wWateridge Circle in San Diego, California. Tlease was signed in April 2013 and we occupiedthileling in early
December 2013. The initial term of the lease rnsugh December 1, 2023 for a total of approxinya2él,500 square feet. The base rent adjusts peaibdihroughout the ten
year term of the
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lease, with monthly payments ranging from $0 to,888. In addition, we pay the landlord our shareprating expenses and a property managemem/ieeurrently use the
facility for office and research and developmentppses.

We believe our current and future planned facditiéll be adequate to meet our operating needthéforeseeable future. Should we need additigreades we believe we
will be able to secure additional space at comra#lycieasonable rates.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUIT Y, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Reverse Stock Sp

On June 5, 2014, we implemented a 4-for-1 revem split. All share information contained wittinis report, including the accompanying consoliddieancial
statements and footnotes, have been retroactid@hgted to reflect the effects of the reverse split
Market Informatior

On September 4, 2014, we provided notice to the RIMKT that the Company intends to voluntarily trmshe listing of our common stock, par value $a.@er share
(the “Common Stock”), from NYSE MKT to the NASDAQI@bal Select Market (“NASDAQ”")The Common Stock was approved for listing on NASDAQd began trading «

NASDAQ on September 15, 2014 under the symbol "INKDie following table sets forth the quarterly hatd low per share closing prices of our commoaokstor the two
most recent fiscal years.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Period: High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 152¢ % 9.7¢ % 328 % 2.0C
Second Quarter $ 13.9¢ % 8.0C $ 32 % 2.04
Third Quarter $ 13.1C % 8.6 $ 1200 $ 3.4C
Fourth Quarter $ 1231 % 821 % 118 % 6.92

As of March 9, 2015, we had approximately 490 comstockholders of record. This figure does notudel beneficial owners who hold shares in nomineeend he
closing price per share of our common stock on M&2015 was $7.14, as reported on the NASDAQ.
Dividends

The payment of any dividends on our common stoekitisin the discretion of our board of directorse\Wave not paid cash dividends on our common stodkthe board
of directors does not expect to declare cash didden the common stock in the foreseeable future.

Performance Grapl

The graph below matches Inovio Pharmaceuticalssloamulative 5-Year total shareholder return ommmmn stock with the cumulative total returns of leSE MKT
Composite index, the S&P SuperCap Biotechnologgirehd the NASDAQ Composite index. The graph traleksperformance of a $100 investment in our comstock and
in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividepfrom December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2014.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Inovio Pharmaceuticals Inc_ the NYSE MKT Composite Index.
S&P SuperCap Biotechnologyindex, and the NASDAQ Composite Index
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*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvesiment of dividends.
Fiscal yearending December 31.
12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12 12/13 12/14
Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 100.0( 100.8¢ 37.5¢ 43.8: 254.3¢ 201.3:
NYSE MKT Composite 100.0( 129.5¢ 133.7¢ 140.8° 150.7¢ 153.2¢
S&P SuperCap Biotechnology 100.0( 100.4¢ 123.7¢ 176.3¢ 308.7¢ 410.9¢
NASDAQ Composite 100.0( 117.4% 118.2° 138.4° 196.2° 223.1°

The stock price performance included in this gragphot necessarily indicative of future stock prieeformance. The performance graph is furnisheelgto accompany
this Form 10-K annual report and is not being fifed purposes of the Securities Exchange Act o#,188 amended, and is not to be incorporated reete into any filing of
the Company, whether made before or after the ldateof, regardless of any general incorporationgaage in such filing.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected cortaikd financial data for the periods indicatediveéer from consolidated financial statements prepameaccordance with
United States generally accepted accounting piliegip
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Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Operations Data:
Revenue under collaborative research and
development arrangements, including from affiliated
entity $ 7,896,03 $ 9,664,54° % 660,000 $ 567,85t $ 527,22.
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 2,560,73. 3,802,79! 3,458,64! 9,227,40. 5,617,48:
Total revenues 10,456,76 13,467,34 4,118,65: 9,795,25 6,144,70!
Loss from operations (39,495,96) (19,544,33) (23,493,53) (21,638,54) (19,220,16)
Interest and other income, net 331,46: 132,21 166,11: 34,28t 147,40t
Change in fair value of common stock warrants 348,14: (45,632,66) 1,982,62! 8,690,65! 2,403,92.
Gain (Loss) on investment in affiliated entity 2,676,22. (1,038,74) 1,631,81! (2,390,49) (969,919
Net loss (36,140,13) (66,083,53) (19,712,98) (15,304,09) (17,638,74)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 18,42( 55,08 44,02t 51,15( 24,95(
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, In $ (36,121,71) $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95) $ (15,252,94) $ (17,613,79)
Net loss per common share attributable to common
stockholders
Basic $ (0.67) (1.4%) (0.5¢) (0.4¢) (0.6¢)
Diluted $ 069 $ (149 3 (058 $ 048 3 (0.6¢)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 40,543,98 $ 33,719,799 % 5,646,02. $ 17,350,11  $ 19,998,48
Short-term investments 53,075,97. 18,905,60 8,034,00. 12,863,42 1,849,27.
Total assets 131,785,09 88,287,20 45,138,75. 61,106,56 56,067,39
Current liabilities 14,023,75 28,966,45 8,376,57 11,043,02 6,436,70:
Noncurrent liabilities 6,223,75 6,418,06! 1,904,77. 2,201,87: 2,529,77.
Accumulated deficit (331,910,29) (295,788,57) (229,760,12) (210,091,17) (194,838,22)
Total stockholders’ equity 111,537,59 52,902,68 34,857,40 47,861,66 47,100,91

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This report contains forward-looking statementsedénstatements relate to future events or our éuinancial performance. In some cases, you cantifgeforward-
looking statements by terminology such as “may,TllW“should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “be lieve,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “cont inue,” the negative ¢
such terms or other comparable terminology. Thésesents are only predictions. Actual events sults may differ materially.

Although we believe that the expectations refletetle forward-looking statements are reasonabie cannot guarantee future results, levels of dgtiperformance or
achievements. Moreover, neither we, nor any otleesgn, assume responsibility for the accuracy asrdpeteness of the forward-looking statements. Weder no
obligation to update any of the forward-lookingtetaents after the filing of this Annual Reportémform such statements to actual results or to gkarin our expectations.

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in coctionm with our consolidated financial statementsl éine related notes
and other financial information appearing elsewharehis Annual Report. Readers are also urgedat@fully review and consider the various disclosungade by us which
attempt to advise interested parties of the factdngh affect our business, including without leibn the disclosures made in Item 1A of Partthi Annual Report under the
Caption “Risk Factors.”

Risk factors that could cause actual results téediirom those contained in the forward-lookingtetaents include but are not limited to: our histofyosses; our lack of
products that have received regulatory approvakentainties inherent in clinical trials and produgéevelopment programs, including but not limitedhte fact that pr-clinical
and clinical results may not be indicative of réswchievable in other trials or for other indicatis, that results from one study may not neceydasil
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reflected or supported by the results of other Isinstudies, that results from an animal study maybe indicative of results achievable in humamligs, that clinical testing is
expensive and can take many years to completethdatutcome of any clinical trial is uncertain afailure can occur at any time during the clini¢ghl process, and that our
electroporation technology and DNA vaccines malytéeshow the desired safety and efficacy traitslinical trials; the availability of funding; thability to manufacture vaccit
candidates; the availability or potential availaityl of alternative therapies or treatments for ttanditions targeted by us or our collaborators,liming alternatives that may be
more efficacious or cost-effective than any therapiyeatment that we and our collaborators hopeéwelop; whether our proprietary rights are enfeable or defensible or
infringe or allegedly infringe on rights of othews can withstand claims of invalidity; and the ingpaf government healthcare proposals.

Overview

We are developing active DNA immunotherapies arativees focused on treating and preventing cancetsrdectious diseases. Our DNA-based immunothesajm
combination with our proprietary electroporationiviery devices, are intended to generate robustumaresponses, in particular T cells, to fight sdiskases. In 2014 we
reported that in a large, controlled phase Il chihstudy we achieved clinically relevant efficamainst a targeted disease (HPV-associated cedyisplasia) by generating
antigen-specific T cells. Our novel SynCommunotherapy design has shown the ability to beg@ak the immune system’s tolerance of cancerdiss édternatively, our
SynCon® product design is also intended to facilitate crstsain protection against known as well as newatshed strains of pathogens such as influenzanGhesrecognized
role of killer T cells in eliminating cancerousiofected cells from the body, our scientists bediéivat our active immunotherapies may play an itaporole in helping fight
such diseases. Human data to date have shownralféesafety profile of our DNA immunotherapiesideded using electroporation.

We have completed, current or planned clinical paogs of our proprietary SynC8immmunotherapies for HPV-caused pre-cancers ancecgngrostate cancer,
breast/lung/pancreatic cancer, hepatitis C virlB\(H hepatitis B virus (HBV), HIV, influenza, ancBla. Our partners and collaborators include Ffidahn-La Roche Ltd and
Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (“Roche”Yniversity of Pennsylvania, Drexel University, Natal Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Healtlyéncy of Canada, , National Institi
of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), UnileStates Military HIV Research Program (“USMHRRJ)S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectiddiseases
(“USAMRIID"), HIV Vaccines Trial Network (“HVTN”), Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (“DARRAY Medimmune, LLC.

All of our potential human products are in reseact development phases. We have not generate@eernyues from the sale of any such products, andowet expect
to generate any such revenues for at least theseegtal years. We earn revenue from license fegsndlestone revenue, collaborative research andldement agreements,
grants and government contracts. Our product cateldvill require significant additional researcid a@evelopment efforts, including extensive prectihand clinical testing.
All product candidates that we advance to clinieating will require regulatory approval prior toremercial use, and will require significant costsdommercialization. We
may not be successful in our research and develupeafirts, and we may never generate sufficieatipct revenue to be profitable.

Recent Developments

On September 4, 2014, we provided notice to the RIMKT that the Company intends to voluntarily trmshe listing of our common stock, par value $a.@er share
(the “Common Stock”), from NYSE MKT to the NASDAQI@bal Select Market (“NASDAQ”")The Common Stock was approved for listing on NASDAQd began trading «
NASDAQ on September 15, 201

In May 2014, our 91% owned subsidiary VGX Animaldith, Inc. entered into an agreement for the shiis animal health assets to Plumbline Life Scesndnc.
("PLS") of Korea. The assets being transferreduiielan exclusive license for animal applicationswfgrowth hormone-releasing hormone ("GHRH") restbgy and animal
DNA vaccines plus a non-exclusive license to oactebporation delivery systems. VGX Animal Healtill veceive $2.0 million in cash in multiple paynmerand 20% of the
outstanding shares of PLS. VGX Animal Health wéiteive additional shares to maintain its 20% equityiership position in PLS in the event of addiéibequity fund-raising
by PLS up to $10.0 million. No receivable has besorded for the $2.0 million due from PLS as adltn is uncertain.

On March 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten putffiering of 5,452,725 shares of our common staegluiding 711,225 shares of common stock issuedipatgo the
underwriter's exercise of its overallotment optiahthe public offering price of $11.60 per shaiiee net proceeds, after deducting the underwritbssounts and commission
and other offering expenses, were approximatelyZsg8llion.

In March 2014, we entered into an office lease (tigase") with a publicly owned real estate investirtrust, located in Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylaamd occupied tl
new space in June 2014. The initial term of theskda 11.5 years and we intend to use the fadilitpffice purposes. The base rent adjusts peridigithroughout the 11.5 year
term of the Lease,
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with monthly payments ranging from $0 to $58,000atldition, we will pay the landlord our share pemting expenses and a property management feeaardoaid a security
deposit of $49,000.

As of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulatedidefi$ 331.9million. We expect to continue to incur substantipérating losses in the future due to our commit
to our research and development programs, therigrafipreclinical studies, clinical trials and régory activities and the costs of general and adstrative activities.

Reverse Stock Split

On June 5, 2014, we implemented a 4-for-1 revamk split. All share information contained withtinis report, including the accompanying condensetalidated
financial statements and footnotes, has been rtivety adjusted to reflect the effects of the meesplit.

Critical Accounting Policies

The SEC defines critical accounting policies aséhhat are, in management’s view, important tgptirerayal of our financial condition and resulfoperations and
require management'’s judgment. Our discussion aalysis of our financial condition and results peoations is based on our audited consolidatediabstatements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAABreThave been no changes to our critical accouptiigies during the year ended December 31, 20 preparation of
these financial statements requires us to makeatss and judgments that affect the reported ars@irassets, liabilities, revenue and expenseshd¥e our estimates on
experience and on various assumptions that wevesdiee reasonable under the circumstances, thigsreswhich form the basis for making judgmentsuattthe carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily appfrom other sources. Actual results may diffem those estimates. Our critical accounting petiénclude:

Revenue Recognition.
Grant revenue

We receive non-refundable grants under availablegonent programs. Government grants towards duesgrenditures are recorded as revenue when there i
reasonable assurance that we have complied witoadlitions necessary to receive the grants, daltdity is reasonably assured, and as the expemeditare incurred.

License fee and milestone revenue

We have adopted a strategy of co-developing ondicey our gene delivery technology for specificegnr specific medical indications. Accordingly, have
entered into collaborative research and developagmements and have received funding for preedimesearch and clinical trials. Prior to the a@wpof the Financial
Accounting Standards Board's (“FASB”) Accountingu8tards Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-13, Revenue Redagn{Topic 605)Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements
we analyzed our multiple element arrangements tierahiéne whether the identified deliverables cowdalbcounted for individually as separate unitscebanting. The delivered
item(s) were considered a separate unit of acaogiftiall of the following criteria were met: (e delivered item(s) has value to the customer staredalone basis; (2) there is
objective and reliable evidence of the fair valfi¢he undelivered item(s); and (3) if the arrangatriecludes a general right of return relativette telivered item, delivery or
performance of the undelivered item(s) is considi@m®bable and substantially in our control. Ifgberiteria were not met, the deliverable was caetbwith other deliverables
in the arrangement and accounted for as a combini¢df accounting.

For new collaborative agreements or material mealifons of existing collaborative agreements edter® after December 31, 2010, we follow the psawis of
ASU No. 2009-13. In order to account for the miitiplement arrangements, we identify the deliverainlesided within the agreement and evaluate whidivelables represe
separable units of accounting. Analyzing the areament to identify deliverables requires the usgidgment, and each deliverable may be an obligatiateliver services, a
right or license to use an asset, or another peence obligation. A delivered item is considerestparate unit of accounting when the delivered htesvalue to the
collaborator on a standalone basis based on tredsyation of the relevant facts and circumstafmesach arrangement.

Arrangement consideration is allocated at the itioepf the agreement to all identified units ofagnting based on their relative selling price. Télative selling
price for each deliverable is determined using eespecific objective evidence (“VSOE”"), of sellipgice or third-party evidence of selling pric/lBOE does not exist. If
neither VSOE nor thirgbarty evidence of selling price exists, we uselmst estimate of the selling price for the delibégaThe amount of allocable arrangement consiiberad
limited to amounts that are fixed or determinablee consideration received is allocated amongéparsite units of accounting, and the applicablermee recognition criteria
are applied to each of the separate units. Changdhs allocation of the sales price between dedisteand undelivered elements can impact revenwgmnéon but do not change
the total revenue recognized under any agreement.
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Upfront license fee payments are recognized upbwedig of the license if facts and circumstancegate that the license has standalone value fremielivered
items, the relative selling price allocation of tleense is equal to or exceeds the upfront licéesepersuasive evidence of an arrangement eaistyrice to the collaborator is
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasbly assured. Upfront license fee payments aremefé facts and circumstances dictate that ttenie does not have
standalone value. The determination of the lenftheperiod over which to defer revenue is subjegudgment and estimation and can have an ingrathe amount of reven
recognized in a given period.

Prior to the adoption of ASU No. 2010-17, Reveneedgnition (Topic 605Milestone Method of Revenue Recognifidtilestone Method”), we recognized non-
refundable milestone payments upon the achieveofapecified milestones upon which we had earnedrtiiestone payment, provided the milestone paymastsubstantive
in nature and the achievement of the milestonensaseasonably assured at the inception of thecaggat. We deferred payments for milestone eventsatbre reasonably
assured and recognized them ratably over the mmimamaining period of our performance obligatidayments for milestones that were not reasonablyred were treated
the culmination of a separate earnings processvanel recognized as revenue when the milestonesacéieved.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted on a prosebasis the Milestone Method of ASU No. 2010-Wiider the Milestone Method, we will recognize
consideration that is contingent upon the achieveroka milestone in its entirety as revenue inghgod in which the milestone is achieved onlthé milestone is substantive
in its entirety. A milestone is considered subst@nivhen it meets all of the following criteria:

1. The consideration is commensurate with eitherentity's performance to achieve the milestorta@enhancement of the value of the delivered(g®as a result of
a specific outcome resulting from the entity's parfance to achieve the milestone,

The consideration relates solely to past performaait

The consideration is reasonable relative to afthefdeliverables and payment terms within the aearent

A milestone is defined as an event (i) that cary bel achieved based in whole or in part on eitherentity's performance or on the occurrence pkaiic outcome
resulting from the entity's performance, (ii) fohieh there is substantive uncertainty at the deteatrangement is entered into that the evenbeilichieved and (iii) that would
result in additional payments being due to the Camyp

Research and Development ExpenSasce our inception, most of our activities havagisted of research and development efforts retateléveloping our electroporati
technologies and DNA vaccines. Research and dewelopexpenses consist of expenses incurred inrp@rfg research and development activities includialgries and
benefits, facilities and other overhead expendescal trials, contract services and other outgdpenses. Research and development expenseseagedto operations as they
are incurred. These expenses result from our indigre research and development efforts as weffagsassociated with collaborations and licensingngements. We revie
and accrue clinical trials expense based on woropeed, which relies on estimates of total costaiired based on patient enroliment, completiostudies and other events.
We follow this method since reasonably dependadtienates of the costs applicable to various stafjegesearch agreement or clinical trial can bdemAccrued clinical costs
are subject to revisions as trials progress. Ravisare charged to expense in the period in whielfects that give rise to the revision become kmdistorically, revisions hav
not resulted in material changes to research anelafement expense; however a modification in theeqmol of a clinical trial or cancellation of aakicould result in a charge to
our results of operations.

Valuation and Impairment Evaluations of Goodwilbantangible Asset&soodwill represents the excess of acquisition owst the fair value of the net assets of acquired
businesses. As of December 31, 2014 , our intamgitdets resulting from the acquisition of VGX &malio AS, and additional intangibles including yiusly capitalized
patent costs and license costs, net of accumudaeditization, totaled $ 4.8 million. Intangible efssare amortized over their estimated useful lreeging from 5 to 18 years.
We are concurrently conducting pre-clinical, Phasad Phase Il trials using acquired intangibées] we have entered into certain significant licenagreements for use of
these acquired intangibles.

Historically we have recorded patents at cost andrized these costs using the straight-line methad the expected useful lives of the patents/oyelars, whichever is
less. Patent costs consist of the consideratiahfpaipatents and related legal costs. Effectiveedy 2009, in connection with our acquisition @X, all new patent costs are
being expensed as incurred. Patent costs curreaiyalized will continue to be amortized over éxpected life of the patent. The effect of thisrfeawas immaterial to prior
periods. We record license costs based on thedhie of consideration paid and amortize usingstheght-line method over the shorter of the expe:ctseful life of the
underlying patents or the term of the related keeagreement.
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The determination of the value of such intangilsigets requires management to make estimates amd@gms that affect our consolidated financialesteents. We asse
potential impairments to intangible assets whenretieeevidence that events or changes in circuroetaimdicate that the carrying amount of an assgtmot be recovered. Our
judgments regarding the existence of impairmeritaidrs and future cash flows related to intangé#ssets are based on operational performance afcguired businesse
market conditions and other factors. If impairmisrindicated, we reduce the carrying value of tharigible asset to fair value. While our currertt historical operating and
cash flow losses are potential indicators of impaint, we believe the future cash flows to be resmbivom our intangible assets will exceed the igilale assets' carrying value,
and accordingly, we have not recognized any impaitiosses through December 31, 2014 .

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least anfyiat November 30, or more frequently if an eveetws indicating the potential for impairment. Duyits goodwill
impairment review, the Company may assess quaktéaictors to determine whether it is more likélgirt not that the fair value of its reporting usitéss than its carrying
amount, including goodwill. The qualitative factamslude, but are not limited to, macroeconomicditians, industry and market considerations, ardaverall financial
performance of the Company. If, after assessingatadity of these qualitative factors, the Compaeyermines that it is not more likely than not tte fair value of its reportir
unit is less than its carrying amount, then no tmltl assessment is deemed necessary. Otherth@s€pmpany proceeds to perform the two-step teggdodwill impairment.
The first step involves comparing the estimatedvalue of the reporting unit with its carrying ual including goodwill. If the carrying amount éftreporting unit exceeds its
fair value, the Company performs the second stebeo§oodwill impairment test to determine the amaf loss, which involves comparing the implied falue of the goodwi
to the carrying value of the goodwill. The Compangy also elect to bypass the qualitative assessmarperiod and elect to proceed to perform trst fitep of the goodwill
impairment test. The Company performed its annsséssment for goodwill impairment as of November2804, identifying no impairment.

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tisiseasment process, the estimates and assumptiasewaee consistent with our internal planninghélse estimates or
their related assumptions change in the futuremas be required to record an impairment chargdlar a portion of our goodwill and intangible atsd-urthermore, we canr
predict the occurrence of future impairment-trigggrevents nor the impact such events might haveuomeported asset values. Future events coukkaasito conclude that
impairment indicators exist and that goodwill dnetintangible assets associated with our acqbivsthesses are impaired. Any resulting impairmesg tould have an adverse
impact on our results of operations.

Stock-based Compensatidlie have equity incentive plans under which we tgreated incentive stock options, restricted statiksuand non-qualified stock options.

Our employee stock-based compensation cost is &stihat the grant date based on the fair-valueeshtvard and is recognized as an expense ratapiyttoy requisite
service period of the award. Determining the appab fair-value model and calculating the fairuebf stock-based awards at the grant date requoresiderable judgment,
including estimating stock price volatility, expedtoption life and forfeiture rates. We develop estimates based on historical data. If factoreighand we employ different
assumptions in future periods, the compensatioeresgthat we record may differ significantly frorhatywe have recorded in the current period. A soiahge in the estimates
used may have a relatively large change in thenastid valuation. We use the Black-Scholes pricingehto value stock option awards. We recognizepmation expense
using the straight-line amortization method.

Our non-employee stock-based compensation awaedseasured at either the fair value of the conatier received or the fair value of the equity instents issued,
whichever is more reliably measurable. If the failue of the equity instruments issued is used,reasured at each reporting date using the gtboé and other measurement
assumptions as of the earlier of (i) the date atlva commitment for performance by the counteyptrearn the equity instruments is reached, pth@ date at which the
counterparty’s performance is completed.

Registered Common Stock Warraiit& account for registered common stock warrantsyaunt to the authoritative guidance on accountingérivative financial
instruments indexed to, and potentially settlechinpmpany’s own stock, on the understanding thabimpliance with applicable securities laws, thgistered warrants require
the issuance of registered securities upon exeacidalo not sufficiently preclude an implied righnet cash settlement. We classify registeredamtsron the consolidated
balance sheet as a current liability, which is heed at each balance sheet date subsequent taitihkissuance. Determining the appropriate false model and calculating the
fair value of registered warrants requires considlerjudgment including estimating stock price tititg and expected warrant life. We develop outiraates based on historical
data. A small change in the estimates used may dagifatively large change in the estimated vatmatiWe use the Black-Scholes pricing model to vétheeregistered warrants.
Changes in the fair market value of the warraregefiected in the consolidated statement of omeraias “Change in fair value of common stock watsd

Transaction costs associated with the issuancenbwts classified on the consolidated balancet stse@ current liability are expensed immediately imcluded as part of
general and administrative expense on the consetidaatement of operations.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Information regarding recent accounting pronouncemis contained in Note 2 to the Consolidated fiéied Statements, included elsewhere in this report

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 an8 201

The consolidated financial data for the years erdetkmber 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is pezsenthe following table and the results of thiese periods are
used in the discussion thereafter.

Increase/ Increase/
December 31, December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2014 2013 $ %
Revenues:
Revenue under collaborative research and developmnemgements,
including from affiliated entity $ 7,896,03 $ 9,664,54 $ (1,768,51) (18%
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 2,560,73 3,802,79! (1,242,06) (33
Total revenues 10,456,76 13,467,34 (3,010,581 (22
Operating expenses:
Research and development 34,095,03 21,368,60 12,726,43 60
General and administrative 15,857,68 13,643,07 2,214,61. 16
Gain on sale of assets — (2,000,001 2,000,001 (200
Total operating expenses 49,952,72 33,011,67 16,941,04 51
Loss from operations (39,495,96) (19,544,33) (19,951,62) (102
Interest and other income, net 331,46: 132,21 199,24 151
Change in fair value of common stock warrants 348,14 (45,632,66) 45,980,81 (203
Gain (Loss) on investment in affiliated entity 2,676,22 (1,038,74) 3,714,96! 35¢
Net loss (36,140,13) (66,083,53) 29,943,39 45
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 18,42( 55,08 (36,664 (67)
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Ie. $ (36,121,71) $ (66,028,44) $ 29,906,73 45%
Revenut

Revenue primarily consists of revenue under cofiaive research and development arrangements antsgaind government contracts. Our total revenoeedsed $ 3.0
million or 22% for the year ended December 31, 20d4¢lcompared to the year ended December 31,.2013

The $1.8 million decrease in revenue under colkatider research and development arrangements fgregireended December 31, 2014 as compared to 284 primarily
due to $8.4 million of the $10.0 million upfrontywaent from our Agreement with Roche being recoghireSeptember 2013 (see Note 3), offset by areasw in revenue
recognized related to collaborative research amdldpment services performed related to the Agre¢mie$7.4 million during the year ended December2d14 as compared
to $803,000 during the year ended December 31,.2013

The $1.2 million decrease in grants and miscellaaeevenue for the year ended December 31, 20ddmagared to 2013 , was primarily due to less regeraognized
from our contract with the NIAID of $1.2 million 2014, as compared to $2.1 million for the samégdéan 2013, due to the timing of work performedi€Tdecrease was also
attributable to less revenue recognized under 80iHPMVI contract and our subcontract with the Unisigy of Pennsylvania, partially offset by an inase in revenue
recognized under our NIH research project grant.

Research and Development Exper

The $12.7 million increase in research and devetspraxpenses for the year ended December 31, Z0d@hapared to 2013 was primarily due to an increéasests of
$5.3 million incurred in conjunction with our Rochellaboration. Other increases included $2.7 orilin higher employee headcount, $2.3 million ighier employee non-cash
stock-based compensation, $2.2 million in higheeaech and development activities and $1.9 miiliomgher engineering and professional servicesiéw device
development, among other variances. These increaespartially offset by lower
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clinical trial expenses of $1.3 million as well®k 1 million in sub-license fee expense incurredrduthe year ended December 31, 2013, which viggered by the up-front
payment received from the Roche agreement. There meecomparable payments during the year endedriteer 31, 2014.

General and Administrative Expenses

The $ 2.2 million increase in general and admiatste expenses for the year ended December 31,&9&dmpared to the year ended December 31, 204 Bnwaarily
due to an increase in employee non-cash stock-lmagegensation, employee headcount, rent and esilékpense for the new building leases and cosparat patent legal fees
of $1.4 million, $688,000, $524,000 and $494,0Cpeetively. These increases were offset by a dserieahe amortization of intangible assets of $8@8, among other
variances.

Stock-based Compensation

Employee stock-based compensation cost is meaatited grant date, based on the fair value of Wardireduced by estimated forfeitures, and is reizegl as expense
over the employee’s requisite service period. Tetaployee compensation cost for our stock plangh®years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 wésrififfon and $1.2
million, of which $2.8 million and $550,000 was nded in research and development expenses anarfifidh and $605,000 was included in general athohiaistrative
expenses, respectively. The increase for the amauid year over year was primarily due to a higlauation of the employee and director stockangigranted during the
period. At December 31, 2014 , there was $ 5.3anilbf total unrecognized compensation cost reladashvested stock options, which we expect togeize over a weighted-
average period of 2 years, as compared to $95600@0e year ended December 31, 2013 expected tedognized over a weighted-average period of &8s Total stock-
based compensation for options granted to non-grap®for the years ended December 31, 2014 andv284 $585,000 and $714,000, respectively.

Interest and Other Income, r

Interest and other income, net, increased by $09%@ the year ended December 31, 2014 as compa2@il 3 due to higher average cash and shortiterestment
balances.

Change in fair value of common stock warrants

The change in fair value of common stock warraotgtfe years ended December 31, 2014 and 201334&0P0 and $(45.6) million , respectively. Theiaace is
primarily due to the revaluation of registered cammnstock warrants issued in January 2011 and M20&RB, as well as fewer number of warrants clagkdea current liability
due to a significant number of warrants exercisaihd 2014. We revalue warrants at each balancet slage to fair value. Warrants that were exerciieihg the period were
revalued the day prior to exercise and reclassifismstockholders' equity upon exercise. If uneisad, the remaining warrants will expire in Septen2018.

Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity

The gain (loss) is a result of the change in tivenfarket value of the investment in GeneOne Lié&Bces ("GeneOne") (formerly VGX International )nfor the year
ended December 31, 2014 .

Gain on Sale of Assets

The gain on sale of assets is related to the M20d Asset Purchase Agreement with OncoSec Melticaiporated ("OncoSec”). The gain recorded dutfiregyear ende
December 31, 2013 is related to the cash receivgdgithe year related to the sale (see Note 5).

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating loasesaccordingly have not recorded a provisionriooime taxes for any of the periods presented. Ascember 31,
2014 , we had net operating loss carry forward$dderal, California and Pennsylvania income tasppses of approximately $159.3 million , $60.1 ioilland $99.3 million ,
respectively, net of the net operating lossesuliaexpire due to IRC Section 382 limitations. \@so had federal and state research and developaxecrtedits of
approximately $2.8 million and $2.1 million , respigely, net of the federal research and developroesdits that will expire due to IRC Section 388itations. If not utilized,
the net operating losses and credits will begiexjaire in 2018 . Utilization of net operating lossad credits are subject to a substantial animigtion due to ownership
change limitations provided by the Internal ReveGoee of 1986, as amended.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 an?2l 201

The consolidated financial data for the years erdeckmber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 is pezsénthe following table and the results of thiege periods are
used in the discussion thereafter.

Increase/ Increase/
December 31, December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
2013 2012 $ %
Revenues:
Revenue under collaborative research and developanemgements,
including from affiliated entity $ 9,664,54 $ 660,00: $ 9,004,54. 1,36¢%
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 3,802,79 3,458,64! 344,15( 1C
Total revenues 13,467,34 4,118,65: 9,348,69 221
Operating expenses:
Research and development 21,368,60 17,984,82 3,383,77 19
General and administrative 13,643,07 10,778,35 2,864,71! 27
Gain on sale of assets (2,000,00) (1,151,001 (849,00() 74
Total operating expenses 33,011,67 27,612,18 5,399,49. 20
Loss from operations (19,544,33) (23,493,53) 3,949,201 17
Interest and other income, net 132,21 166,11: (33,899 (20
Change in fair value of common stock warrants (45,632,66) 1,982,62 (47,615,28) (2,402)
Gain (Loss) on investment in affiliated entity (1,038,74) 1,631,81! (2,670,56) 164
Net loss (66,083,53) (19,712,98) (46,370,55) (23%)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 55,08 44,02t 11,05¢ 25
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Ie. $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95) $ (46,359,49) (236)%
Revenut

Revenue primarily consists of revenue under cofiaive research and development arrangements antsgind government contracts. Our total revercreased $9.3
million or 227% for the year ended December 31, 3@% compared to the year ended December 31, 2012.

The $9.0 million increase in revenue under collabee research and development arrangements fyetdreended December 31, 2013 as compared to 284 prmarily
due to the revenue recognized from our Agreemetht Rdche entered into in September 2013 (see Note 3

The $344,000 increase in grants and miscellaneweue for the year ended December 31, 2013 asarethfp 2012, was primarily attributable to $726,00revenue
recognized under our PATH Malaria Vaccine Initiat{yMVI”) contract during the year ended Decembgr 2013 as compared to $85,000 of revenue recagjfizeéhe same
period in 2012, due to the initiation of the théimhendment in October 2012. There were also incsdasevenue recognized from our NIH research ptajeant, our subcontra
with the University of Pennsylvania and our U.SpBement of Defense SBIR grant of $152,000, $142#@ $126,000, respectively, for the year endezkBer 31, 2013 as
compared to the same period in 2012, among oth@mnees. These increases were offset by lower teven$740,000 recognized from our contract with KHAID.

Research and Development Exper

The $3.4 million increase in research and develaopmepenses for the year ended December 31, 20d@w@sared to 2012 was primarily due to $1.3 millioexpenses
incurred related to the Roche Agreement, whichuities $1.1 million in sub-license fees paid basetherp-front payment received from Roche. Theease was also
attributable to $915,000 in higher compensationrafated expenses, $606,000 in higher costs refatedrk performed for the MVI contract, $304,0@Chigher engineering
and professional services and $170,000 in higlieicel trial expenses, among other variances.

General and Administrative Expenses

The $2.9 million increase in general and administesexpenses for the year ended December 31, 20t8mpared to the year ended December 31, 201 @rimaarily due
to an increase in consultant stock-based compensaéint expense
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related to deferred rent on the new building leasmpensation and related expenses, outside cioss#irvices, corporate and patent legal feesranddction costs associated
with the issuance of warrants in the March 2018rfiting of $554,000, $506,000, $494,000, $394,0887 00 and $316,000, respectively, among othéavees.

Stock-based Compensation

Employee stock-based compensation cost is meaatited grant date, based on the fair value of Wardireduced by estimated forfeitures, and is reizegl as expense
over the employee’s requisite service period. Tetaployee compensation cost for our stock plangh®years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 wasrfilion and $1.2
million, of which $550,000 and $555,000 was incldide research and development expenses and $60&,@09638,000 was included in general and admetigér expenses,
respectively. At December 31, 2013, there was $886of total unrecognized compensation cost relatemvested stock options, which we expect togeze over a weighted-
average period of 1.8 years, as compared to $9d4¢0@he year ended December 31, 2012 expectbd tecognized over a weighted-average period ofda®s. Total stock-
based compensation for options granted to non-grapffor the years ended December 31, 2013 andv284 $714,000 and $153,000, respectively.

Interest and Other Income, r
Interest and other income, net, decreased by $34¢0Q@he year ended December 31, 2013 as compau2@il2.

Change in fair value of common stock warrants

The change in fair value of common stock warraotgtfe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 @a$$million and $2.0 million, respectively. Thignificant
variance is due to the revaluation of registeradroon stock warrants issued by us in March 2013eBwer 2011, January 2011 and June 2009. We rewaluants at each
balance sheet date to fair value. Warrants that weercised during the period were revalued thepday to exercise and reclassified into stockhddequity upon exercise. T
change in fair value was primarily due to the digant increase in Company stock price during tharyIf unexercised, the warrants will expire aiaas dates between July
2014 and September 2018.

Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity
The gain (loss) is a result of the change in tivenfarket value of the investment in GeneOne ferytbar ended December 31, 2013.

Gain on Sale of Assets

The gain on sale of assets is related to the M20di Asset Purchase Agreement with OncoSec. Timergedrded during the year ended December 31, B0%Ehated to
the cash received during the year related to tlee aad the gain recorded during 2012 is relatatiéaash received related to the sale as welleamitial fair value of the
warrants received in connection with the secondratment to the Asset Purchase Agreement signed V012 (see Note 5).

Income Taxe

Since inception, we have incurred operating loasesaccordingly have not recorded a provisionriooime taxes for any of the periods presented. Ascember 31,
2013, we had net operating loss carry forward$dderal, California and Pennsylvania income taxppges of approximately $122.4 million, $38.9 miiliand $75.6 million,
respectively, net of the net operating lossesuliaexpire due to IRC Section 382 limitations. \@so had federal and state research and developaxecrtedits of
approximately $2.0 million and $2.1 million, respeely, net of the federal research and developroeedits that will expire due to IRC Section 388itations. If not utilized,
the net operating losses and credits will begiexjgire in 2018. Utilization of net operating lossesl credits are subject to a substantial annméthtiion due to ownership char
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Cotl&386, as amended.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our primary uses of cash have beefin@nce research and development activities inctudlinical trial activities in the oncology, DNyaccines and other
immunotherapy areas of our business. Since inagptie have satisfied our cash requirements priligifram proceeds from the sale of equity secusitie

Working Capital and Liquidity

As of December 31, 2014 we had cash and shortiterestments of $ 93.6 million and working capitasB4.9 million , as compared to $52.6 million &28.7 million,
respectively, as of December 31, 2013. The incremsash and short-term
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investments during the year ended December 31, @@%4rimarily due to our March 2014 financing adlas proceeds received from warrant and stodbtxercises, offset
by expenditures related to our research and dewelopactivities and various general and adminisgaixpenses related to legal, consultants, acoauand audit, and
corporate development.

Net cash used in operating activities was $ 291Bomiand $15.4 million for the years ended Decen8ie 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Net cash used in investing activities was $ 35 8aniand $9.2 million for the years ended Decenfer2014and 2013, respectively. The variance was priménigyresul
of timing differences in short-term investment fhases, sales and maturities.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $#Rillion and $52.7 million for the years ended Beber 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The increaserelated to
proceeds received from our March 2014 financingels as warrant and stock option exercises.

On March 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten putffiering of 5,452,725 shares of our common staegluiding 711,225 shares of common stock issuedipatgo the
underwriter's exercise of its overallotment optiahthe public offering price of $11.60 per shaiee net proceeds, after deducting the underwritbssounts and commission
and other estimated offering expenses, were appaigiy $59.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , warerdsstock options to purchase 2,713,867 sharesnafnon stock were exercised for total proceedsadmpany of
$13.3 million.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had an accumulateditdef $ 331.9 million . We have operated at sslesice 1994, and we expect to continue to opatadoss for some
time. The amount of the accumulated deficit wilhtioue to increase, as it will be expensive to it research and development efforts. If thegeities are successful and if
we receive approval from the FDA to market our DiXsecine products, then we will need to raise aoiditi funding to market and sell the approved vacpimducts and
equipment. We cannot predict the outcome of the@lbeatters at this time. We are evaluating poteotiBaborations as an additional way to fund ofiers. We believe that
current cash and cash equivalents plus dleont-investments are sufficient to meet plannedkimgrcapital requirements through the end of 2@k¢Juding our planned phase
clinical trial of VGX-3100. We will continue to rglon outside sources of financing to meet our ehipiteds beyond this time.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemiesitfiave or are reasonably likely to have a cuwefiture effect on our financial condition, chasgn financial
condition, revenue, expenses, and results of dpasatiiquidity, capital expenditures or capitasoarces.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2014 , we did not have any atiegerial long-term debt or other known contractldigations, except for the operating leases torfacilities, which
expire in 2017 through 2025, and operating leasesdpiers, which expire in 2015 through 2017.

We are contractually obligated to make the follgywiperating lease payments as of December 31,:2014

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3years 3 -5years 5 years
Operating lease obligations $ 13,745,00 $ 621,000 $ 2,621,000 $ 2,781,000 $ 7,722,001

In the normal course of business, we are a payvariety of agreements pursuant to which we neagldigated to indemnify the other party. It is possible to predict
the maximum potential amount of future paymentseuitidese types of agreements due to the conditi@iate of our obligations and the unique facts@raimstances
involved in each particular agreement. Historicgligtyments made by us under these types of agrégimeare not had a material effect on our busiressolidated results of
operations or financial condition.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLO SURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk
Market risk represents the risk of loss that magdot our consolidated financial position, resuftegerations or cash flows due to adverse changgsancial and
commodity market prices and rates. We are expasethtket risk primarily in
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the area of changes in United States interest am@gonditions in the credit markets, and therreftectuations in interest rates and availabitifyfunding in the credit markets
primarily impact the performance of our investmellt® do not have any material foreign currencytbheoderivative financial instruments. Under ourrent policies, we do n
use interest rate derivative instruments to maeagesure to interest rate changes. We attempttease the safety and preservation of our invgsiadipal funds by limiting
default risk, market risk and reinvestment risk. iMdgate default risk by investing in investmenade securities.

Fair Value measurements

We account for our common stock warrants pursuatite authoritative guidance on accounting fondgive financial instruments indexed to, and pagigtsettled in, a
company's own stock, on the understanding thadimpliance with applicable securities laws, thestggied warrants require the issuance of registgedrities upon exercise
and do not sufficiently preclude an implied rightet cash settlement. We classify registered wes@n the consolidated balance sheet as a clighbiity that is revalued at
each balance sheet date subsequent to the isgisdnce.

The investment in affiliated entity represents ownership interest in the Korean based companyeGaa (formerly VGX International Inc.) We reporistinvestment at
fair value on the consolidated balance sheet ukiaglosing price of GeneOne's shares of commark ste listed on the Korean Stock Exchange.

Common stock warrants that we have received tohasee shares of OncoSec are classified on the odaisal balance sheet as a long-term asset thatatued at each
balance sheet date subsequent to the initial receip

Foreign Currency Risk

We have operated primarily in the United Statesrandt transactions during the year ended Decenthe&t(34 , have been made in United States doAaxordingly, we
have not had any material exposure to foreign aagyreate fluctuations, with the exception of théuation of our equity investment in GeneOne whikénominated in South
Korean Won. We do not have any foreign currencygheglinstruments in place.

Certain transactions related to us are denomirgaietarily in foreign currencies, including Eurosjtish Pounds, Canadian Dollars and South Korean.\®s a result, ot
financial results could be affected by factors sastthanges in foreign currency exchange rategak wconomic conditions in foreign markets whereamduct business,
including the impact of the existing crisis in jlebal financial markets in such countries anditingact on both the United States dollar and thedhéreign currencies.

We do not use derivative financial instrumentssjoeculative purposes. We do not engage in exchratgé@edging or hold or issue foreign exchangeraot¥ for trading
purposes. Currently, we do not expect the impatiiofuations in the relative fair value of othereencies to be material in 2015 .

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTA RY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is incorgid by reference to our Consolidated Financiake8tants and the Report of Independent RegisterlicFAccounting
Firm beginning at page F-1 of this report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH AC COUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2014 , we carried out an evialinawvith the participation of our Chief Executi@dficer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effactness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as definedula B3a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based upatretvaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and étiinancial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proasiwere effective as of the end of the period aéy this report in recording, processing, sumniragiand reporting, on a
timely basis, information required to be disclogeceports that we file or submit under the ExcreaAgt and our disclosure controls and procedures aiso effective to ensure
that information we disclose in the reports we ditesubmit under the Exchange Act is accumulatedcammunicated to our management, including ouefdxecutive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely deass regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Regog
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Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal adrawer financial reporting is a process designedien the supervision of our Chief Executive Offiaed Chief Financial
Officer to provide reasonable assurance regardiegeliability of financial reporting and the pregiion of our financial statements for externalgmses in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting piiegip

As of December 31, 2014 , management, with thegigation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer, assessed the effectiveness pintarnal control
over financial reporting based on the criteriadfiective internal control over financial reportiegtablished in “Internal Control—Integrated Frarogew’ issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd®@ommission (2013 framework). Based on the ass#s management determined that we maintainedtigeinternal
control over financial reporting as of December3114 .

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogtin

There have not been any changes in our internatataver financial reporting (as defined in Ruk&a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) titgurred during
the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended Decamtie 2014 , that have materially affected, orrassonably likely to materially affect, our internantrol over financial
reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Puldmounting Firnr

The independent registered public accounting firat udited the consolidated financial stateménatsare included in this Annual Report on Form 184S issued an
audit report on the effectiveness of our intermadtml over financial reporting as of December 3114 . The report appears below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'stiaecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®g, 2014 , based on criteria established in hate€ontrol-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@18framework) (the COSO criteria). Inovio Pharmaimals, Inc.'s
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, and fizrassessment of the effectiveness of intermatrabover financial reporting
included in the accompanying Management's Repohttennal Control Over Financial Reporting. Ourprassibility is to express an opinion on the Compmimternal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightlq@nited States). Those standards require thailareand
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranmet athether effective internal control over finaalgieporting was maintained in all material respe@ur audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dimaincial reporting, assessing the risk that semtweakness exists, testing and evaluating éiséggd and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on thesssskrisk, and performing such other proceduregeasonsidered necessary in the circumstances. Wevd¢hat our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed to provide reasonableamssuregarding the reliability of financial repogtand the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. A company's internal control ofieancial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ipjpeto the maintenance of records that, in redslerdetail, accurately and fairly reflect the tractions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable asseithat transactions are recorded as necesgaeynit preparation of financial statements in adance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdseapenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of managementiinedtors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediagasrevention or timely detection of unauthorizedjuisition, use, or disposition of the Compaag'sets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatuatif effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that mstmay become inadequate because of changeasdiitions, or that the degree of compliance withgb#cies or procedures m
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maimea, in all material respects, effective intercahtrol over financial reporting as of December3114 , based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdads the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated balance sléét®vio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 @h8 2and the related consolidated statementsevtipns, comprehensive loss, stockholders' eqarity,cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended Decembe2@®Y of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our regated March 13, 2015 expressed an unqualifiediapithereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Diego, California
March 13, 2015
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PART 11l

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND C ORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 is heréimorporated by reference from our definitive pratgtement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation tvthin 120 days
after the end of our 2014 fiscal year.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is heréimorporated by reference from our definitive pratgtement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation tvthin 120 days
after the end of our 2014 fiscal year.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEF ICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is heréimorporated by reference from our definitive pratgtement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation tvthin 120 days
after the end of our 2014 fiscal year.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED T RANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Director independence and other information reaguibg this ltem 13 is hereby incorporated by refeeefiom our definitive proxy statement, to be fifmetsuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of 20t 4 fiscal year.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVI CES

The information required by this Iltem 14 is heréorporated by reference from our definitive pratgtement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation ddthin 120 days
after the end of our 2014 fiscal year.

60




PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHED ULES
1. Financial Statemer
Consolidated financial statements required to leel fiereunder are indexed on Page F-1 hereof.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedules not listed herein have been omitted sedae information required to be set forth theiginot applicable or is included in the Finan&gdtements or notes
thereto.

3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of thisnaal report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

3.1(a  Certificate of Incorporation with all amendmentsc@rporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of thestght's Form S-3 registration statement, filedJaly 23,
2014).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inovio Pharmacdstitrec. dated August 10, 2011 (incorporated bgnesice to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant's Form 8tifrent
report filed on August 12, 2011).

4.16+ Form of Restricted Stock Award Grants under the720fhnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated bgneice to Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s Regigtrat
Statement on Form S-8 filed on May 14, 2007).

4.17+  Form of Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Optiora@ts under the 2007 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plaro(porated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form Selfivith on May 14, 2007).

4.1¢  Form of Common Stock Warrant issued by Inovio Pleeuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to BixHi.1 to the registrant's Form 8-K current reddetd
on January 24, 2011).

4.1¢  Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issudddoio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’'s Form 8-Krent
report filed December 1, 2011).

4.2C  Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issudddngio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by refiee to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’'s Form 8-Kreat
report filed March 7, 2013).

10.1 Lease Agreement by and between the registrant 28id $entry Park West LLC dated December 10, 2008nmeended by First Amendment dated August 18,
2010, as amended by Second Amendment dated Feldfiia?2p12, as amended by Third Amendment dated Mag014, as amended by Fourth Amendment
dated July 25, 2014 and as amended by Fifth Amentideged January 30, 2015 (incorporated by referém&xhibit 10.1 of the registrant's Form 10-K eah
report for the year ended December 31, 2009 fiteMarch 26, 2010).

10.2t License Agreement dated June 30, 2013 by and betiheeregistrant and the University of South Flariesearch Foundation, Inc. (incorporated by reteréo
Exhibit 10.5 of the registrant’s Form 10-Q quastedport for the quarter ended September 30, 2089 dn November 9, 2000).

10.3% Intentionally omitted.

10.£  Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incotpdrhy reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the registrafsm 8-K current report filed on August 6, 2007).
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Exhibit
Number

10.5+

10.€

10.7+

10.¢

10.¢

10.124

10.15

10.16°

10.17-

10.18°

10.23*

10.24"

Description of Document

Employment Agreement dated as of December 27, Befdeen Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Peter @iesrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
registrant’'s Form 10-K report for the year endeddeber 31, 2010 filed on March 16, 2011).

Termination of Voting Trust Agreement dated as of/dimber 8, 2013 by and among Inovio Pharmaceutitrads the stockholders parties thereto, SimonitBen
and Dr. Morton Collins (incorporated by referenadeikhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Form 10-Q qudyteeport for the quarter ended September 30, 2fii8 on
November 11, 2013).

Employment Agreement dated December 27, 2010 batimewio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Niranjan Y. 8aai (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.tht®
registrant’'s Form 10-K report for the year endeddeber 31, 2011 filed on March 15, 2012).

Lease dated April 9, 2013 by and between BMR-WadgeriLP and Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpatdty reference to Exhibit 10.1 to registrant'sriguly
report for the quarter ended March 31, 2013, fiadViay 10, 2013).

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors adfficers of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incomuead by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registsant
Form 10-Q quarterly report for the quarterly peréodied June 30, 2009, filed on August 19, 2009).

Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incentive Péaaan&nded (filed herewith).

Collaboration, Option and License Agreement datedféSeptember 9, 2013 by and among F. Hoffman-aehR Ltd, Hoffman-La Roche Inc. and Inovio
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.1 as filed with registrant’'s Form 8-Kreent report filed on September 12, 2013).

R&D Alliance Agreement dated December 19, 20051y laetween Ganial Immunotherapeutics, Inc. and \RBArmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by Novation
and Amendment Agreement by and between VGX Phammiaats, Inc., Ganial Immunotherapeutics, Inc., @mtonox (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.31 as filed with the registrant’s Regagibn Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156@8bApril 27, 2009).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 21, 20aidgmong Ronald O. Bergan, Mary Alice Bergan,\48X Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 as filed with the regist's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File 388-156035) on April 27, 2009).

License Agreement dated May 9, 2007 by and betBagtor University and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Incc@rporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 as filéthw
the registrant’s registration statement on Form(6i# No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

R&D Collaboration and License Agreement dated Ddmmi8, 2006 by and between VGX International, &md VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by
First Amendment dated October 31, 2007 and as agdeoyl Second Amendment dated August 4, 2008 (ilcatgd by reference to Exhibit 10.39 as filed with
the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form(Bié No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Sales and Marketing Agreement dated February 28 B and between VGX International and VGX Phamnécals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.42 as filed with the registrant’s Reasion Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156@8bApril 27, 2009).
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Exhibit
Number

10.254

10.26°

10.2%

10.29

10.304

10.314

10.32

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.35

10.3¢

10.3%

10.3¢

10.394

10.404

Description of Document

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 by andden J. Joseph Kim, Ph.D. and VGX Pharmaceutitas, as amended by First Amendment of
Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2008 (incatear by reference to Exhibit 10.43 as filed with tagistrant’'s Registration Statement on Form Bilé (
No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

CELLECTRA® Device License Agreement dated April 16, 2008 iy between VGX International and VGX Pharmaceuidalc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.44 as filed with the registrant’s Regagibn Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156@8bApril 27, 2009).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 2008 bgramidg VGXI, Inc. and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inccéirporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 as filetthw
the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form(Bié No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Patent License Agreement dated April 27, 2007 lylmetween The Trustees of the University of Pemvasyh and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by
First Amendment dated June 12, 2008 (incorporaye@ference to Exhibit 10.50 as filed with the stgint's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Fite 383-
156035) on April 27, 2009).

2001 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Pharmacelgjdac., as amended (incorporated by referen&xhibit 10.62 as filed with the registrant’s Reasibn
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on A3t 2009).

2007 Equity Compensation Plan for VGX Animal Healtit. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a83iled with the registrant’s Registration Statatren
Form S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Memorandum of NIH Research Grant Agreement by ataiden National Institute of Allergy and InfectidDiseases and VGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 agifiléth the registrant’s Registration Statement om#S-4 (File No. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued®) Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since 2003 (incorporétedeference to Exhibit 10.67 as filed with the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-ke (Nb. 333-156035) on April 27, 2009).

Form of Warrant Purchase Agreement for WarranBuit@hase Common Stock issued by VGX Pharmaceutlioalssince 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.68 as filed with the registrant’s Remasion Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-156@8bApril 27, 2009).

License and Collaboration Agreement dated Marct2040 between Inovio Pharmaceuticals, inc. and \f@&&rnational, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 as filed with the registrant’'s Form-@Q0quarterly report for the quarter ended March2R1L,0 filed on May 17, 2010).

Lease Agreement dated as of March 5, 2014 betwesmdBwine Operating Partnership L.P. and InoviorPlageuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference thilik
10.36 as filed with the registrant's Form 10-K aaimeport for the year ended December 31, 201d &le March 17, 2014).

Intentionally omitted.
Intentionally omitted.

Employment Agreement dated December 10, 2009 betimewio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Mark L. Bagarénzorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 te th
registrant’'s Form 10-K report for the year endeddeber 31, 2011 filed on March 15, 2012).

Collaborative Development and License Agreemergdi@tctober 7, 2011 between VGX International, &md Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended sy Fir
Amendment dated August 21, 2013, and Second Amemictia¢ed October 7, 2013 (incorporated by referémdexhibit 10.1 as filed with the registrant’s For
10-Q quarterly report for the quarter ended Sepesrb, 2011 filed on November 7, 2011).
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Exhibit
Number

10.414

10.424

10.434

10.444

10.454

10.464

10.474

21.1

23.1

24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

101.INE

101.SCt

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Description of Document

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated dezember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceuticalsand J. Joseph Kim, PhD. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.41 of the registrant’s FA®AK annual report for the year ended DecembeR@12 filed on March 18, 2013).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated deaember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceuticedsand Peter Kies (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.42 of the registrant’s Form 10-K anntegort for the year ended December 31, 2012 fitetMarch 18, 2013).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated d&eaember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceuticedsand Mark L. Bagarazzi (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.43 of the registrant’s FA®aK annual report for the year ended DecembeR@12 filed on March 18, 2013).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated d3ezember 31, 2012 between Inovio Pharmaceuticalsand Niranjan Sardesai (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the registrant’s FA®AK annual report for the year ended DecembeR@12 filed on March 18, 2013).

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated ibee 7, 2014 by and between Inovio Pharmaceutibadsand Dr. Mark Bagarazzi (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's F&ORQ quarterly report for the quarter ended Seper8b, 2014 filed on November 10 , 2014).

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated ibee 7, 2014 by and between Inovio Pharmaceutibaisand Peter Kies (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the registrant's F&ORQ quarterly report for the quarter ended Seperib, 2014 filed on November 10 , 2014).

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated ibee 7, 2014 by and between Inovio Pharmaceutitasand Dr. Niranjan Sardesai (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the registrant'snfrd0-Q quarterly report for the quarter ended &apeer 30, 2014 filed on November 10 , 2014).

Subsidiaries of the registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Acdogriirm.

Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer puiant Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer purant Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a).
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, aspdeld pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxiepf 2002.
XBRL Instance Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Doent.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Daocent.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbaseoent.
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Designates management contract, compensatanyoplarrangement.

Portions redacted pursuant to confidential tneat applications.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{(th)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be signedsopehalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on Marc2035 .

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /sl J. DSEPH K IM

J. Joseph Kim
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes ammrap@. Joseph Kim and Peter Kies, and each af the
severally, his or her true and lawful attorneyfaist with power of substitution and resubstituttorsign in his or her name, place and stead, inaalyall capacities, to do any ¢
all things and execute any and all instrumentsgheh attorney may deem necessary or advisable threl€ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and any ruésulations and
requirements of the United States Securities arah&ge Commission in connection with the Annuald®epn Form 10-K and any and all amendments heastéylly for all
intents and purposes as he or she might or couid person, and hereby ratifies and confirms atl attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alané his or her substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the Registiend in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl J.JOSEPH K IM President, Chief Executive Officer and DirectorirfBipal Executive Officer) March 13, 2015
J. Joseph Kim
/sl  AVTAR D HILLON Chairman of the Board of Directors March 13, 2015
Auvtar Dhillon
/sl P ETER KIES Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Oficand Principal Financial Officer) March 13, 2015
Peter Kies
/s/  SIMON X.BENITO Director March 13, 2015

Simon X. Benito

/sl ANGEL CABRERA Director March 13, 2015
Angel Cabrera

/s/ M ORTON C OLLINS Director March 13, 2015

Morton Collins

/s/  ADEL MAHMOUD Director March 13, 2015
Adel Mahmoud

/s/ NANCY J. WYSENSKI Director March 13, 2015
Nancy J. Wysenski
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Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfingm
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Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheojéars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lossaftr ef the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012GI®i
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equitgémh of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2G13G12
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheojéars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgimeets of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as oeBéer 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consetida
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, lstdidrs' equity and cash flows for each of thedlyears in the period ended December 31, 2014seTfireancial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's managent@unt.responsibility is to express an opinion orsthfinancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBqUnited States). Those standards require tegilan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoet athether the financial statements are free déris misstatement. An audit includes examiningadest basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the @ilahstatements. An audit also includes asseshim@dcounting principles used and significant esttssmade by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statenpeesentation. We believe that our audits progideasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@above present fairly, in all material respedts, donsolidated financial position of Inovio Phacenaticals, Inc. at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidatedts of its operations and its cash flows fohezfahe three years in the period ended Decembe2@®L4 , in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdadz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@fnited States), Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inatsrnal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20thidsed on criteria established in Internal Contntédrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sgimg Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and oporedated March 13, 2015 expressed an unquabfpétion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Diego, California
March 13, 2015
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses from affiliated entity
Deferred tax asset

Total current assets

Restricted cash

Fixed assets, net

Investment in affiliated entity
Intangible assets, net

Goodwill

Common stock warrants

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses due tagtllientity
Accrued clinical trial expenses

Common stock warrants

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue from affiliated entity

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue, net of current portion

Deferred revenue from affiliated entity, net of reunt portion
Deferred rent

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock—par value $0.001; Authorized sha@$00,000, issued and outstanding shares: R8@mber 31, 2014 and 26 at

December 31, 2013

Common stock—par value $0.001; Authorized shar@8;0®0,000 at December 31, 2014 and December 38, Z&ued and outstanding:

60,741,082 at December 31, 2014 and 52,576,39@erbBber 31, 2013
Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders’ egity
Non-controlling interest

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2014 2013
$ 40,543,983 $ 33,719,79
53,075,97 18,905,60

2,804,20 3,301,56:

797,97 637,43

1,382,37! 2,057,35!

342,57: 61,83¢

98,947,08 58,683,58

— 100,76:

4,583,20. 2,886,54

12,340,81 9,664,58

4,776,05! 5,718,77;

10,113,37 10,113,37

550,00( 717,50

474,56 402,07

$ 131,785,09 $ 88,287,20
$ 6,383,171 $ 5,444,50:
28,40 522,25!

2,007,43; 1,446,18)

2,022,72! 19,540,58

3,187,22 1,624,38;

394,79 388,54

14,023,75 28,966,45

173,77¢ 1,997,33;

836,69 1,211,69.

4,709,22 3,013,26:

504,04¢ 195,771

20,247,50 35,384,52

60,74 52,57

443,327,91 348,267,38
(331,910,29) (295,788,57)
(251,390) (76,369

111,226,97 52,455,02

310,61 447 65!

111,537,59 52,902,68

$ 131,78509 $ 88,287,20




Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenues:

Revenue under collaborative research and develapenemgements $ 7,416,560 $ 9,239,54 % 82,53¢
Revenue under collaborative research and develapanemgements with affiliated entity 479,46¢ 425,00( 577,46
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 2,560,73: 3,802,79 3,458,64!
Total revenues 10,456,76 13,467,34 4,118,65:
Operating expenses:

Research and development 34,095,03 21,368,60 17,984,82
General and administrative 15,857,68 13,643,07 10,778,35
Gain on sale of assets — (2,000,001 (1,151,000
Total operating expenses 49,952,72 33,011,67 27,612,18
Loss from operations (39,495,96) (19,544,33) (23,493,53)
Other income (expense):

Interest and other income, net 331,46: 132,21 166,11:
Change in fair value of common stock warrants 348,14: (45,632,66) 1,982,62
Gain (Loss) on investment in affiliated entity 2,676,22. (1,038,74) 1,631,81!
Net loss (36,140,13) (66,083,53) (19,712,98)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 18,42( 55,08 44,02¢
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (36,121,71) $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95)
Net loss per common share attributable to Inovio Plrmaceuticals, Inc. stockholders

Basic $ 067 $ 149 % (0.5¢)
Diluted $ 069 $ 1.49) $ (0.5¢)
Weighted average number of common shares outstandjrused in per share calculations:

Basic 59,127,34 46,087,77 34,127,31
Diluted 59,408,25 46,087,77 34,127,31

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (36,140,13) $ (66,083,53) $ (19,712,98)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,68¢9) 11¢€ 1,98«

Unrealized (loss) gain on short-term investisen (173,339 (149,84) 35,98t
Comprehensive loss $ (36,315,15) $ (66,233,25) $ (19,675,01)

Comprehensive loss attributable to non-cdiimiginterest 18,42( 55,08¢ 44,02¢
Comprehensive loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceticals, Inc. $ (36,296,73) $ (66,178,17) $ (19,630,98)

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock Common stock Accumulated

Additional other Non- Total
Number Number paid-in Accumulated comprehensive controlling stockholders’
of shares Amount of shares Amount capital deficit income (loss) interest equity
Balance at December 31, 2011 26 — 33,742,28 $ 33,74! $ 257,336,93 $ (210,091,17) $ 35,39¢ $ 546,76t $ 47,861,66
Issuance of common stock for cash, n
of financing costs of $164,695 — — 2,336,15: 2,33¢ 5,322,80! — — — 5,325,14.
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,345,61: — — — 1,345,61.
Net loss attributable to
common stockholders — — — — — (19,668,95) — (44,029 (19,712,98)
Unrealized gain on shotérm
investments — — — — — — 35,98t — 35,98t
Foreign currency translatior
adjustments = = = = — — 1,98¢ — 1,98¢
Balance at December 31, 2012 26 — 36,078,43 $ 36,07¢ $ 264,005,35 $ (229,760,12) $ 73,36: $ 502,74 $ 34,857,40

Issuance of common stock and warrar

for cash, net of financing costs of

$783,000 — — 6,844,31 6,84¢ 14,267,97 — — — 14,274,81
Fair value of common stock warrants

issued in connection with equity

financing — — — — (5,968,24,) — — — (5,968,24,)
Issuance of common stock for cash, n
of financing costs of $585,000 — — 3,925,16' 3,92¢ 18,920,93 — — — 18,924,85
Exercise of stock options and warrants
for cash — — 5,712,43 5,71% 19,802,51 — — — 19,808,23
Cashless exercise of warrants _ 16,03: 16 (16) _ _ _ _
Change in classification of warrants from
liability to equity due to exercise — — — — 35,370,52 — — — 35,370,52
Stock-based compensation _ _ _ _ 1,868,34! _ _ _ 1,868,34!
Net loss attributable to
common stockholders — — — — — (66,028,44) — (55,089 (66,083,53)
Unrealized loss on short-ter
investments — — — — — — (149,84%) — (149,84%)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments — — — — — — 11€ — 11€
Balance at December 31, 2013 26 — 52,576,39 $ 52,57 $ 348,267,38 $ (295,788,57) $ (76,365 $ 447,65¢ $ 52,902,68
Issuance of shares related to reverse
stock split — — 6,37¢ 6 57,18: — — — 57,187
Issuance of common stock for cash, n
of financing costs of $4.0 million — — 5,452,72! 5,45¢ 59,203,72 — — — 59,209,18
Conversions of preferred stock to
common stock 3) — 1,102 1 (1) — — — —
Acquisition of non-controlling interest _ _ — — 118,62: - - (118,62)) -
Exercise of stock options and warrants
for cash — — 2,689,86! 2,68¢ 13,249,85 — — — 13,252,54
Cashless exercise of warrants _ — 14,61¢ 15 (15) - - - -
Change in classification of warrants from
liability to equity due to exercise — — — — 17,002,21 — — — 17,002,21
Stock-based compensation _ _ _ _ 5,428,941 _ _ _ 5,428,941
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders — — — — — (36,121,71) — (18,42() (36,140,13)
Unrealized loss on short-term
investments — — — — — — (173,336 — (173,336
Foreign currency translation adjustments _ _ _ _ _ _ (1,689 _ (1,689
Balance at December 31, 2014 23 — 60,741,08 $ 60,74: $ 443,327,91 $ (331,910,29) $ (251,39) $ 310,61¢ $ 111,537,59

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (36,140,13) $ (66,083,53) $ (19,712,98)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation 626,55¢ 328,75: 173,75(
Amortization of intangible assets 942,71¢ 1,770,53 1,821,171
Change in value of common stock warrants (348,14 45,632,66 (1,982,62)
Stock-based compensation 5,428,941 1,868,34! 1,345,61
Issuance of shares in connection with reverse ®plik 57,187 — —
Amortization of premiums on investments 54,53¢ — —
Interest income accrued on short-term investments — (484) (1,149
Deferred taxes 27,537 32,27: 22,80¢
Deferred rent 762,61t 410,18 (15,799
Transaction costs associated with issuance of warra — 315,97( —
Loss on short-term investments 33,99( 38,95( —
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 2,95¢ 1,822 —
(Gain) Loss on investment in affiliated entity (2,676,22) 1,038,74! (1,631,81)
Gain on sale of intangible assets — (2,000,00i) (1,151,001)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 499,17¢ (2,471,13) (362,529
Accounts receivable from affiliated entity (1,820 36,23¢ 2,172
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (160,54() (229,709 363,58
Prepaid expenses and other current assets froliateffi entity 674,97 (1,401,25) (445,98)
Restricted cash 100,76: (352) (35))
Other assets (72,499 26,79: (14,799
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,487,07: 2,164,04! (790,844
Accounts payable and accrued expenses due tattlientity (493,849 334,98( 166,93:
Deferred revenue (260,719 3,179,72. 282,04t
Deferred revenue from affiliated entity (368,75) (375,000 (375,000
Net cash used in operating activities (29,823,64) (15,381,43) (22,306,78)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments (47,185,94) (15,399,49) (9,142,22)
Maturities of investments 12,753,71 4,339,57 14,008,77
Purchases of capital assets (1,379,98) (176,929 (240,980
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets — 2,000,001 650,00(
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (35,812,20) (9,236,84) 5,275,56!
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnaett®f issuance costs 59,209,18 32,883,70 5,325,14.
Proceeds from stock option and warrant exercises 13,252,54 19,808,23 —
Net cash provided by financing activities 72,461,72 52,691,93 5,325,14
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvadents (1,689 11€ 1,984
Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,824,181 28,073,77 (11,704,09)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 33,719,79 5,646,02 17,350,11
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 40,543,98 $ 33,719,79 $ 5,646,02
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities
Lease incentive recorded as fixed assets and ddfesnt $ 933,00( $ 2,538,001 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. The Company

Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company” or ‘Wi@), a clinical stage biopharmaceutical compaagyelops active DNA immunotherapies and vaccines in
combination with proprietary electroporation detivelevices to prevent and treat cancers and ifestiliseases. Inovio’s synthetic products arecbasghe Company’s
SynCon® design. The Company has completed, current angiz clinical programs of its proprietary SynCgroducts for HPV-caused pre-cancers and cancéisgiza,
prostate cancer, breast/lung/pancreatic canceatitisfC virus (HCV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), HI\4nd Ebola. The Company's partners and collabwratolude F. Hoffmann-
La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (“Roch&jversity of Pennsylvania, Drexel University, Natal Microbiology Laboratory of the Public Healtlyéncy of Canada,
National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseas‘NIAID”), United States Military HIV Research Progm (“USMHRP”),U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectic
Diseases (“USAMRIID"), HIV Vaccines Trial Network{VTN”), Defense Advanced Research Projects AgefiDARPA”) and Medimmune, LLC. Inovio is incorpdead in
Delaware.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatio

Inovio incurred a net loss of $36.1 million for thear ended December 31, 2014 . Inovio had wor&agital of $84.9 million and an accumulated defi¢i$331.9 million
as of December 31, 2014 . The Company'’s abilityotatinue its operations is dependent upon itstgtidi obtain additional capital in the future aruthi@ve profitable operations.
The Company expects to continue to rely on outsideces of financing to meet its capital needsttedCompany may never achieve positive cash fldves& consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustmentie specific amounts and classifications oétssand liabilities, which might be necessary stidubvio be unable to
continue in business. Inovio’s consolidated finahstatements as of and for the year ended Dece3ih@014 have been prepared on a going conceis) adsch contemplates
the realization of assets and the settlement biliies and commitments in the normal course cfibess for the foreseeable future. The CompangVelsated subsequent
events after the balance sheet date through tedatdasued these financial statements.

Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements includatigeunts of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andutsgliaries. In conjunction with the acquisitionJune 2009 of VGX
Pharmaceuticals (the “Mergerthe Company acquired a majority interest in VGXrAal Health and certain shares in GeneOne Life 8ee(formerly VGX International, Inc
(“GeneOne”) (a publicltraded company in South Korea). The Company catestels Genetronics, Inc., VGX Pharmaceuticals anslibsidiary VGX Animal Health and reco
a non-controlling interest for the 9% of VGX Anintdéalth it does not own as of December 31, 201428@. The Company's investment in GeneOne, wkickdorded as
investment in affiliated entity within the consaigd balance sheets is accounted for at fair \aiuerecurring basis, with changes in fair valierded on the consolidated
statements of operations within gain (loss) on stiveent in affiliated entity. All intercompany acetds and transactions have been eliminated uporotidaton.

Variable Interest Entities

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guiddhat requires companies to perform a qualitathedysis to determine whether a variable intereanither entity
represents a controlling financial interest in &alale interest entity. A controlling financial erest in a variable interest entity is characterizg having both the power to direct
the most significant activities of the entity aihe pbligation to absorb losses or the right toiveckenefits of the entity. This guidance also reggIon-going reassessments of
variable interests based on changes in facts aodnestances. This guidance became effective foalfigears beginning after November 15, 2009. The@my adopted the
provisions of the guidance in the first quarteR810 and determined that none of the entities witlch the Company currently conducts business aiidborations are variable
interest entities, except VGXI (a wholly-owned sdizy of GeneOne) and Plumbline Life Sciences (et 15). The Company determined that they are¢heoprimary
beneficiary as they do not have voting control thieo forms of control over the operations and decisnaking and therefore are not required to cadat# VGXI or Plumbline
Life Sciences. The Company continues to assesari@ble interests and has determined that nofsignt changes have occurred as of December 34,201
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesménaccordance with United States generally aeceptcounting principles requires the Company tkenestimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of askabilities, revenues and expenses, and retiisetbsure of contingent assets and liabilitiesvla bases its estimates
historical experience and on various other assumgptihat are believed to be reasonable under titienestances, the results of which form the basisnfaking judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities #ratnot readily apparent from other sources. Acemllts may differ from these estimates undeedsfiit assumptions or
conditions. On an ongoing basis, the Company reviemestimates to ensure that these estimatesgpiely reflect changes in the business or asintakmation becomes
available.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subje@ @ompany to concentrations of credit risk, corgigharily of cash and cash equivalents, and steont-investments. Tl
Company limits its exposure to credit loss by pigdts cash and investments with high credit qudilitancial institutions. Additionally, the Compahwgs established guidelines
regarding diversification of its investments aneitimaturities which are designed to maintain ppakand maximize liquidity. The Company had coatsawith customers
which represented more than 10% of total revenoealf of the years presented as discussed in 6lote

Fair value of Financial Instrumen

The Company’s financial instruments consist priatlipof cash equivalents, short-term investmemgestment in affiliated entity and common stocknaats. The
carrying amounts of cash equivalents approximatedlated fair values due to the short-term magsrivf these instruments. Investments consist afahle-for-sale securities
that are reported at fair value with the relaterkalized gains and losses included in accumulatest csomprehensive loss, a component of consotidsit'ekholders’ equity.
The Company’s investment in affiliated entity i€@aented for at fair value on a recurring basishwianges in fair value recorded on the consolitistatements of operations
within gain (loss) from investment in affiliatedtéy. The estimated fair value of the common sta@ltrants is determined by using the Black-Schot&sng model as of
December 31, 2014, as discussed in Note 5.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are considered by the Compang ighly liquid investments purchased with origimadturities of three months or less from the défguechase. Cash
and cash equivalents include certain money madgsiumts at December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash at December 31, 2013 consistederftificate of deposit with a term of 90 days whieas pledged as collateral with a financial initin. The certificate
of deposit has been classified as heldntaturity and is accounted for at amortized costivlaipproximates fair value. The certificate of dépand accrued interest automatic.
renewed at each maturity date until the agreemesttarminated in 2014.

Investment

The Company defines investments as income yielsigrities that can be readily converted into cemstestments include mutual funds and United Stedegorate debt
securities at December 31, 2014 and mutual fumdbnaunicipal bonds at December 31, 2013 .

Accounts Receivab

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced ansoamdl do not bear interest. Inovio performs ongoneglit evaluations of our customers’ financial dition. Credit is
extended to customers as deemed necessary andlgedees not require collateral. Management belethat the risk of loss is significantly reducee do the quality and
financial position of our customers. No allowanoedoubtful accounts was deemed necessary at Dere3thb2014 and 2013 .

Fixed Asset

Property and equipment are stated at cost and daf@e using the straight-line method over thewstied useful life of the assets, generally thrfeséoyears. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter oféh®ining term of the related leases or the estichatonomic useful lives of the improvements. Rspaid maintenance are
expensed as incurred.
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Long-Lived Assets

All long-lived assets are reviewed for impairmantalue when changes in circumstances dictatedhgsen undiscounted future operating cash flowd,appropriate
losses are recognized and reflected in currentreggnto the extent the carrying amount of an aseeteds its estimated fair value determined byisieeof appraisals, discoun
cash flow analyses or comparable fair values oflairassets. The Company has not recognized asgdasn long-lived assets through December 31, 2014

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition ogst the fair value of the net assets of acquireinesses. Intangible assets are amortized ovieesienated useful lives
ranging from 5 to 18years. Acquired intangible assets are continudusiyg developed for the future economic viabitigntemplated at the time of acquisition. The Corgpa
concurrently conducting pre-clinical, Phase |, &mése |l trials using the acquired intangibles, lzaglentered into certain significant licensingeagrents for use of these
acquired intangibles.

Historically the Company has recorded patents stt @od amortized these costs using the straightrtiathod over the expected useful lives of thenpaier 17 years,
whichever is less. Patent cost consists of theideration paid for patents and related legal cdsffective June 1, 2009, in connection with theuasitjon of VGX, all new
patent costs are being expensed as incurred. Ratsntapitalized as of June 1, 2009 will contittube amortized over the expected life of the gatdnense costs are recorded
based on the fair value of consideration paid andrtized using the straight-line method over thertgr of the expected useful life of the underlypagents or the term of the
related license agreement to the extent the liceasen alternative future use. As of DecembeR314 and 2013 , the Compasyhtangible assets resulting from the acquisi
of VGX and Inovio AS, and additional intangiblesliding previously capitalized patent costs anerge costs, net of accumulated amortization, ttde8 million and $ 5.7
million , respectively.

The determination of the value of such intangilsigets requires management to make estimates amd@gms that affect the Company’s consolidatedrfaial
statements. The Company assesses potential impagrheeintangible assets when there is evidendeetfemts or changes in circumstances indicatettieatarrying amount of
asset may not be recovered. The Company’s judgmegisding the existence of impairment indicators future cash flows related to intangible assetdased on operational
performance of our acquired businesses, marketitimmsland other factors. If impairment is indiahtthe Company will reduce the carrying value efititangible asset to fair
value. While current and historical operating aasicflow losses are potential indicators of impaintnthe Company believes the future cash flowseteeceived from its
intangible assets will exceed the intangible assatsying value, and accordingly, the Company matsrecognized any impairment losses through Deeeidb, 2014 .

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least anfyiat November 30, or more frequently if an evertws indicating the potential for impairment. Duyits goodwill
impairment review, the Company may assess quaktéaictors to determine whether it is more likélgirt not that the fair value of its reporting usitéss than its carrying
amount, including goodwill. The qualitative factamslude, but are not limited to, macroeconomicditians, industry and market considerations, ardaverall financial
performance of the Company. If, after assessingatadity of these qualitative factors, the Compaeyermines that it is not more likely than not tte fair value of its reportir
unit is less than its carrying amount, then no ol assessment is deemed necessary. Otherth@s€pmpany proceeds to perform the two-step teggdodwill impairment.
The first step involves comparing the estimatedvaiue of the reporting unit with its carrying ual including goodwill. If the carrying amount bftreporting unit exceeds its
fair value, the Company performs the second stebeo§oodwill impairment test to determine the amaf loss, which involves comparing the implied falue of the goodwi
to the carrying value of the goodwill. The Compangy also elect to bypass the qualitative assessmarperiod and elect to proceed to perform tist fitep of the goodwill
impairment test. The Company performed its annsséssment for goodwill impairment as of November28Q4 , identifying no impairment.

Although there are inherent uncertainties in tissegsment process, the estimates and assumpgo@stipany is using are consistent with its inteptahning. If these
estimates or their related assumptions changeeifutiire, the Company may be required to recoridngairment charge on all or a portion of our godtand intangible assets.
Furthermore, the Company cannot predict the ocoueref future impairment triggering events norithpact such events might have on its reported asdees. Future events
could cause the Company to conclude that impairineliitators exist and that goodwill or other intéolg assets associated with its acquired businessdmpaired. Any
resulting impairment loss could have an adverseanpn the Company’s results of operations. See Rdor further discussion of the Compasigoodwill and intangible asse
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Income Taxe

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitikatfor temporary differences between the ficahreporting basis and the tax basis of the Coygaassets and
liabilities along with net operating loss and taadit carry forwards. The Company records a vatmagillowance against its deferred tax assets tceethe net carrying value to
an amount that it believes is more likely thantodbe realized. When the Company establishes oicestthe valuation allowance against its defemrassets, its provision for
income taxes will increase or decrease, respeytiirethe period such determination is made.

Valuation allowances against the Company’s defetardissets were $75.4 million and $61.1 millioDatember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Changae
valuation allowances, when they are recognizetiérprovision for income taxes, are included asmpament of the estimated annual effective tax rate.

Revenue Recognitic
Grant revenue

Inovio receives non-refundable grants under aviglgbvernment programs. Government grants towardemt expenditures are recorded as revenue wieea ith
reasonable assurance that we have complied witoadlitions necessary to receive the grants, daltdlity is reasonably assured, and as the expeneditare incurred.

License fee and milestone revenue

Inovio has adopted a strategy of co-developingcenking its gene delivery technology for spedifémes or specific medical indications. Accordingiye Company has entered
into collaborative research and development agratsrand has received funding for pre-clinical reseand clinical trials. Prior to the adoption bétFinancial Accounting
Standards Board's (“FASB”) Accounting Standards &led“ASU") No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Top@5): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementee Company
analyzed its multiple element arrangements to deter whether the identified deliverables could beoanted for individually as separate units of actimg. The delivered item
(s) were considered a separate unit of accouritimigaf the following criteria were met: (1) thelivzered item(s) has value to the customer onrzdstane basis; (2) there is
objective and reliable evidence of the fair valfithe undelivered item(s); and (3) if the arrangatriecludes a general right of return relativetie tlelivered item, delivery or
performance of the undelivered item(s) is considi@mbable and substantially in our control. Ifgberiteria were not met, the deliverable was caetbwith other deliverables
in the arrangement and accounted for as a combini¢df accounting.

For new collaborative agreements or material mediions of existing collaborative agreements edtér® after December 31, 2010, Inovio follows frevisions of
ASU No. 2009-13. In order to account for the midtiplement arrangements, the Company identifiesiéfigerables included within the agreement anduates which
deliverables represent separable units of accauninalyzing the arrangement to identify deliveesbtequires the use of judgment, and each delikeerassy be an obligation to
deliver services, a right or license to use antass@nother performance obligation. A delivereaii is considered a separate unit of accountinglie delivered item has va
to the collaborator on a standalone basis baséleoconsideration of the relevant facts and cir¢damses for each arrangement.

Arrangement consideration is allocated at the itiecepf the agreement to all identified units o€agnting based on their relative selling price. Télative selling price
for each deliverable is determined using vendocifipabjective evidence (“VSOE"), of selling priae third-party evidence of selling price if VSOBa$ not exist. If neither
VSOE nor third-party evidence of selling price éxisve use our best estimate of the selling pocgHfe deliverable. The amount of allocable arramg consideration is
limited to amounts that are fixed or determinaflee consideration received is allocated amongeparsite units of accounting, and the applicablermee recognition criteria
are applied to each of the separate units. Chandbs allocation of the sales price between deditend undelivered elements can impact revenwgmnéon but do not change
the total revenue recognized under any agreement.

Upfront license fee payments are recognized upbwedig of the license if facts and circumstancegate that the license has standalone value fremielivered
items, the relative selling price allocation of tleense is equal to or exceeds the upfront licéesepersuasive evidence of an arrangement egistfyrice to the collaborator is
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasbly assured. Upfront license fee payments aremefé facts and circumstances dictate that ttenie does not have
standalone value. The determination of the lenftheperiod over which to defer revenue is subjegudgment and estimation and can have an ingrathe amount of reven
recognized in a given period.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted mnospective basis the Milestone Method of ASU Rl0-17. Under the Milestone Method, the Comparlly wi
recognize consideration that is contingent uporattiéevement of a milestone
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in its entirety as revenue in the period in whicé milestone is achieved only if the milestoneuisssantive in its entirety. A milestone is consatesubstantive when it meets all
of the following criteria:

1. The consideration is commensurate with eitherentity's performance to achieve the milestorta@enhancement of the value of the delivered(g®as a result of
a specific outcome resulting from the entity's parfance to achieve the milestone,

2. The consideration relates solely to past performaan
3. The consideration is reasonable relative to athefdeliverables and payment terms within the gearent
A milestone is defined as an event (i) that cary bel achieved based in whole or in part on eitherntity's performance or on the occurrence pkaiic outcome

resulting from the entity's performance, (ii) fohieh there is substantive uncertainty at the det¢eatrangement is entered into that the evenbeitichieved and (iii) that would
result in additional payments being due to the Camyp

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses consist of egimesirred in performing research and developmetitities including salaries and benefits, faig@btand other
overhead expenses, clinical trials, contract sesvand other outside expenses. Research and denxglbpxpenses are charged to operations as théyaresd.

Net Loss Per Shai

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividiegnit loss for the year by the weighted averagebeumf common shares outstanding during the yehrtdd loss per
share is calculated in accordance with the treastogk method and reflects the potential dilutiost twould occur if securities or other contractsssue common stock were
exercised or converted to common stock. The cdlonlaf diluted loss per share requires that, toektent the average market price of the underlgirages for the reporting
period exceeds the exercise price of the warrarddtee presumed exercise of such securities argwvdilto loss per share for the period, an adjustrteenet loss used in the
calculation is required to remove the change invialue of the warrants from the numerator forpgbeod. Likewise, an adjustment to the denominatoequired to reflect the
related dilutive shares, if any, under the treastwgk method.

The following tables reconcile the components efriamerator and denominator included in the caiicuis of diluted loss per share:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Numerator

Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, In $ (36,121,71) $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95)
Reflect adjustment for decrease in fair value ofrat liability (2,181,20) — —
Numerator for use in diluted loss per share $ (38,302,91) $ (66,028,44) $ (19,668,95)
Denominator

Weighted average number of common shares outs@ndin 59,127,34 46,087,77 34,127,31
Effect of dilutive potential common shares from raats 280,90: — —
Denominator for use in diluted loss per share 59,408,25 46,087,77 34,127,31
Net loss per share, diluted $ 0.69 $ 1439 $ (0.5¢)

The following table summarizes potential commorresizhat were excluded from diluted net loss pareshkalculation because of their anti-dilutive effe
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase common stock 4,840,51. 4,134,53 4,064,36.
Warrants to purchase common stock 727,96¢ 3,514,81! 5,398,46
Convertible preferred stock 8,45¢ 9,55¢ 9,55¢
Total 5,576,93! 7,658,90 9,472,38

Lease:

Leases are classified as either capital or operégimses. Leases which transfer substantiallyf @fleobenefits and risks incidental to the ownergifiassets are accounted
for as if there was an acquisition of an assetiaturrence of an obligation at the inception of ldeese. All other leases are accounted for as tipgraases. Inovio’'s Plymouth
Meeting, PA headquarters, Blue Bell, PA and Sam®i€A facility leases, which have escalating paytsieare expensed on a straight-line basis oveetheof the lease. The
allowance provided by the lessor for leasehold owpments are considered tenant incentives anchavgtiaed on a straight-line basis over the terrtheflease. These leases
represent the primary expense and commitment &saied in Note 11 “CommitmentsOther leases exist for office machinery, such gsers, wherein lease expense is reco
as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense feladé-based awards made to employees, directarsiom-employees. Inovio estimates the fair vafustark
options granted using the Black-Scholes optioniqgienodel. The Black-Scholes option pricing modebwieveloped for use in estimating the fair vafuteaaled options, which
have no vesting restrictions and are fully trareféz. In addition, option valuation models reqtire input of assumptions, including the expectedksprice volatility and
expected option life. Inovio measures the fair gadfiemployee and director awards at the dateasftgFor non-employee awards, Inovio measuresaihedlue at each
reporting period. All option grants are amortizeeothe requisite service period of the awards etnaaght-line basis. Expected volatility is basedhistorical volatility. The
expected life of options granted is based on hstbexpected life. The risk-free interest ratbased on the United States Treasury yield in effetiie time of grant with
maturities appropriate for the expected term ofstioek option. The forfeiture rate is based ondhisal data and Inovio records stock-based compiemsaxpense only for those
awards that are expected to vest. The dividend ysabased on the fact that no dividends have paghon common stock historically, and none areetily expected to be pa

Weighted average assumptions used in the Blacki&ehwodel for employees and directors are presdatedy:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.47% 0.41% 0.36%
Expected volatility 109% 111% 131%
Expected life in years 5 4 4
Dividend yield — — —
Forfeiture rate 8% 8% 8%

Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model foremmployees are presented below:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.52%-2.73% 0.84% — 1.52% 0.67% — 0.83%
Expected volatility 104%-115% 102%-113% 103%-117%
Expected life in years 7-10 7-10 7-10

Dividend yield — — —
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Recent Accounting Pronounceme

The below recent pronouncements may have a signifieffect on the Company's financial statemengseRt pronouncements that are not anticipatedve &a impact on
or are unrelated to the Company's financial conjtresults of operations, or related disclosuresiat discussed.

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), No. 2014-1B August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (the “FASB”), issued ASU 2014-15, which irderto
define management’s responsibility to evaluate hérethere is substantial doubt about an entityilityabo continue as a going concern and to provielated disclosure. ASU
2014-15 defines the term substantial doubt andiresjan assessment for a period of one year aietldte of the issuance of the financial statemémsquires certain
disclosures when substantial doubt is alleviateal @sult of consideration of management’s plasraquires an express statement and other diselsiren substantial doubt
is not alleviated. The guidance becomes effectivedporting periods beginning after December 03,62 with early adoption permitted. The Compangugently evaluating tr
impact the adoption of this guidance will have @rfinancial statements and related disclosures.

ASU, No. 2014-09in May 2014, the FASB issued an ASRkvenue from Contracts with Customengich converges the FASB and the Internationalohmting
Standards Board standards on revenue recogniti@asfof revenue recognition that will be affectedude, but are not limited to, transfer of contkariable consideration,
allocation of transfer pricing, licenses, time \&bf money, contract costs and disclosures. Thidagae is effective for the fiscal years and imereporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016. The Company is currendyuating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2@®4will have on its financial statements and relatisclosures.

3. Collaborative Agreements

In September 2013, the Company entered into a Bo#dive, License, and Option Agreement (the “Agrert”) with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmana-Roche
Inc. (“Roche”). Under the Agreement, the Compang Boche will co-develop multi-antigen DNA immunothgies targeting prostate cancer and hepatitif@“@roducts”).

On November 14, 2014, Roche provided notice theyt thould be partially terminating the Agreementhwigspect to the development of INO-5150, the CoyigaDNA
immunotherapy targeting prostate cancer, as wel@sesearch collaboration in prostate cancermuhéeAgreement. The termination is effectived@s after the date of notic
which occurred in February 2015. All of Roche’shtigito INO5150, including the right to license the producbtioer parties, will be returned to the Companye Toompany ar
Roche will continue to collaborate and co-devetop @ompany’s DNA immunotherapy (INO-1800) agairegtdtitis B virus under the existing license unéierAgreement.

Under the original agreement, Roche acquired alusixe worldwide license for the Company's DNA-lgaccines INO-5150 (targeting prostate cancer)lsi@1800
(targeting hepatitis B) as well as the use of tbenfany's CELLECTRA electroporation technology for delivery of the viaes. Roche also obtained an option to license
additional vaccines in connection with a collabiweatesearch program in prostate cancer.

Under the terms of the Agreement, Roche made aonipgfayment of $10 million and has agreed to naalditional development, regulatory and commerciahé based
payments. These potential future event based pagrheme been reduced significantly due to the gagrmination of the Agreement. The Company hasssed event based
payments under the revised authoritative guidaoceskearch and development milestones and detedrttiat $3.0 million related to INO-1800 representsilestone under the
milestone method of accounting. No event based paggror milestones were achieved during the pepogsented.

The Company is entitled to receive up to mid-sirigldouble-digit tiered royalties on product saldsless terminated earlier in accordance witheitms, the Agreement
continues in effect until the date when no royaltyther payment obligations under the Agreemembawill become due, i.e., a royalty term endingfe later of the date that
is (a) ten yearafter the date of the first commercial sale ofghaduct that is subject to the Agreement or (b)etkigiration of the last to expire of the patenhtigthat are subje
to the Agreement. Under the terms of the AgreertienCompany also agreed to perform certain researdlievelopment and manufacturing and supply &syat Roche's
expense.

The Company identified the deliverables at theptioa of the agreement. The Company has deterntirdhe license to INO-5150 and INO-1800, the @pRight to
license additional vaccines, research and developssgvices, manufacturing and drug supply, antigiation in the Joint Steering Committee indivédly represent separate
units of accounting because each deliverable lbaslatone value. The Company considered the proigibthe multiple-element arrangement guidanaetermining whether
the deliverables outlined above have standalonesvahd thus should be treated as separate ugitzofinting. The Company determined that the liceasd Option Right to
license additional vaccines have standalone vaildeepresent separate units of accounting bechasghts conveyed permit Roche to perform all$foecessary to complete
development, commercialize and begin selling tleelpet upon regulatory approval. In addition, Robke the
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appropriate development, regulatory and commeesipértise with products similar to the producttised under the agreement and has the ability tagenthird parties to
manufacture the product allowing Roche to realieevalue of the license without receiving any @ temaining deliverables. Roche can also subliceémsieense rights to third
parties. Also, the Company determined that thearebeservices, committee participation and manufaej services each represent individual unitscobanting as Roche cou
perform such services and/or could acquire theseseparate basis. The best estimated sellingsgiocehese units of accounting were determineédas market conditions,
the terms of comparable collaborative agreementsificilar technology in the pharmaceutical anddsbnology industry, the Company's pricing practaed pricing objectives
and the nature of the research and developmeritseno be provided. While market data was conslémroughout the valuation process, ultimatelg,gélling prices of the
licenses and Option Right were determined utilizing forms of the relief from royalty method undlee Income Approach and the cost-to-recreate meathddr the Cost
Approach. The arrangement consideration was adodatthe deliverables based on the relative ggfiiice method.

The amount allocable to the delivered unit or uaftaccounting is limited to the amount that issidered fixed and determinable and is not contihgpon the delivery of
additional items or meeting other specified perfance conditions. Based on the results of the Copwanalysis, the $10 million up-front payment wlscated as follows:
$5.0 million and $3.4 million to the license to INE250 and INO-1800, respectively, $1.5 million he Option Right and $155,000 to the Joint SteeBioghmittee obligation.
The amounts allocated to the licenses for INO-54r&@ INO-1800 were recognized as revenue undetbasifive research and development arrangementsgiiing year ended
December 31, 2013 as these were determined torbedeapon the granting of the license and delieépe related knowledge and data. Due to the Cogip&ontinuing
involvement obligations, the remaining amounts weassified as deferred revenue as of Decembe2@®B. The Company will recognize revenues assatiaith research and
development services and manufacturing and druplg@ag revenues under collaborative arrangemertteea®lated services are performed and accorditigetrelative selling
price method of the allocable arrangement consiigereDuring the year ended December 31, 2014Ctmpany recognized revenues of $7.4 million froncti®g of which $6.1
million was allocated to the licenses and $1.3iarilko research and development services and metoufag, respectively. During the year ended Decamd, 2013, the
Company recognized revenues of $9.2 million fronehizg of which $9.1 million was allocated to thestises and $84,000 to research and developmentesand
manufacturing, respectively. As of December 314281dd 2013, the Company has a deferred revenuedeatd $3.2 million and $3.4 million , respectiveaiglated to the Roche
Agreement.

The Company has entered into various Collabor&ireelopment and License Agreements with GeneOmméidy VGX International Inc.) as discussed in Nbfe Unde
these Agreements, the Company may receive fut@etdased payments upon approval of an investigatitew drug application (IND) and/or initiation dfnical trials and
future net sales. These future event based payrdentst meet the criteria of a milestone in accocgawith the authoritative guidance as they arelgdlased on the
performance of the collaborators.

4. Investments

Investments consist of mutual funds and UnitedeStabrporate debt securities at December 31, 20d 4fanutual funds, and municipal bonds at Decer3tie2013. The
Company classifies all investments as availableséde, as the sale of such investments may beregbpiior to maturity to implement management sgis. Available-for-sale
securities are recorded at fair value, based arecumarket valuations. Unrealized gains and lossesvailable-for-sale securities are excluded feamings and are reported as
a separate component of other comprehensive ldgsealized. Realized gains and losses are indudeon-operating other income (expense) on testent of operations
and are derived using the specific identificatiogtimod for determining the cost of the securitidd.s®uring the years ended December 31, 2014 848,2het realized loss on
investments of $34,000 and $39,000 was recordegeatively. Interest and dividends on investmelatssified as available-fasale are included in interest and other income
in the consolidated statements of operations. A3emember 31, 2014, the Company had 35 avaifablsale securities in a gross unrealized losstiposdf which 5 were in
such position for longer than 12 months. There weranpairments considered to be other-than-temmp@sthe Company has the ability and intent tal lioé securities until
recovery of the cost basis.

The following is a summary of short-term investnsesas$ of December 31, 2014 and 2013:

As of December 31, 2014

Contractual Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Maturity (in years) Cost Gains Losses Fair Market Value
Mutual funds $ 29,487,755 $ 2,667 $ (216,79) $ 29,273,63
US corporate debt securities Less than 2 23,839,60 70 (37,33) 23,802,33
Total investments $ 53,327,36 $ 2,731 % (254,12) $ 53,075,97.
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Contractual

As of December 31, 2013

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized

Mutual funds
Municipal bonds

Maturity (in years) Cost Gains Losses Fair Market Value
18,178,51 $ — % (78,619 $ 18,099,90
Less than 1 805,14 56C — 805,70
18,983,66 $ 56C $ (78,619 $ 18,905,60

Total investments

5. Fair Value Measurements

The guidance regarding fair value measurementblesdtas a three-tier fair value hierarchy whicloptizes the inputs used in measuring fair valugese tiers include:
Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as dumiees in active markets; Level 2, defined asitspther than quoted prices in active marketsataeither directly or
indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as weobable inputs in which little or no market datéstes, therefore requiring an entity to developoiten assumptions.

Assets and liabilities are classified based orldivest level of input that is significant to theérfaalue measurements. The Company reviews the/éhie hierarchy
classification on a quarterly basis. Changes irathikty to observe valuation inputs may resultireclassification of levels for certain securitigthin the fair value hierarchy.
The Company did not have any transfer of assetdiaitities between Level 1, Level 2 and Levelf3fe fair value hierarchy during the years endedémnber 31, 2014 and

2013.

The following table presents the Company’s asseddiabilities that are measured at fair value gaaurring basis as of December 31, 2014:

Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2014

Using Quoted Prices Using Significant
in Active Markets Other Unobservable

Using Significant
Unobservable

Assets:

Money market funds

Mutual funds

US corporate debt securities
Investment in affiliated entity
Common stock warrants

Total Assets

Liabilities:
Common stock warrants

Total Liabilities

for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$ 36,474,06 36,474,06 $ — 3 —
29,273,63 — 29,273,63 —

23,802,33 — 23,802,33 —

12,340,81 12,340,81 — —

550,00( — — 550,00

$ 102,440,85 48,814,87 $ 53,075,997 $ 550,00(
$ 2,022,72! — 3 — 3 2,022,72!
$ 2,022,72! — % — % 2,022,72!

The following table presents the Company’s asseddiabilities that are measured at fair value gaaurring basis as of December 31, 2013:
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Fair Value Measurements at
December 31, 2013

Using Quoted Prices Using Significant Using Significant

in Active Markets Other Unobservable Unobservable

for Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Money market funds $ 26,85256 $ 26,852,56 $ —
Mutual funds 18,099,90 — 18,099,90 —
Municipal bonds 805,70« — 805,70« —
Investment in affiliated entity 9,664,58 9,664,58 — —
Common stock warrants 717,50( — — 717,50(
Total Assets $ 56,140,25 $ 36,517,14 $ 18,905,60 $ 717,50(
Liabilities:
Common stock warrants $ 19,54058 $ — 3% — % 19,540,58
Total Liabilities $ 19,540,588 $ — % — % 19,540,58

Level 1 assets include money market funds heldveyCompany that are valued at quoted market prsewell as the Company’s investment in GeneOnenfidy VGX
International Inc.), for which the fair value isdeal on the market value of 8,220,775 common sluar&ecember 31, 2014 and 2013, listed on the KoBtack Exchange. The
Company accounts for its investment at fair valn@aecurring basis.

Level 2 assets at December 31, 2014 include UScatg debt securities and mutual funds held byCiirapany that are initially valued at the transacpdce and
subsequently valued, at the end of each reporeniggh, typically utilizing market observable datéae Company obtains the fair value of its Levebgeds from a professional
pricing service, which may use quoted market prioegdentical or comparable instruments, or inmittger than quoted prices that are observableraditectly or indirectly. Thi
professional pricing service gathers quoted maskees and observable inputs for all of mutual fufrdm a variety of industry data providers. Theugtion techniques used to
measure the fair value of the Company's Level &nfial instruments were derived from non-bindingkeaiconsensus prices that are corroborated bynodisle market data,
quoted market prices for similar instruments, acipg models such as discounted cash flow techsiqliee Company validates the quoted market pricesged by the primary
pricing service by comparing their assessmentefair values of the Company's investment portfbldance against the fair values of the Companywssitment portfolio
balance obtained from an independent source.

Level 3 assets at December 31, 2014 include twoanwts received by the Company to purchase shaiesnohon stock of OncoSec Medical Incorporated (‘€8ec”), in
connection with the first and second amendmentise®sset Purchase Agreement between the Compan®reoSec signed in September 2011 and March 284@2ectively.
The first warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shareswingon stock of OncoSec has a contractual lifevef fiears with an exercise price of $1.20 per shdre.second warrant to
purchase 3,000,000 shares of common stock of Ordugea contractual life of five years with an eiss price of $1.00 per share.

As of December 31, 2014 the Company has a long-#ssat of approximately $550,000 associated wétwidrrants received to purchase common stock 0bSew The
Company valued the warrants received in March 21@f the issuance date using the Black Scholesmgnmnodel and recorded a $501,000 gain on sass#ts within the
consolidated statement of operations. Inputs us#ki pricing model include estimates of OncoSecksprice volatility, expected warrant life andkigee interest rate. The
Company develops its estimates based on publicifadbte historical data and knowledge of OncoSée Tompany reassesses the fair value of the waratefch reporting
date. The assumptions used to estimate the faiesalf the OncoSec common stock warrants at Dege3ith@014 and 2013 are presented below:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 0.67% 0.78%
Expected volatility 90% 85%
Expected life in years 1.75-2.25 2.75-3.25

Dividend yield — —
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As a result of these calculations, the Companyromzba (decrease) increase in fair value of thewamants of $(168,000) , $450,000 and $(334,000)He years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respgctiMed change in fair value is reflected in the @amy's consolidated statement of operations asnp@oeent of change in
fair value of common stock warrants.

The following table presents a summary of changéaii value of the Company’s total Level 3 finaal@ssets for the years ended December 31, 201204rd

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Balance at beginning of year $ 717,500 $ 267,201
(Decrease) Increase in fair value included in ckandair value of common stock

warrants (167,500 450,30(

Balance at end of year $ 550,000 $ 717,501

Level 3 liabilities held as of December 31, 2014gist of common stock warrant liabilities assodatéth warrants to purchase the Company's comnuwk sssued
in March 2013. If unexercised, the warrants wilbe in September 2018 . Level 3 liabilities hetdod December 31, 2013 consist of common stockaméatiabilities associated
with warrants to purchase the Company's commork$$saed in July 2009, January 2011 and March 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, warrarsiichase 2,419,425 shares of common stock wereisd.

As of December 31, 2014 the Company has a $2.@mitommon stock warrant liability. The Companyssssses the fair value of the common stock waredr@ach
reporting date utilizing a Black-Scholes pricingdeb Inputs used in the pricing model include eates of stock price volatility, expected warrafe And risk-free interest rate.
The Company develops its estimates based on ltigtalata. The assumptions used to estimate thedhies of common stock warrants at December 314 20d 2013 are
presented below:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.1% 0.1%-1.8%
Expected volatility 81% 90%-112%
Expected life in years 3.70 .50-4.70

Dividend yield — —

Changes in these assumptions as well as in the &uoyigpstock price on the valuation date can haigraficant impact on the fair value of the comnsbock warrant
liability. As a result of these calculations, ther@pany recorded a (decrease)increase in fair vdl$#€516,000) , $46.1 million and $(2.3) millionrfthe years ended December
31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The sigmitichange in fair value was primarily due to tharge in the Company's stock price during the gefibe change in fair
value is reflected in the Company's consolidatatestent of operations as a component of chang@rimdlue of common stock warrants. Warrants therevexercised during t
period were revalued on the day prior to exercigkthen reclassified into stockholders' equity uprercise.

The following table presents the changes in faueaf the Company’s total Level 3 financial liatids for the years ended December 31, 2014 and:201
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Balance at beginning of year $ 19,54058 $ 2,859,89

Record fair value of warrants issued in March 2fii@ncing — 5,968,24.

(Decrease) Increase in fair value included in ckandair value of common stock warrants (515,64 46,082,96

Change in classification from liability to stockbers' equity due to warrant exercises (17,002,21) (35,370,52)
Balance at end of year $ 2,022,720 % 19,540,58
6. Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

% of Total % of Total % of Total

Customer 2014 Revenue 2013 Revenue 2012 Revenue
Roche $ 7,357,34 7% $ 9,181,75! 68% $ — —%
NIAID 1,229,08. 12 2,090,93 1€ 2,831,11 6¢
GeneOne (affiliated entity) 479,46: 5 425,00( 8 577,46 14
NIH Research Project Grant 694,45 6 152,49¢ 1 — —
All other 696,41! 7 1,617,14 12 710,07( 17
Total Revenue $ 10,456,76 10(% $ 13,467,34 10(% $ 4,118,65: 100%

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h2 , the Company recognized revenue from vatioasse fees, collaborative research and developme
agreements, grants and government contracts. Beaémber 31, 2014 , $2.3 million or 82% and $190.@07% of accounts receivable was attributed tohiR@and the NIAID,
respectively. As of December 31, 2013, $2.6 millwry9% and $382,000 or 12% of accounts receivabieattributed to Roche and the NIAID, respectively

There is minimal credit risk with these customeasdal upon collection history, their size and finanmondition. Accordingly, the Company does nobsider it necessary
to record a reserve for uncollectible accountsivadde.

7. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 cofisist following:

Accumulated
Depreciation

and Net Book
Cost Amortization Value

As of December 31, 2014
Machinery, equipment and office furniture $ 3,579,54° $ (2,134,68) $ 1,444,86.
Leasehold improvements 3,545,01. (406,66 3,138,34:

$ 7,124561 $ (2,541,35) $ 4,583,20:
As of December 31, 2013
Machinery, equipment and office furniture $ 2,381,03 % (1,807,70) $ 573,32
Leasehold improvements 2,420,941 (107,72) 2,313,21:

$ 4,801,997 $ (1,915,42) $ 2,886,54!

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenihb@034 , 2013 and 2012 was $627,000 , $329,006and,000 , respectively. The Company determinatittie
carrying value of these long-lived assets wasmpgired for the periods presented.
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8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following sets forth the goodwill and intangilassets by major asset class:

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Ulj?ém Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book
(Yrs) Gross Amortization Value Gross Amortization Value
Non-Amortizing:
Goodwill(a) $ 10,113,37 $ — % 10,113,37 $ 10,113,37 $ — 3% 10,113,37
Amortizing:
Patents 8-17 5,802,52! (5,358,43) 444,09! 5,802,52! (5,128,22) 674,30:
Licenses 8-17 1,323,76. (1,104,36) 219,39! 1,323,76. (1,075,61) 248,14
CELLECTRA® (b) 5-11 8,106,27! (5,970,86) 2,135,40. 8,106,27! (5,543,78) 2,562,48:
GHRH(b) 11 335,31 (176,899 158,41! 335,31 (145,219 190,09¢
Other(c) 18 4,050,001 (2,231,25) 1,818,75 4,050,001 (2,006,25) 2,043,75
Total intangible
assets 19,617,87 (14,841,81) 4,776,05! 19,617,87 (13,899,09) 5,718,771
Total goodwill and
intangible assets $ 29,731,24 % (14,841,81) $ 14,889,43  $ 29,731,24  $ (13,899,09) $ 15,832,14

(a) Goodwill was recorded from the Inovio AS aaifinn in January 2005 and from the acquisitioW&X in June 2009 for $3.9 million and $6.2 millipnespectively

(b) CELLECTRA®and GHRH are developed technologies which wererdecbfrom the acquisition of VG

(c) Other intangible assets represent the fair valqgtired intellectual property from the Inovio A&quisition

Aggregate amortization expense on intangible asgass$0.9 million , $1.8 million and $1.8 millioarfthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and &xizctively.
Amortization expense related to intangible assefeaember 31, 2014 for each of the next five figears and beyond is expected to be incurred|ksva

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Thereafter

There were no impairment or impairment indicataesspnt and no losses were recorded during the gadest December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, resplgctive

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses at Decerhp20B4 and 2013 consist of the following:

Trade accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Other accrued expenses

F-20

As of December 31,

2014 2013
2,003,09. $ 1,865,72:
2,982,091 2,586,801
1,397,98! 991,97¢
6,383,170 % 5,444,50:




10. Stockholders’ Equity

Reverse Stock Sp

On June 5, 2014, the Company implemented a 4-fexdrse stock split. All share information contalnethin this report, including the accompanyingsolidated
financial statements and footnotes, have beenaetively adjusted to reflect the effects of theerse stock spilit.

Preferred Stocl

Outstanding as of

December 31,
Authorized Issued 2014 2013
Series A Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,00( 817 — —
Series B Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,00 75C — —
Series C Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,091 1,091 23 26
Series D Preferred Stock, par $0.001 1,966,29: 1,966,29: — —

During the year ended December 31, 2014, 3 shatee €ompany's Series C preferred stock were atenvénto 1,103 shares of the Company's commorksidtere
were no changes in the number of outstanding sléuieas preferred stock for the years ended Dece®beg2013 or 2012.

The shares of the Company'’s outstanding Serieefeffed Stock have the following pertinent rights @rivileges, as set forth in the Company’s Amehaied Restated
Certificate of Incorporation and its Certificatd<D@signations, Rights and Preferences relateeowarious series of preferred stock.

Rights on Liquidatiot

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary ligatebn, dissolution or winding up of the Companyl{guidation event”), before any distribution ofsets of the Company
shall be made to or set apart for the holders ofroon stock, the holders of Series C Preferred Stuak passu, are entitled to receive payment cif sissets of the Company in
an amount equal to $10,000 per share of such s#rjgeferred stock, plus any accumulated and uhgi@idends thereon (whether or not earned or dedja

If the assets of the Company available for distidyuto stockholders exceed the aggregate amouthedfquidation preferences payable with respeetitshares of each
series of preferred stock then outstanding, thiter, the payment of such preferences is made evagably set aside, the holders of the Companyizeon stock are entitled to
receive a pro rata portion of such assets basédeosmggregate number of shares of common stockdyedéich such holder. The holders of the Compamytstanding preferred
stock shall participate in such a distribution gore-rata basis, computed based on the numberoésiof common stock which would be held by sueffigpred holders if
immediately prior to the liquidation event all btoutstanding shares of the preferred stock han éenverted into shares of common stock at thec¢heent conversion value
applicable to each series.

A Change of Control of the Company (as definechnCertificates of Designations, Rights and Prefes) is not a liquidation event triggering thef@rences described
above, and is instead addressed by separate tethes Series C Certificates of Designations, Rigintsl Preferences.

Although the liquidation preferences are in exagdbe par value of $0.001 per share of the Comizapseferred stock, these preferences are equalés®than the stat
value of such shares based on their original psepace.

Voting Rights

The holders of all series of the Company’s prefésteck outstanding have full voting rights and pesvequal to the voting rights and powers of haldéthe Company’s
common stock and are entitled to notice of anyldtoltlers’ meeting in accordance with the CompaByws. Holders of the Company’s preferred stoeketitled to vote on
any matter upon which holders of the Company’s comstock have the right to vote, including, withbuotitation, the right to vote for the election difectors together with the
holders of common stock as one class.
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Conversion Rights
The Series C Preferred Stock each provide the hofdgich shares an optional conversion right aoglige a mandatory conversion upon certain triggeavents.

Right to ConverThe holder of any share or shares of Series C fPeeffStock has the right at any time, at such hidlagption, to convert all or any lesser portiorsath
holder’s shares of the Preferred Stock into suchbr of fully paid and non-assessable shares off@mnStock as is determined by dividing (i) the aggtte Liquidation
Preference applicable to the particular seriegefiepred shares, plus accrued and unpaid dividéradeon by (ii) the applicable Conversion ValuedaBned in the relevant
series’ Certificate of Designations, Rights andiéhences) then in effect for such series of prefeghares. The Company is not obligated to issyéractional shares or scrip
representing fractional shares upon such conveesidrinstead shall pay the holder an amount in egshl to such fraction multiplied by the currersrket price per share of t
Company’s common stock.

Mandatory Conversioithe Company has the option upon thirty (30) dajar pyritten notice, to convert all of the outstamglishares of the Series C Preferred Stock into
such number of fully paid and non-assessable slofi@smmon stock as is determined by dividingl{§ aiggregate Liquidation Preference of the shdréeaelevant series of
preferred stock to be converted plus accrued apdidrdividends thereon by (ii) the applicable Casign Value (as defined in the relevant seriestiieste of Designations,
Rights and Preferences) then in effect, if at &#mg tafter twelve months following the Original IesDate of each such series of preferred stocK #feofollowing triggering
events occur:

(i) The registration statement covering all of #hares of common stock into which the particulaieseof preferred stock is convertible is effect{we all of the
shares of common stock into which the preferredksi® convertible may be sold without restrictiarrguant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act 03183 amended);

(i) the Daily Market Price (as defined in the dpable Certificates of Designations, Rights andé?ences) of the common stock crosses a specifieth@ thresholc
for twenty of the thirty consecutive trading day®pto the date the Company provides notice ofvession to the holders; and

(iii) the average daily trading volume (subjecttfjustment for stock dividends, subdivisions antlmmations) of the common stock for at least tweritthe thirty
consecutive trading days prior to the date the Gomprovides notice of conversion to the holdexeers 6,250 shares.

As of December 31, 2014, outstanding shares of#ies C Preferred Stock were convertible into®gtares of our common stock at a conversion pfi§27.20 per
share, and the applicable Daily Market Price ofdbmon stock for triggering mandatory conversiqnated $72.00 per share.

Common Stock

In March 2014, the Company closed an underwrittdslip offering of 5,452,725 shares of the Comparmygmmon stock, including 711,225 shares of comntockdssued
pursuant to the underwriter's exercise of its oetiment option, at the public offering price of 80 per share. The net proceeds, after dedudtengriderwriters discounts an
commission and other estimated offering expensere approximately $59.2 million .

In May 2013, the Company filed a Certificate of Amdenent to the Certificate of Incorporation with tbelaware Secretary of State. The Certificate oeAdment
increased the number of shares of common stockdnepany has the authority to issue from 300,000sb@0es to 600,000,000 shares.

In March 2013, the Company completed an underwritféering of 6,844,317 shares of common stockweadants to purchase an aggregate of up to 3,42&H&res of
common stock. The shares and warrants were soiditie at a price of $2.20 per unit, with each @oitsisting of one share of common stock and a watogpurchase 0.56hare
of common stock at an exercise price of $3.1744pare. The warrants have a term of five and offerbars . The net proceeds, after deducting thieeoriters' discounts and
other offering expenses, were approximately $14llom. The Company valued the registered warrésgsed in connection with the March 2013 finan@sgf the issuance
date using the Black Scholes pricing model androszba current liability on the consolidated batasheet. As of December 31, 2014, 3,138,067 oéthwsrants had been
exercised. Transaction costs associated with suafce of the warrants were allocated by usingela¢ive fair value approach. These transactiotsanfs$315,970 were
immediately expensed and included as part of geaathadministrative expense in the Company's dmtaed statement of operations for the year eridsrember 31, 2013.

In June 2012, the Company entered into a salesmgr (the “Sales Agreement”) with an outside pleet agent (the “Placement Agent”) to sell shafés @ommon
stock with aggregate gross proceeds of up to $28lidn from time to time, through an “at-the-matkequity offering program under which the Placein&gent will act as
sales agent. Under the Sales Agreement, the Compifirset the parameters for the sale of shareduding the number of shares to be issued, the piend during which sales
are requested to be made, limitation on the nurobghares that may be sold in any one trading day
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and any minimum price below which sales may naniaele. The Sales Agreement provides that the Platehgent will be entitled to compensation for igs\dces in an amou
equal to 3.0%f the gross proceeds from the sales of sharedtsmldgh the Placement Agent under the Sales Agreerthe Company has no obligation to sell anyeshande
the Sales Agreement, and may at any time suspdicdat®mn and offers under the Sales Agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpald a total of 3,925,167 shares of common stoaler the Sales Agreement. The sales were madeeighted
average price of $4.96 per share with net proceetlee Company of $18.9 million . As of December 3013, the Company has exhausted all availablespds under this Sales
Agreement.

The Company accounts for registered common stockaws issued in March 2013 under the authoritajivilance on accounting for derivative financiatinments
indexed to, and potentially settled in, a compawyis stock, on the understanding that in compliamitie applicable securities laws, the registeredrargts require the issuance
of registered securities upon exercise and douféitently preclude an implied right to net cagtitement. The Company classifies registered wesram the consolidated
balance sheet as a current liability which is regdlat each balance sheet date subsequent tatthleissuance. Determining the appropriate failveamodel and calculating the
fair value of registered warrants requires considierjudgment, including estimating stock priceatitity and expected warrant life. The Company depe its estimates based
on historical data. A small change in the estimasesi may have a relatively large change in thimastd valuation. The Company uses the Bl&ckeoles pricing model to vali
the registered warrants. Changes in the fair masklee of the warrants are reflected in the codsatdid statement of operations as “Change in failrevaf common stock
warrants.”

Warrants
The following table summarizes the warrants outiitamas of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :

As of December 31, 2014 As of December 31, 2013

Exercise Expiration Number of Common Stock Number of Common Stock
Issued in Connection With: Price Date Warrants Warrant Liability Warrants Warrant Liability
March 2013 financing $ 3.17 September 12, 2018 284,090 $ 2,022,72! 755,68. $ 7,859,08!
January 2011 financing $ 5.6 January 27, 2016 — — 1,673,75! 11,381,49
July 2009 financing $ 13.5Z July 1, 2014 — — 83,33 300,00t
Warrants assumed in June 2009 August 1, 2015-
Merger $4.08 5.12 April 28, 2016 727,96¢ — 1,002,05: —
Total 1,012,060 $ 2,022,72! 351481 $ 19,540,58

During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2@&8rants to purchase 471,590 and 2,666,477 shatke Gompany's common stock which were issuedimection
with the March 2013 financing were exercised, withceeds to the Company of $1.5 million and $8.fiani, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 20d8ants to purchase 1,673,750 and 967,550 shathe Gompany's common stock which were issuednnection
with the January 2011 financing were exercisedy wibceeds to the Company of $9.4 million and $&illon , respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, warrantsiichase 274,083 shares of the Company's comtockwhich were assumed in the June 2009 Mergee wer
exercised, with proceeds to the Company of $1.0amil

In July 2014, warrants expired to purchase 83,34es of the Company's common stock issued in ationewith the July 2009 financing.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warrantsichase 1,443,63hares of the Company's common stock which wevedss connection with the December 2
financing were exercised, with proceeds to the Cowf $3.8 million .

During the year ended December 31, 2013, warramptisezl to purchase 14,555 shares of the Compaagsnon stock, which were assumed in the June 200§evle
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Stock Options

The Company has one active stock-based incentare thie Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Incerlare(the “Incentive Plan”), pursuant to which @empany
has granted stock options and restricted stockasaarexecutive officers, directors and employ@es. Incentive Plan was adopted on March 31, 20@3rcaved by the
stockholders on May 4, 2007, approved by the stolddns as amended on May 2, 2008, and approveletstockholders as amended and restated on Augua0@9, May 14,
2010 and May 22, 2014. On May 14, 2010 the stoaldrslapproved to increase the aggregate numbbeamgsavailable for grant under the Incentive B@b00,000 and to
provide that the aggregate number of shares al@ilabgrant under the Incentive Plan will be irased on January 1 of each year beginning in 20ELrimymber of shares equal
to the lesser of (1) 513,833 or (2) such lesserbar of shares as may be determined by the Boardl&y 22, 2014 the stockholders approved to iner#as aggregate number
of shares available for grant under the Incentiam By 1,250,000 . At December 31, 2014, the IricerRlan reserves 4,742,831 shares of common &odksuance as or upon
exercise of incentive awards granted and to betegaat future dates. At December 31, 2014, the Gmypad 967,598 shares of common stock availablelfiere grant under
the Incentive Plan, and 60,000 shares of vestadatesl stock and options to purchase 3,288, 76feshaf common stock outstanding under the Inceflae. The awards
granted and available for future grant under tleemtive Plan generally vest over three years amd hanaximum contractual term of ten years. Theritice Plan terminates by
its terms on March 31, 2017.

The Incentive Plan supersedes all of the Compamg'éious stock option plans, which include the Adesh2000 Stock Option Plan and the VGX Equity Canspéon
Plan, under which the Company had options to pweii®7,629 and 1,354,184ares of common stock outstanding at Decembe24, respectively. The terms and condit
of the options outstanding under these plans remaghanged.

Total compensation cost for our stock plans recghin the consolidated statement of operationthfoyears ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 andw2&4 $4.8
million , $1.2 million , and $1.2 million , respealy, of which $2.8 million , $550,000 , and $5880 was included in research and development egpearsd $2.0 million ,
$605,000 , and $638,000 was included in generabdnunistrative expenses, respectively.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , there was $5.3omilind $956,000 of total unrecognized compensatisi, respectively, related to unvested stocloaptiwhich is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 2 years and 1.8 years respectively.

The fair value of options granted to non-employatethie measurement dates were estimated usinddhlk-Bcholes pricing model. Total stock-based campton for
options granted to non-employees for the yearsceBeéeember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $585 $D04,000 and $153,000 , respectively. As of Decer@be2014 ,
937,517 non-employee options remained outstanding.

The following table summarizes total stock optionsstanding at December 31, 2014 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted
Options Contractual Life Average Options Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Outstanding (in Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.00-$3.00 1,334,33! 75 $ 2.21 846,87 2.2¢
$3.01-$6.00 1,625,86. 32 % 4.8t 1,625,55! 4.8t
$6.01-$9.00 826,76! 57 $ 7.0¢ 641,78: 6.5¢
$9.01-$12.00 184,83¢ 65 $ 10.41 101,52: 10.3¢
$12.01-$17.84 868,71: 79 $ 13.0¢ 330,12 13.2¢
4,840,51. 58 $ 6.1¢ 3,545,84 5.4¢

At December 31, 2014 , the aggregate intrinsicevaluoptions outstanding was $18.1 million , thgragate intrinsic value of options exercisable k4.6 million , and
the weighted average remaining contractual teroptibns exercisable was 4.7 years.

At December 31, 2014 , 1,191,093 stock optionsapected to vest.
Stock option activity under our stock option plaves as follows:
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Number of Weighted-Average

Shares Exercise Price
Balance, December 31, 2013 4,13459 % 4.84
Granted 1,140,85! 11.5Z
Exercised (294,44 4.62
Cancelled (140,49 12.9¢
Balance, December 31, 2014 4,840,51. ¢ 6.1¢

The weighted average exercise price was $15.9%1é070,517 options which expired during the yealeerDecember 31, 2014 , $5.32 for the 124,003 optichich
expired during the year ended December 31, 2013ar82 for the 51,875 options which expired dutimg year ended December 31, 2012 .

The weighted average grant date fair value peresivas $11.52 , $1.76 and $1.88 for options grahteitig the years ended December 31, 2014 , 201262l
respectively.

The Company received $1.4 million , $1.6 milliorde80 in proceeds from the exercise of stock optéhming the years ended December 31, 2014 , 20d26b2 ,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value ofapgiexercised was $2.0 million , $2.5 million addbiring the years ended December 31, 2014 , 264212 , respectively.

11. Commitments

In March 2014, the Company entered into an offé@sé (the "Lease") for its corporate headquameetéd at 600 W. Germantown Pike, Suite 100, imBlyth
Meeting, Pennsylvania, and occupied the new spadarie 2014. The initial term of the Lease is Y&&s. The Company intends to use the facilityoféice purposes. The base
rent adjusts periodically throughout the 11.5 yteam of the Lease, with monthly payments rangiogf$0 to $58,000 . In addition, the Company wi pize landlord for its
share of operating expenses and a property managéeeeand have paid a security deposit of $49,000

The lease required the lessor to complete andgrageftain improvements to the building beforedbmmencement of the lease. The lessor completed thgrovements
worth approximately $933,000 , which have beennd® as a leasehold improvement within fixed assethe consolidated balance sheet, offset by @sponding amount
recorded in deferred rent.

The lease for the Company's former corporate heatiEs in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania runs through B®e2017 . The lease was amended in July 201Hoiw for the
lessor the option to recapture all or a portiothefpremises. In October 2014, the lessor exertigedption to recapture a portion of the premisesinimal termination fee we
recorded in 2014 and the monthly payments for ¢neaining space have been prorated to reflect theedse in square footage. The facility was not detaly vacated as of
December 31, 2014 , therefore no cease-use ad¢w@sdleen recorded.

The Company's corporate office in San Diego istetat 10480 Wateridge Circle in San Diego, Catif@r This lease was signed in April 2013 and thi&mg was
occupied in early December 2013. The term of theskeuns through December 1, 2023 . The basedpstsiperiodically throughout the ten year ternthef Lease, with
monthly payments ranging from $0 to $83,000 . Iditamh, the Company will pay the landlord its shaf@perating expenses and a property manageneanfi has paid a
security deposit of $64,000 .

The lease required the lessor to complete andqrageftain improvements to the building beforedbmmencement of the lease in December 2013. Therlesmpleted
these improvements worth approximately $2.5 milliovhich have been recorded as a leasehold imprenewithin fixed assets on the consolidated balaheet, offset by a
corresponding amount recorded in deferred rent.

Rent expense was $1.2 million , $906,000 , and po®for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2042@12 , respectively. Future minimum lease paysiender non-
cancelable operating leases as of December 31,&@las follows:

2015 $ 621,00(
2016 1,323,001
2017 1,298,00!
2018 1,275,00!
2019 1,506,00!
Thereafter 7,722,001
Total $ 13,745,00
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In the normal course of business, the Company&rty to a variety of agreements pursuant to witiely may be obligated to indemnify the other pdittis not possible t
predict the maximum potential amount of future papts under these types of agreements due to thitiooml nature of our obligations and the unigaet$ and circumstances
involved in each particular agreement. Historicgllsgyments made by us under these types of agrézimare not had a material effect on our busiressolidated results of
operations or financial condition.

12. Investment in Affiliated Entity

The Company'’s investment in an affiliated entitgresents the Company’s 10.6% and 14.7% ownerstgpest in the Korean based company, GeneOne Lién&es
("GeneOne") (Formerly VGX International Inc.), &December 31, 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Thisstment is measured at fair value on a recub@is. The fair market
value of the Company’s interest in GeneOne wagéted using the closing price of GeneOne's shafreemmon stock as listed on the Korean Stock Exgeans of
December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

13. Income Taxes

In accordance with the guidance pursuant to acouyifar income taxes, a deferred tax asset orlifglié determined based on the difference betwgerfinancial
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilifeseasured by the enacted tax rates which wilhlegfect when these differences reverse. The Coynpavides a valuation
allowance against net deferred tax assets unlassdhupon the available evidence, it is more likedy not that the deferred tax asset will be zedli

The components of the provision for income taxespaesented in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Current:

Federal $ —  $ —  $ —
State 2,00( (2,000 7,00(
2,00(¢ (2,000 7,00C

Deferred:
Federal 18,00( 15,00( 20,00(
State 9,00( 17,00( 3,00(¢
27,00( 32,00( 23,00(
$ 29,00 $ 31,00C $ 30,00(

The reconciliation of income taxes attributabl®perations computed at the statutory tax ratesdone tax expense (recovery), using a 35% stattaargate, is:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Income (benefit) taxes at statutory rates $ (12,639,00) $ (23,118,00) $ (6,894,001
State income tax, net of federal benefit (2,362,001 (1,651,001 (1,234,000
Change in valuation allowance 14,235,00 8,819,001 7,415,001
Research and development tax credits (849,000 (735,000 190,00(
Fair value warrant (180,00() 16,129,00 (811,001
Stock compensation 1,573,00! 279,00( 603,00(
Expired NOL's and credits 728,00( 338,00t 405,00(
Limited NOL's and credits (749,00 605,00( (124,00
Change in state tax rate (60,000 (623,00() 438,00(
Other 332,00( (12,000 42,00(

$ 29,00 $ 31,000 $ 30,00(

The income tax expense (recovery) has been recasiadyeneral and administrative expense, addtst & immaterial.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities as of December 31, 20142813 are shown below:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Capitalized research expense $ 2,059,000 $ 2,782,001
Net operating loss carryforwards 64,354,00 48,846,00
Research and development and other tax credits 2,417,001 1,877,001
Other 8,491,001 8,641,001
77,321,00 62,146,00
Valuation allowance (75,363,00) (61,061,00)
Total deferred tax assets 1,958,00! 1,085,00!
Deferred tax liabilities:
Acquired intangibles (804,000 (1,096,001
Investment in affiliated entity (1,315,001 (123,00()
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (161,000 $ (134,000

The Company has established a valuation allowanrcallfdeferred tax assets including those forapetrating loss (“NOL”) and tax credit carryforwar@ich a valuation
allowance is recorded when it is more likely tham that the deferred tax assets will not be redliZéne Company maintains a deferred tax liabikthated to goodwill that is not
netted against the deferred tax assets, as rewérna taxable temporary difference cannot sesva source of income for realization of the defitex assets, because the
deferred tax liability will not reverse until theset is sold or written down due to impairment.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had fed€gdifornia and Pennsylvania tax net operating &@ssy forwards of approximately $159.3 million @8 million

and $99.3 million , respectively, net of the ne¢iging losses that will expire due to IRC Sec882 limitations. The federal and Pennsylvania petrating loss carry forwards
will begin to expire in 2018 and 2021 , respectiveinless previously utilized. The California neeeating loss carry forwards will expire as follows

Amount (in millions)

2015 $ 0.5
2016 0.t
2017 0.5
2028 and beyond 58.€
Total $ 60.1

Of the $159.3 million and $159.4 million of fedeead state NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2614 million represents excess tax benefits relatedjuity
compensation which will result in an increase iniggif and when such excess benefits are ultigatedlized.

In addition, we had federal and state researclridit carryforwards of approximately $2.8 millinat of IRS Section 382 limitation and $2.1 milliprespectively. The
federal tax credit carryforwards will begin to epgin 2018. The California research tax creditsidbexpire.

Utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwarddll be subject to a substantial annual limitatiorder Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Cod&86, and similar
state provisions due to ownership change limitatibrat have occurred previously or that could oactine future. These ownership changes will lithé amount of NOL and
tax credit carryforwards and other deferred tae@sthat can be utilized to offset future taxahsme and tax, respectively. In general, an owigidiange, as defined by
Section 382, results from transactions increaswgesship of certain stock holders or public groupthe stock of the corporation by more than 5&eetage points over a three-
year period.

The Company is in the process of updating the &e&82/383 study for the Company and VGX, both biclv experienced ownership changes under Sectipra8@
result of the Merger on June 1, 2009. Based upeptéliminary
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results of the study, it is estimated that appretety $27.1 million of tax benefits related to N@hd tax credit carryforwards will expire unusedcédingly, the related NOL
and R&D credit carryforwards have been removed fdeierred tax assets accompanied by a corresporetingtion of the valuation allowance. Upon conipletf the study,

deferred tax assets relating to NOL and R&D credlityforwards for the Company and VGX may neede@tjusted with a corresponding adjustment to &heation allowance
Due to the existence of the valuation allowaneeitéitions created by current and future ownershgnges, if any, related to our operations in thggddrStates will not impact

our effective tax rate. Any additional ownershiebes, may further limit the ability to use the ogérating losses and credits carryovers.

The following table summarizes the activity relateadur unrecognized tax benefits:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of the year $ 2,416,000 $ 1,896,000 $ 1,829,001
Increases related to current year tax positions 331,00( 305,00t 72,00(
Increases (Decreases) related to prior year takqus 12,00( 215,00( (5,000
Balance at end of the year $ 2,759,000 $ 2,416,000 $ 1,896,00!

The amount of unrecognized tax benefit that, ibgggzed and realized would affect the effectivertte is $2.4 million as of December 31, 2014 . Toeenpany has not
recorded any interest and penalties on the unréeditax positions as the Company has continuggnerate net operating losses after accountintpéounrecognized tax
benefits. The Company does not anticipate thatctad amount of unrecognized tax benefits will gigantly increase or decrease within twelve morghthe reporting date.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject ttedr8tates federal income tax as well as incométenultiple state jurisdictions. With few excepts the Company is
no longer subject to United States federal incaameskaminations for years before 2011; state aral lacome tax examinations before 2010; and for@igome tax
examinations before 2011. However, to the extdatvald by law, the tax authorities may have thetrighexamine prior periods where net operatingdssgere generated and
carried forward, and make adjustments up to theuatnaf the net operating loss carryforward amotihe Company is not currently under Internal Reve®ewvice (“IRS”),
state or local tax examination.

On September 13, 2013, the U.S. Treasury Departraksatsed final income tax regulations on the deédiu@nd capitalization of expenditures relatethtugible property.
The Company adopted these final regulations aarafaly 1, 2014. The impact of these changes wenmaterial to the Company’s consolidated finanpw@sition, its results of
operations or its footnote disclosures.

14. 401(K) Plan

In 1995, the Company adopted a 401(k) Profit Sigafilan (the “Plan”) covering substantially all tf employees. The defined contribution plan alltivesemployees to
contribute a percentage of their compensation gaah The Company currently matches 50% of its eygas’ contributions, up to 6% of their annual cengation. The
Company'’s contributions are recorded as expen#eeiaccompanying consolidated statements of opesaéind totaled $275,000 , $196,000 and $170,008éoyears ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

15. Related Party Transactions
GeneOne Life Sciences (Formerly VGX International)l

In March 2014, the Company's affiliated entity V@&Xernational Inc. changed its name to GeneOne Sdfences
("GeneOne").

On September 23, 2014, the Company entered intlat®rative Development Agreement with GeneOneotalevelop an Ebola vaccine through phase | clinizs.

On October 7, 2011, the Company entered into eaBothtive Development and License Agreement (thep“Blgreement”) with GeneOne. Under the Hep Agreénaesn
originally executed, the Company and GeneOne adgreed-develop the Company’s SynCaherapeutic vaccines for hepatitis B and C infexti¢the “Products”). Under the
terms of the Hep Agreement, GeneOne will receivekatang rights for the Products in Asia, excludifapan, and in return will fully fund IND-enablingdhinitial Phase | and Il
clinical studies with respect to the Products. Tlenpany will receive from GeneOne payments basdti@achievement of clinical milestones and rogalbased on sales of
the Products in the licensed territories, retairdfigommercial rights to the Products in all ottesritories. On August 21, 2013, the Company aredritie Hep Agreement to
grant back to the Company hepatitis B, along withssociated rights, from the collaboration irurat
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for certain remuneration including a percentagkcehse fees. On October 7, 2013, the Companydueamended the Hep Agreement to in part provid&usixe patent rights to
IL-28 technology for use with the Products in Ag&cluding Japan.

On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into a Gotktion and License Agreement (the “GeneOne Ages¢thwith GeneOne. Under the GeneOne Agreemeat, th
Company granted GeneOne an exclusive license tadiscSynCon® universal influenza vaccine delivered with electn@ion to be developed in certain countries inreAthe
“Product”). As consideration for the license grahte GeneOne, the Company received payment of#ilion , and will receive research support, anrlicginse maintenance
fees and royalties on net Product sales. The Coyneaorded the $3.0 million as deferred revenumfadfiliated entity, and will recognize it as rewenover the eight year
expected period of the Company’s performance ofitigaln addition, contingent upon achievementlofical and regulatory milestones, the Company vétieive development
payments over the term of the GeneOne AgreemertGeneOne Agreement also provides Inovio with eskedurights to supply devices for clinical and coemnaial purposes
(including single use components) to GeneOne ferimishe Product. The term of the GeneOne Agreesmninenced upon execution and will extend on atcgdny country
basis until the last to expire of all Royalty Peddor the territory (as such term is defined i@ @eneOne Agreement) for any Product in that cguatrless the GeneOne
Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance itstprovisions as a result of breach, by mutuategrent, or by GeneOne's right to terminate witleause upon prior written
notice.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 &tl, 2ie Company recognized revenue from GeneO#d#8,000 , $425,000 and $577,000 , respectivetciw
consisted of licensing, collaborative researchdexklopment arrangements and other fees. Opemtipenses related to GeneOne for the years endesiribec 31, 2014 , 2013
and 2012 include $4.2 million , $2.3 million and7$800 , respectively, related primarily to biolkegimanufacturing. At December 31, 2014 and 201&tmapany had an
accounts receivable balance of $2,000 and $0 ecéisply, from GeneOne and its subsidiaries. Atédelser 31, 2014 and 2013, $260,000 and $231,00epapments made to
GeneOne were classified as long-term other asgdtseaconsolidated balance sheet.

OncoSec Medical Incorporated

On March 24, 2011, the Company completed the dalertain assets related to certain non-DNA vact#eanology and intellectual property relating ¢testive
electrochemical tumor ablation (*SECTA”) to Onco3éedical Incorporated, or OncoSec, pursuant to ssefPurchase Agreement dated March 14, 2011 bgeineen the
Company and OncoSec. The Company has received paymfell of $3.0 million from OncoSec as of Deckeen 31, 2013.

The Company's Chairman, Dr. Avtar Dhillon, is tlearexecutive Chairman of OncoSec.

On September 28, 2011, the Company signed an amhegieement with OncoSec extending the term ofé¢leend payment owed to the Company in exchange for
warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of commok sfd®ncoSec. The warrant received was a five -yearant with an exercise price of $1.20 per sh@ee Note 5 for
further discussion.)

On March 24, 2012, the Company signed a seconda@edeagreement with OncoSec further extending time &€ the payments owed to the Company in exchéoge
warrant to purchase 3,000,000 shares of commok sfd®ncoSec. The warrant received was a five -yearant with an exercise price of $1.00 per sh@ee Note 5 for
further discussion.)

Plumbline Life Sciences, In

In May 2014, the Company's 91% owned subsidiary \A@Xnal Health entered into an agreement for the shits animal health assets to Plumbline LiféeSces, Inc.
("PLS") of Korea. The assets being transferreduidelan exclusive license with Inovio for animal lagggions of its growth hormone-releasing hormot@HRH") technology
and animal DNA vaccines plus a non-exclusive liegiasinovio electroporation delivery systems. VGKial Health will receive $2.0 milliom cash in multiple payments, a
20% of the outstanding shares of PLS. VGX Animaaldewill receive additional shares to maintaind@6 equity ownership position in PLS in the evefrddditional equity
fund-raising by PLS up to $10.0 million . No recaie has been recorded for the $2.0 million dusfRLS as collection is uncertain.
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16. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly resolt®perations of the Company for the years endecebhber 31, 2014 and 2013 (unaudited):

Quarter Ended Quarter Ended Quarter Ended Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014

Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Revenue:
Revenue under collaborative research and develapanemgements $ 1,758,100 $ 1,11495. $ 3,107,78  $ 1,435,72
Revenue under collaborative research and develdpanemgements with
affiliated entity 112,50( 112,50( 137,50( 116,96
Grants and miscellaneous revenue 586,50( 612,90: 556,38: 804,95:
Total revenues 2,457,10: 1,840,35! 3,801,66: 2,357,64.
Operating Expenses:
Research and development 9,244,47. 7,017,80! 9,607,28 8,225,48!
General and administrative 4,224,42! 3,153,71. 4,347,32 4,132,21:
Total operating expenses 13,468,90 10,171,51 13,954,60 12,357,69
Loss from operations (11,011,79) (8,331,161 (10,152,94) (10,000,05)
Interest and other income, net 113,21. 97,17« 68,99¢ 52,07¢
Change in fair value of common stock warrants 143,65¢ (113,98() 824,39( (505,926
Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity 3,342,431 1,168,91 (1,458,161 (376,96
Net loss (7,412,48) (7,179,06) (10,717,71) (10,830,86)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 1,08: 1,48¢ 6,44: 9,40¢
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le. $ (7,411,40) $ (7,177,57) $ (20,711,27) $ (10,821,46)
Net loss per common share attributable to Inovio Plrmaceuticals, Inc.
stockholders

Basic $ 012 $ 012 $ 0.1¢) $ (0.20

Diluted $ (012 $ (012 $ (019 $ (0.20
Weighted average number of common shares outstandjrused in per
share calculations:

Basic 60,610,36 60,392,91 60,232,49 55,159,00

Diluted 60,805,87 60,602,83 60,474,85 55,159,00
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Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Revenue:
Revenue under collaborative research and develapenemgements

Revenue under collaborative research and develdpanemgements with
affiliated entity

Grants and miscellaneous revenue

Total revenues

Operating Expenses:

Research and development

General and administrative

Gain on sale of assets

Total operating expenses

(Loss) Income from operations

Interest and other income, net

Change in fair value of common stock warrants
Gain (Loss) from investment in affiliated entity
Net loss

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Net loss attributable to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, le.

Net loss per common share attributable to Inovio Plrmaceuticals, Inc.
stockholders

Basic

Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstandjrused in per
share calculations:

Basic

Diluted

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

2013 2013 2013 2013
822,21 8,388,76! 14,31 14,25¢
106,25( 106,25( 106,25( 106,25(
811,19¢ 991,83! 665,04¢ 1,334,711

1,739,66! 9,486,84! 785,61( 1,455,22!
6,404,00! 5,438,40! 4,411,08: 5,115,11.
4,339,53! 3,282,791 3,046,58! 2,974,15:
(1,000,001 — (1,000,001 —
9,743,54. 8,721,20. 6,457,66! 8,089,26!
(8,003,87) 765,64 (5,672,05) (6,634,041
8,57¢ 46,78 37,39: 39,46(
(6,052,96)) (34,952,21) (3,199,87) (1,427,61)
(1,419,53)) 3,248,921 (2,032,05) (836,08
(15,467,80) (30,890,85) (10,866,59) (8,858,281
13,47: 13,44: 14,00¢ 14,16(
(15,454,33) (30,877,41) (10,852,58) (8,844,12))
(0.30 (0.69) (0.29) (0.29)
(0.30) (0.6%) (0.29) 0.29)
52,127,41 47,989,03 44,988,70 39,038,88
52,127,41 47,989,03 44,988,70 39,038,88
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INOVIO BIOMEDICAL CORPORATION

2007 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

ARTICLE |
PURPOSE AND ADOPTION OF THE PLAN

1.1 Purpose The purpose of the Inovio Biomedical Corporat&@®7 Omnibus Incentive Plan (as amended from torgrte, the “Plan”)
is to assist in attracting and retaining highly patent employees, directors and consultants tasaah incentive in motivating selected employees,
directors and consultants of the Company and itsiliaries to achieve long-term corporate objestiaed to enable stock-based and cash-based
incentive awards to qualify as performance-basedpemsation for purposes of the tax deduction litioites under Section 162(m) of the Code.

1.2 Adoption and Term The Plan has been approved by the Board to betefé as of March 31, 2007, subject to the approf/the
stockholders of the Company. The Plan shall rermag@ffect until terminated by action of the Boapdpvided, however, that no Awards may be
granted hereunder after the tenth anniversansafitial effective date.

ARTICLE Il
DEFINITIONS
For the purpose of this Plan, capitalized termd slaze the following meanings:

2.1 Awardmeans any one or a combination of Non-Qualifiedtsptions or Incentive Stock Options describediiticle VI, Stock
Appreciation Rights described in Article VI, Rested Shares and Restricted Stock Units describddticle VII, Performance Awards described
Article VIII, other stock-based Awards describediirticle IX, short-term cash incentive Awards délsed in Article X or any other Award made
under the terms of the Plan.

2.2 Award Agreementneans a written agreement between the Company Badiaipant or a written acknowledgment from tr@arpany
to a Participant specifically setting forth themsrand conditions of an Award granted under tha.Pla

2.3 Assumedmneans that pursuant to a Merger either (i) the Avimexpressly affirmed by the Company, (ii) thatcactual obligations
represented by the Award are expressly assumech@rsdmply by operation of law) by the successtitg or its parent in connection with the
Merger with appropriate adjustments to the numbertgpe of securities of the successor entityopérent subject to the Award and the exerci:
purchase price thereof which at least preservesdhmensation element of the Award existing atithe of the
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Merger as determined in accordance with the inggnimevidencing the agreement to assume the Awa(di) the Award is otherwise to continue
in effect following the Merger.

2.4 Award Periodneans, with respect to an Award, the period of tifn@ny, set forth in the Award Agreement duringigh specified
target performance goals must be achieved or cthatitions set forth in the Award Agreement musséatsfied.

2.5 Beneficiarymeans an individual, trust or estate who or whigha written designation of the Participant filedhwthe Company, or if
no such written designation is filed, by operatidhaw, succeeds to the rights and obligationsefRarticipant under the Plan and the Award
Agreement upon the Participant’s death.

2.6 Boardmeans the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.7 Change in Contraheans, and shall be deemed to have occurred upatturrence of, any one of the following events:

(a) The acquisition in one or more transactions, othan from the Company, by any individual, entitygooup (within the
meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exutpe Act), other than the Company, a Subsidiagngremployee benefit plan (or related trust)
sponsored or maintained by the Company or a Sugidif beneficial ownership (within the meaningrafle 13d-3 promulgated under the
Exchange Act) of a number of Company Voting Semgiin excess of 25% of the Company Voting Seasitinless such acquisition has been
approved by the Board;

(b) Any election has occurred of persons to the Bdaatltcauses twthirds of the Board to consist of persons othen fijpperson
who were members of the Board on the effective ditke Plan and (ii) persons who were nominatecetfections as members of the Board at a
time when two-thirds of the Board consisted of passwho were members of the Board on the effectate of the Plan, provided, however, that
any person nominated for election by a Board aitleeo-thirds of whom constituted persons describedauses (i) and/or (ii) or by persons who
were themselves nominated by such Board shalthfempurpose, be deemed to have been nominatedbgra composed of persons described in
clause (i);

(c) The consummationi(e. closing) of a reorganization, merger or consolmainvolving the Company, unless, following such
reorganization, merger or consolidation, all orstahtially all of the individuals and entities wivere the respective beneficial owners of the
Outstanding Common Stock and Company Voting Seesrinmediately prior to such reorganization, meyeconsolidation, following such
reorganization, merger or consolidation benefigiallvn, directly or indirectly, more than seventyefipercent (75%) of, respectively, the then
outstanding shares of common stock and the combiotag power of the then outstanding voting seé@sientitled to vote generally in the elec
of directors or trustees, as the case may be gaéitity resulting from such reorganization, megeconsolidation in substantially the same
proportion as their ownership of the Outstandingn@mn Stock and Company Voting Securities immedigteibr to such reorganization, merger
or consolidation, as the case may be;
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(d) The consummationi(e. closing) of a sale or other disposition of all abstantially all the assets of the Company, unless,
following such sale or disposition, all or substalht all of the individuals and entities who wehe respective beneficial owners of the Outstanding
Common Stock and Company Voting Securities immedigirior to such reorganization, merger or cortidlon, following such reorganization,
merger or consolidation beneficially own, direatlyindirectly, more than seventy five percent (75%o)espectively, the then outstanding shares of
common stock and the combined voting power of tle@ toutstanding voting securities entitled to \gaaerally in the election of directors or
trustees, as the case may be, of the entity purghasch assets in substantially the same propoasatheir ownership of the Outstanding Common
Stock and Company Voting Securities immediatelpmpid such sale or disposition, as the case magrbe;

(e) acomplete liquidation or dissolution of the Comypan

2.8 Codemeans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as ameRdéstences to a section of the Code shall indhdesection and any
comparable section or sections of any future latiesh that amends, supplements or supersedeseszidrs

2.9 Committeemeans the Compensation Committee of the Board.
2.10 Companymeans Inovio Biomedical Corporation and its suamess
2.11 Common Stockneans the common stock of the Company, par vall@$@er share.

2.12 Company Voting Securitiemeans the combined voting power of all outstanditing securities of the Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors to the Board

2.13 Date of Grantmeans the date designated by the Committee asthesd of which it grants an Award, which shall betarlier than
the date on which the Committee approves the grauati such Award.

2.14 Dividend Equivalent Accounteans a bookkeeping account in accordance withri8elgtion 11.17 and related to an Award that is
credited with the amount of any cash dividendg@clksdistributions that would be payable with regge the shares of Common Stock subject to
such Awards had such shares been outstanding sifaCesnmon Stock.

2.15 Exchange Actneans the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amdend

2.16 Exercise Priceneans, with respect to a Stock Appreciation Ritjie,amount established by the Committee in the dwareement
which is to be subtracted from the Fair Market \éatun the date of exercise in order to determin@theunt of the payment to be made to the
Participant, as further described in Section 6.02(b

2.17 Fair Market Valuegmeans, on any date, (i) the closing sale pricestfame of Common Stock, as reported on the Ameftack
Exchange (or other established stock

sd-478373




exchange on which the Common Stock is regularlyeth on such date or, if there were no sales om date, on the last date preceding such date
on which a sale was reported; or (ii) if share€ofmmon Stock are not listed for trading on an distadd stock exchange, Fair Market Value shall
be determined by the Committee in good faith.

2.18 Incentive Stock Optiomeans a stock option within the meaning of Sect@ of the Code.

2.19 Mergermeans any merger, reorganization, consolidatiochaxge, transfer of assets or other transactioimg@imilar effect
involving the Company.

2.20 NonQualified Stock Optiomeans a stock option which is not an Incentive S@ption.

2.21 Optionsmeans all Non-Qualified Stock Options and IncenSteck Options granted at any time under the Plan.

2.22 OQutstanding Common Stockeans, at any time, the issued and outstandingsl&Common Stock.

2.23 Participanimeans a person designated to receive an Award timel@ an in accordance with Section 5.01.

2.24 Performance Awardsieans Awards granted in accordance with Articld.VII

2.25 Performance Goabsre based on one or more of the following measamdsntended to comply with the performance-based
compensation exception under Code Section 162(m):

* Net earnings or net income (before or after te

» Earnings per share or earnings per share growi,units, or unit growt

* Net sales, sales growth, total revenue, or revgnaett

* Net operating prof

» Return measures (including, but not limited touneton assets, capital, invested capital, equitigss or revenu

» Cash flow (including, but not limited to, openat cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow returnemuity, and cash flow return on
investment)

» Earnings before or after taxes, interest, deprieciand/or amortizatic
» Gross or operating marg

e Productivity ratio
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» Share price or relative share price (including, fmttlimited to, growth measures and total stoctboketurn

* Expense targe

e Margins

» Operating efficienc

» Market share or change in market sl

» Customer retention or satisfact

» Working capital targe

» Completion of strategic financing goals, acquisisi@r alliances and clinical progr

« Company project mileston

» Economic value added or EVA®ét operating profit after tax minus the sum ofiedpnultiplied by the cost of capit:
2.26 Planhas the meaning given to such term in Section 1.01.

2.27 Purchase Pricewith respect to Options, shall have the mean@idasth in Section 6.01(b).

2.28 Restricted Sharameans Common Stock subject to restrictions impasednnection with Awards granted under Article VII

2.29 Restricted Stock Unineans a unit representing the right to receive Com8tock or the value thereof in the future subject
restrictions imposed in connection with Awards gearunder Article VII.

2.30 Rule 16b3 means Rule 16b-3 promulgated by the SecuritiesExetdiange Commission under Section 16 of the Exahéwg, as the
same may be amended from time to time, and anyessocrule.

2.31 Stock Appreciation Rightsieans awards granted in accordance with Article VI.

2.32 Subsidiarymeans a subsidiary of the Company within the mepafrSection 424(f) of the Code.

2.33 Termination of Serviceneans the voluntary or involuntary termination ¢faticipant’s service as an employee, director or
consultant with the Company or a Subsidiary for season, including death, disability, retiremenastthe result of the divestiture of the
Participant’s employer or any similar transactiomhich the Participant’s employer ceases to b&Cmpany or one of its Subsidiaries. Whether
entering military or other government service
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shall constitute Termination of Service, or whetéied when a Termination of Service shall occur eesalt of disability, shall be determined in
each case by the Committee in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE Il

ADMINISTRATION
3.1 Committee.

(a) Duties and Authority The Plan shall be administered by the Committekthe Committee shall have exclusive and final
authority in each determination, interpretatiorotirer action affecting the Plan and its Participarithe Committee shall have the sole discretionary
authority to interpret the Plan, to establish amatlify administrative rules for the Plan, to impaseh conditions and restrictions on Awards as it
determines appropriate, and to make all factuard@hations with respect to and take such stepsmmection with the Plan and Awards granted
hereunder as it may deem necessary or advisable Committee shall not, however, have or exeraigedéscretion that would disqualify amounts
payable under Article X as performance-based cosgiam for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Coflee Committee may delegate such of its
powers and authority under the Plan as it deemspgpte to a subcommittee of the Committee orgtedied officers or employees of the
Company. In addition, the full Board may exerasg of the powers and authority of the Committegeunrtihe Plan. In the event of such delegation
of authority or exercise of authority by the Boareferences in the Plan to the Committee shalldeerabd to refer, as appropriate, to the delegate of
the Committee or the Board. Actions taken by tben@ittee or any subcommittee thereof, and any a¢iteg by the Committee to designated
officers or employees, under this Section 3.01lslwethply with Section 16(b) of the Exchange Ack therformance-based provisions of
Section 162(m) of the Code, and the regulationsptgated under each of such statutory provisionfherespective successors to such statutory
provisions or regulations, as in effect from tirodiime, to the extent applicable.

(b) Indemnification. Each person who is or shall have been a memiiedoard or the Committee, or an officer or emppof
the Company to whom authority was delegated inraegwe with the Plan shall be indemnified and haldnless by the Company against and 1
any loss, cost, liability, or expense that mayrbpased upon or reasonably incurred by such indatiduconnection with or resulting from any
claim, action, suit, or proceeding to which heloe snay be a party or in which he or she may belwedoby reason of any action taken or failure to
act under the Plan and against and from any aravaunts paid by him or her in settlement theraif) the Company’s approval, or paid by him
or her in satisfaction of any judgment in any saction, suit, or proceeding against him or heryjated he or she shall give the Company an
opportunity, at its own expense, to handle andriktbe same before he or she undertakes to hamdliéedend it on his or her own behalf;
provided, however, that the foregoing indemnifioatshall not apply to any loss, cost, liability,expense that is a result of his or her own willful
misconduct. The foregoing right of indemnificatisimall not be exclusive of any other rights of imahéfication to which such persons may be
entitled
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under the Company’s Certificate of IncorporatiorBgtaws, conferred in a separate agreement witlCtrapany, as a matter of law, or otherwise,
or any power that the Company may have to indenthiyn or hold them harmless.

ARTICLE IV
SHARES

4.1 Number of Shares Issuabléas amended May 22, 2014 he maximum aggregate number of shares of Conthack that may be
issued pursuant to Awards shall be 4,742,831 slii€@smmon Stock, and commencing with the firstibess day of each calendar year beginning
with January 1, 2011, such maximum aggregate nuofierares of Common Stock shall be increasedryn@ber equal to the lesser of (i) 513,833
or (ii) such lesser number of shares of CommonkSasamay be determined by the Board. No more tha424831 shares of Common Stock ma
issued under the Plan as Incentive Stock Optiarsach number shall not be subject to annual tdgrg as described above. The foregoing share
limits shall be subject to adjustment in accordanitk Section 11.07. The shares to be offered uttdePlan shall be authorized and unissued
Common Stock, or issued Common Stock that shak haen reacquired by the Company.

4.2 Shares Subject to Terminated Award®mmon Stock covered by any unexercised portidnsrminated or forfeited Options
(including canceled Options) granted under ArtleCommon Stock forfeited as provided in Sectiod2{a), Stock Units and other stock-based
Awards terminated or forfeited as provided in AgitX, and Common Stock subject to any Awards #ratotherwise surrendered by the Partici
may again be subject to new Awards under the Pirares of Common Stock surrendered to or withbeldhe Company in payment or
satisfaction of the Purchase Price of an Optiotaomwithholding obligation with respect to an Awatgall be available for the grant of new Awards
under the Plan. In the event of the exercise ofiSAppreciation Rights, whether or not grantethimdem with Options, only the number of shares
of Common Stock actually issued in payment of ssiritk Appreciation Rights shall be charged agdireshumber of shares of Common Stock
available for the grant of Awards hereunder.

ARTICLE V

PARTICIPATION

5.1 Eligible Participants (as amended May 14, 20)@articipants in the Plan shall be such employdiesctors and consultants of the
Company and its Subsidiaries as the Committeds isole discretion, may designate from time to tifrftee Committees designation of a Participe
in any year shall not require the Committee toglestie such person to receive Awards or grantsyirotirer year. The designation of a Participant
to receive Awards or grants under one portion efRlan does not require the Committee to includé Sarticipant under other portions of the
Plan. The Committee shall consider such factoisdeems pertinent in selecting Participants andetermining the type and amount of their
respective Awards. Incentive Stock Options may dxal granted to employees of the Company
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or its Subsidiaries. Subject to adjustment in atance with Section 11.07, in any calendar yeaRawticipant shall be granted Awards in respect of
more than 125,000 shares of Common Stock (whethengh grants of Options or Stock Appreciation Réghr other Awards of Common Stock or
rights with respect thereto) or cash-based Awasdsiore than $1,500,000.00.

ARTICLE VI
STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

6.1 Option Awards

(@) Grant of Options The Committee may grant, to such Participanth@€ommittee may select, Options entitling thetiBipant
to purchase shares of Common Stock from the Comipesiych number, at such price, and on such tendsabject to such conditions, not
inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, as magdtablished by the Committee. The terms of anyjo@mranted under this Plan shall be set forth
in an Award Agreement.

(b) Purchase Price of Optiongas amended May 14, 2009 he Purchase Price of each share of Common Stbih may be
purchased upon exercise of any Option granted uhedPlan shall be determined by the Committeeyigen, however, that in no event shall the
Purchase Price be less than the Fair Market Valub@ Date of Grant. In the case of an IncentiwelSOption granted to a Participant who, on the
Date of Grant owns stock representing more thapéecent (10%) of the voting power of all classestock of the Company or its Subsidiaries,
per share exercise price shall be not less thamonéred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market ¥gder share of Common Stock on the Date of
Grant.

(c) Designation of OptionsThe Committee shall designate, at the time ofjtla@it of each Option, the Option as an Incentive
Stock Option or a Non-Qualified Stock Option.

(d) Incentive Stock Option Share Limitatioifas amended May 14, 20)0lotwithstanding an Option’s designation as an
Incentive Stock Option, an Option will qualify as lncentive Stock Option under the Code only togki=nt the $100,000 limitation of Section 422
(d) of the Code is not exceeded. The $100,0004dimit of Section 422(d) of the Code is calculatasddl on the aggregate Fair Market Value
(measured on the Date of Grant) of the shares ofrian Stock subject to Options designated as Inee®fock Options which first become
exercisable in any one calendar year (under the étlany other plans of the Company and its Sudséi). For purposes of this calculation,
Incentive Stock Options shall be taken into accautiie order in which they were granted.

(e) Rights As a StockholderA Participant or a transferee of an Option punst@ Section 11.04 shall have no rights as a
stockholder with respect to Common Stock coveredrb®ption until the Participant or transferee Ishave become the holder of record of any
such shares, and no adjustment shall be madevidedis in cash or other property or distributionsther rights with respect to any such Com
Stock for which the record date is prior to theeda which the Participant or a transferee of thgdd shall have become the
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holder of record of any such shares covered byhi@n; provided, however, that Participants aritled to share adjustments to reflect capital
changes under Section 11.07.

6.2 Stock Appreciation Rights

(a) Stock Appreciation Right AwardsThe Committee is authorized to grant to any Pigdint one or more Stock Appreciation
Rights. Such Stock Appreciation Rights may be g@ueither independent of or in tandem with Optigranted to the same Participant. Stock
Appreciation Rights granted in tandem with Optiamesy be granted simultaneously with, or, in the cfddon-Qualified Stock Options, subsequ
to, the grant to such Participant of the relatedddp provided however, that: (i) any Option cowgriany share of Common Stock shall expire and
not be exercisable upon the exercise of any Stqupkdciation Right with respect to the same shéjear{y Stock Appreciation Right covering any
share of Common Stock shall expire and not be éalie upon the exercise of any related Option vaipect to the same share, and (iii) an Oy
and Stock Appreciation Right covering the sameesb&Common Stock may not be exercised simultagoldpon exercise of a Stock
Appreciation Right with respect to a share of ComrBtock, the Participant shall be entitled to reee&in amount equal to the excess, if any, of
(A) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common &ton the date of exercise over (B) the ExercisedRof such Stock Appreciation Right
established in the Award Agreement, which amouall §ie payable as provided in Section 6.02(c).

(b) Exercise Price The Exercise Price established under any Stogkeégiation Right granted under this Plan shall &ianined
by the Committee, but in the case of Stock ApptemiaRights granted in tandem with Options shatl m® less than the Purchase Price of the
related Option; provided, however, that in no ewsall the Exercise Price be less than the Faik&taralue on the Date of Grant. Upon exercise
of Stock Appreciation Rights granted in tandem waighions, the number of shares subject to exetnigier any related Option shall automatically
be reduced by the number of shares of Common Sgmksented by the Option or portion thereof whidhsurrendered as a result of the exercise
of such Stock Appreciation Rights.

(c) Payment of Incremental ValuéAny payment which may become due from the Compmmgeason of a Participant’s exercise
of a Stock Appreciation Right may be paid to theiBipant as determined by the Committee (i) alc@sh, (i) all in Common Stock, or (iii) in any
combination of cash and Common Stock. In the etfattall or a portion of the payment is made imm@won Stock, the number of shares of
Common Stock delivered in satisfaction of such paynshall be determined by dividing the amountuzthspayment or portion thereof by the Fair
Market Value on the Exercise Date. No fractioedre of Common Stock shall be issued to make apmeat in respect of Stock Appreciation
Rights; if any fractional share would be issuatiie,combination of cash and Common Stock payalieet®articipant shall be adjusted as directed
by the Committee to avoid the issuance of anyifsaat share.
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6.3 Terms of Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Right

(f) Conditions on ExerciseAn Award Agreement with respect to Options orcBtAppreciation Rights may contain such waiting
periods, exercise dates and restrictions on exe(tisluding, but not limited to, periodic instalmts) as may be determined by the Committee
time of grant.

(g) Duration of Options and Stock Appreciation Rightss amended May 14, 201 @ptions and Stock Appreciation Rights shall
terminate upon the first to occur of the followiegents:

(i) Expiration of the Option or Stock Appreciation Rigts provided in the Award Agreement; or

(i)  Termination of the Award in the event of a Par@ips disability, retirement, death or other Teration of Service as
provided in the Award Agreement; or

(i) Inthe case of an Incentive Stock Option, ten y&ars the Date of Grant;

(iv) Inthe case of an Incentive Stock Option grantea Rarticipant who, at the time the Incentive StOgkion is granted,
owns stock representing more than ten percent (b@%e voting power of all classes of stock of @@mpany or any of its Subsidiaries, five years
from the Date of Grant or

(v) Solely in the case of a Stock Appreciation Riglanged in tandem with an Option, upon the expiratibthe related
Option.

(h)  Acceleration or Extension of Exercise Tim&he Committee, in its sole discretion, shall heneeright (but shall not be
obligated), exercisable on or at any time afte@aée of Grant, to permit the exercise of an OptioStock Appreciation Right (i) prior to the time
such Option or Stock Appreciation Right would beeoexercisable under the terms of the Award Agree¢nfidnafter the termination of the Option
or Stock Appreciation Right under the terms of Aveard Agreement, or (iii) after the expiration bktOption or Stock Appreciation Right.

6.4 Exercise Proceduresach Option and Stock Appreciation Right granteder the Plan shall be exercised prior to theectdbusines
on the expiration date of the Option or Stock Apfaton Right by notice to the Company or by suttieo method as provided in the Award
Agreement or as the Committee may establish orcaegirom time to time. The Purchase Price of shptechased upon exercise of an Option
granted under the Plan shall be paid in full ichdag the Participant pursuant to the Award Agreaianovided, however, that the Committee may
(but shall not be required to) permit payment tarizle by delivery to the Company of either (a) Camr8tock (which may include Restricted
Shares or shares otherwise issuable in connecttbrtive exercise of the Option, subject to sucksis the Committee deems appropriate) or
(b) any combination of cash and Common Stock, psiich other
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consideration as the Committee deems appropriaténacompliance with applicable law (including pagmb under an arrangement constituting a
brokerage transaction as permitted under the pomgf Regulation T applicable to cashless exescsomulgated by the Federal Reserve Board,
unless prohibited by Section 402 of the SarbandsyOict of 2002). In the event that any Commonc8tshall be transferred to the Company to
satisfy all or any part of the Purchase Price pidue of the Purchase Price deemed to have beafiesdtdy such transfer of Common Stock shall be
equal to the product derived by multiplying therRdarket Value as of the date of exercise timesiimaber of shares of Common Stock transfe

to the Company. The Participant may not transfehé¢ Company in satisfaction of the Purchase Rgefractional share of Common Stock. Any
part of the Purchase Price paid in cash upon thecise of any Option shall be added to the gerfierals of the Company and may be used for any
proper corporate purpose. Unless the Committelé atherwise determine, any Common Stock transtetoethe Company as payment of all or |

of the Purchase Price upon the exercise of anyo®gtall be held as treasury shares.

6.5 Change in ContralUnless otherwise provided by the Committee inapplicable Award Agreement, in the event of a Cjeaim
Control, all Options outstanding on the date ohsGbange in Control, and all Stock AppreciationtRsgshall become immediately and fully
exercisable. The provisions of this Section 6l@&Isot be applicable to any Options or Stock Aggmtion Rights granted to a Participant if any
Change in Control results from such Participan€addicial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 48dnder the Exchange Act) of Common
Stock or Company Voting Securities.

ARTICLE VII

RESTRICTED SHARES AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

7.1 Award of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock $Jnlthe Committee may grant to any Participant an iived Restricted Shares
consisting of a specified number of shares of ComBimck issued to the Participant subject to senhg, conditions and forfeiture and transfer
restrictions, whether based on performance stasdpetiods of service, retention by the Particigrdwnership of specified shares of Common
Stock or other criteria, as the Committee shallgi&h. The Committee may also grant RestrictediSUnits representing the right to receive
shares of Common Stock in the future subject td $eians, conditions and restrictions, whether bageperformance standards, periods of service,
retention by the Participant of ownership of sgedishares of Common Stock or other criteria, abmmittee shall establish. With respect to
performance-based Awards of Restricted Shares striRted Stock Units intended to qualify as “penfiance-based” compensation for purposes of
Section 162(m) of the Code, performance targetiscaiisist of specified levels of one or more of Beformance Goals. The terms of any
Restricted Share and Restricted Stock Unit Awardsatgd under this Plan shall be set forth in an iwsgreement which shall contain provisions
determined by the Committee and not inconsistettt this Plan.
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7.2 Restricted Shares

(i) Issuance of Restricted Sharess soon as practicable after the Date of Graiat REstricted Share Award by the Committee, the
Company shall cause to be transferred on the boiotke Company, or its agent, Common Stock, registen behalf of the Participant, evidencing
the Restricted Shares covered by the Award, byesuto forfeiture to the Company as of the Dat&ddint if an Award Agreement with respect to
the Restricted Shares covered by the Award is nlgtekecuted by the Participant and timely returttethe Company. All Common Stock cove
by Awards under this Article VIl shall be subjeotthe restrictions, terms and conditions containgtie Plan and the Award Agreement entered
into by the Participant. Until the lapse or rekea$all restrictions applicable to an Award of Rieted Shares, the share certificates representing
such Restricted Shares may be held in custodyédZtmpany, its designee, or, if the certificatesr lzerestrictive legend, by the Participant. Upon
the lapse or release of all restrictions with respean Award as described in Section 7.02(d),@mmaore share certificates, registered in the name
of the Participant, for an appropriate number @freh as provided in Section 7.02(d), free of asritions set forth in the Plan and the Award
Agreement shall be delivered to the Participant.

()) Stockholder Rights Beginning on the Date of Grant of the Restricédre Award and subject to execution of the Award
Agreement as provided in Section 7.02(a), the &paint shall become a stockholder of the Compaitly kispect to all shares subject to the Award
Agreement and shall have all of the rights of &ldtolder, including, but not limited to, the righbtvote such shares and the right to receive
dividends; provided, however, that any Common Stliskibuted as a dividend or otherwise with respe@ny Restricted Shares as to which the
restrictions have not yet lapsed, shall be sulijettie same restrictions as such Restricted Shakbeld or restricted as provided in Section 7.02

(@)

(k) Restriction on TransferabilityNone of the Restricted Shares may be assignedrsferred (other than by will or the laws of
descent and distribution, or to an inter vivosttmish respect to which the Participant is treadedhe owner under Sections 671 through 677 of the
Code, except to the extent that Section 16 of theh&nge Act limits a Participant’s right to makelstransfers), pledged or sold prior to lapse of
the restrictions applicable thereto.

()  Delivery of Shares Upon VestindJpon expiration or earlier termination of thefésture period without a forfeiture and the
satisfaction of or release from any other condgiprescribed by the Committee, or at such eaitie is provided under the provisions of
Section 7.04, the restrictions applicable to thetfeed Shares shall lapse. As promptly as adinatively feasible thereafter, subject to the
requirements of Section 11.05, the Company shéllateo the Participant or, in case of the Papticit's death, to the Participant’s Beneficiary, one
or more share certificates for the appropriate remolb shares of Common Stock, free of all suchriaiins, except for any restrictions that may be
imposed by law.

(m) Forfeiture of Restricted ShareSubject to Sections 7.02(f) and 7.04, all RetdShares shall be forfeited and returned to the
Company and all rights of the Participant with etgo such Restricted Shares shall terminate sitifiesParticipant continues in the

12
sd-478373




service of the Company or a Subsidiary as an ersplomtil the expiration of the forfeiture period guch Restricted Shares and satisfies any a
other conditions set forth in the Award Agreemehhe Committee shall determine the forfeiture p@fiwhich may, but need not, lapse in
installments) and any other terms and conditioqsiegble with respect to any Restricted Share Award

(n) Waiver of Forfeiture PeriodNotwithstanding anything contained in this AridfIl to the contrary, the Committee may, in its
sole discretion, waive the forfeiture period ang ather conditions set forth in any Award Agreememtler appropriate circumstances (including
the death, disability or retirement of the Parcipor a material change in circumstances aridfteg the date of an Award) and subject to such
terms and conditions (including forfeiture of a podtionate number of the Restricted Shares) a€timemittee shall deem appropriate.

7.3 Restricted Stock Units

(@) Settlement of Restricted Stock UnitBayments shall be made to Participants with gpeheir Restricted Stock Units as
soon as practicable after the Committee has datedrthat the terms and conditions applicable th #uweard have been satisfied or at a later de
distribution has been deferred. Payments to Raatits with respect to Restricted Stock Units sbalinade in the form of Common Stock, or cash
or a combination of both, as the Committee mayrdatee. The amount of any cash to be paid in lieGa@mmon Stock shall be determined on the
basis of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stoickhe date any such payment is processed. Awstesof Common Stock which constitute all
or any part of such payment, the Committee may sapuch restrictions concerning their transfeitghdind/or their forfeiture as may be provided
in the applicable Award Agreement or as the Conamithay otherwise determine, provided such detetimimég made on or before the date
certificates for such shares are first delivereth&éapplicable Participant.

(b) Shareholder RightsUntil the lapse or release of all restrictionplagable to an Award of Restricted Stock Units,shares of
Common Stock shall be issued in respect of suchrdsvand no Participant shall have any rights dseetolder of the Company with respect tc
shares of Common Stock covered by such Award ofriResd Stock Units.

(c) Waiver of Forfeiture PeriodNotwithstanding anything contained in this Setffo03 to the contrary, the Committee may, in its
sole discretion, waive the forfeiture period ang ather conditions set forth in any Award Agreememtler appropriate circumstances (including
the death, disability or retirement of the Participor a material change in circumstances ariditeg the date of an Award) and subject to such
terms and conditions (including forfeiture of a poctionate number of shares issuable upon settleafiehe Restricted Stock Units constituting an
Award) as the Committee shall deem appropriate.

(d) Deferral of Paymentlf approved by the Committee and set forth inapplicable Award Agreement, a Participant maytetie
defer the amount payable with respect to the Rpatit’'s Restricted Stock Units in accordance witbrsterms as may be established by the
Committee.
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7.4 Change in ContralUnless otherwise provided by the Committee inapplicable Award Agreement, in the event of a Cjeain
Control, all restrictions applicable to Restrictitares and Restricted Stock Unit Awards shall teatei fully and the Participant shall immediately
have the right to the delivery in accordance wilst®dn 7.02(d) of a share certificate or certifgsaévidencing a number of shares of Common ¢
equal to the full number of shares subject to eachh Award (in the case of Restricted Stock) ompeyt in accordance with Section 7.03(a) of a
number of shares of Common Stock determined by tvemittee, in its discretion, but, in the case pedgormance-based or other contingent
Award, in no event less than the number of shaagalgle at the “target” level for each such Awardtfie case of Restricted Stock Units). The
provisions of this Section 7.04 shall not be agllle to any Restricted Share or Restricted StodkAdmard granted to a Participant if any Change
in Control results from such Participant’s beneficgwnership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 urttle Exchange Act) of Common Stock or
Company Voting Securities.

ARTICLE VIl

PERFORMANCE AWARDS

8.1 Performance Awards

(o) Award Periods and Calculations of Potential InasnfAmounts The Committee may grant Performance Awards to
Participants. A Performance Award shall consighefright to receive a payment (measured by tlireNFarket Value of a specified number of
shares of Common Stock, increases in such Fair&iaf&lue during the Award Period and/or a fixedhcasiount) contingent upon the extent to
which certain predetermined performance targets fh@en met during an Award Period. The Award Festall be two or more fiscal or calendar
years as determined by the Committee. The Conmemittdts discretion and under such terms as itndegppropriate, may permit newly eligible
Participants, such as those who are promoted olyrfered, to receive Performance Awards after arefdvPeriod has commenced.

(p) Performance TargetsSubject to Section 11.18, the performance tamggtéicable to a Performance Award may include such
goals related to the performance of the Companwlere relevant, any one or more of its Subsidsasiedivisions and/or the performance of a
Participant as may be established by the Comniittée discretion. In the case of Performance Alsap “covered employees” (as defined in
Section 162(m) of the Code), the targets will batied to specified levels of one or more of thef@renance Goals. The performance targets
established by the Committee may vary for diffedewiard Periods and need not be the same for eatigipant receiving a Performance Award in
an Award Period.

(q) Earning Performance Award3he Committee, at or as soon as practicable tiféeDate of Grant, shall prescribe a formula to
determine the percentage of the Performance Aveabe earned based upon the degree of attainméme applicable performance targets.

() Payment of Earned Performance Awar&aibject to the requirements of Section 11.05nts of earned Performance
Awards shall be made in cash or Common Stock,amnabination of cash and Common Stock, in the dimoref the Committee. The
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Committee, in its sole discretion, may define, aatiforth in the applicable Award Agreement, sw@ins and conditions with respect to the
payment of earned Performance Awards as it may dksminable.

8.2 Termination of Serviceln the event of a Participant’s Termination ofviee during an Award Period, the Participant'sfBenance
Awards shall be forfeited except as may otherwis@rhovided in the applicable Award Agreement.

8.3 Change in Contral Unless otherwise provided by the Committee inapglicable Award Agreement, in the event of a Cjeain
Control, all Performance Awards for all Award Pelsshall immediately become fully vested and pay#&bkll Participants and shall be paid to
Participants in accordance with Section 8.01(ddhiwi30 days after such Change in Control. Theigions of this Section 8.03 shall not be
applicable to any Performance Award granted tortidizant if any Change in Control results from siRarticipant’s beneficial ownership (within
the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Adfammon Stock or Company Voting Securities.

ARTICLE IX

OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS

9.1 Grant of Other StocBased Awards (as amended May 14, 201@ther stockbased awards, consisting of stock purchase riglits
or without loans to Participants by the Companytaiming such terms as the Committee shall detepmieards of Common Stock, or Awards
valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otlise based on, Common Stock or dividends on Com&tock, may be granted either alone or in
addition to or in conjunction with other Awards @ndhe Plan. Subject to the provisions of the Plae Committee shall have sole and complete
authority to determine the persons to whom andithe or times at which such Awards shall be made number of shares of Common Stock to be
granted pursuant to such Awards, and all otheritiond of the Awards. Any such Award shall be ¢éoméd by an Award Agreement executed by
the Committee and the Participant, which Award A&gnent shall contain such provisions as the Comenitetermines to be necessary or
appropriate to carry out the intent of this Plathwespect to such Award.

9.2 Terms of Other StocBased Awards In addition to the terms and conditions specifiethe Award Agreement, Awards made
pursuant to this Article IX shall be subject to thowing:

(@ Any Common Stock subject to Awards made underAhiigle IX may not be sold, assigned, transferigddged or otherwise
encumbered prior to the date on which the shaeessaued, or, if later, the date on which any aaplie restriction, performance or deferral period
lapses; and

(b) If specified by the Committee in the Award Agreeméime recipient of an Award under this Article $Kall be entitled to
receive, currently or on a deferred basis, interest
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or dividends or dividend equivalents with respedhie Common Stock or other securities coveredbyiward; and

(c) The Award Agreement with respect to any Award sbatitain provisions dealing with the dispositiorsath Award in the
event of a Termination of Service prior to the ei&, payment or other settlement of such Awardsthédr such termination occurs because of
retirement, disability, death or other reason, wgitich provisions to take account of the specifiameaand purpose of the Award.

ARTICLE X
SHORT-TERM CASH INCENTIVE AWARDS

10.1 Eligibility . Executive officers of the Company who are frometito time determined by the Committee to be “ced@mployees”
for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code wileligible to receive short-term cash incentive awandder this Article X.

10.2 Awards.

(@) Performance TargetsThe Committee shall establish objective perforoeatargets based on specified levels of one or wiore
the Performance Goals. Such performance targatsh#hestablished by the Committee on a timelysi@sensure that the targets are considered
“preestablished” for purposes of Section 162(mthefCode.

(b) Amounts of Awards In conjunction with the establishment of perfonoa targets for a fiscal year, the Committee sddipt
an objective formula (on the basis of percentagé®adicipants’ salaries, shares in a bonus pootleerwise) for computing the respective amounts
payable under the Plan to Participants if and ¢oetktent that the performance targets are attaiBedh formula shall comply with the requirements
applicable to performance-based compensation pilader Section 162(m) of the Code and, to the eXtas¢d on percentages of a bonus pool, suct
percentages shall not exceed 100% in the aggregate.

(c) Payment of AwardsAwards will be payable to Participants in casbhegear upon prior written certification by the Quittee
of attainment of the specified performance tarfmtshe preceding fiscal year.

(d) Negative Discretion Notwithstanding the attainment by the Companthefspecified performance targets, the Committed
have the discretion, which need not be exercisé@dmmy among the Participants, to reduce or eliaténthe award that would be otherwise paid.

(e) Guidelines. The Committee shall adopt from time to time \eritipolicies for its implementation of this Articke Such
guidelines shall reflect the intention of the Compéhat all payments hereunder qualify as perfocedmased compensation under Section 162(m)
of the Code.
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(f)  NonExclusive ArrangementThe adoption and operation of this Article X $imalt preclude the Board or the Committee from
approving other short-term incentive compensatmmangements for the benefit of individuals who Regticipants hereunder as the Board or
Committee, as the case may be, deems appropridite #me best of the Company.

ARTICLE XI

TERMS APPLICABLE GENERALLY TO AWARDS
GRANTED UNDER THE PLAN

11.1 Plan Provisions Control Award Term&xcept as provided in Section 11.16, the ternth@fPlan shall govern all Awards granted
under the Plan, and in no event shall the Commiiteae the power to grant any Award under the Plaiclwnis contrary to any of the provisions of
the Plan. In the event any provision of any Awgranted under the Plan shall conflict with any témrthe Plan as constituted on the Date of Grant
of such Award, the term in the Plan as constitatethe Date of Grant of such Award shall contiekcept as provided in Section 11.03 and
Section 11.07, the terms of any Award granted utltePlan may not be changed after the Date oft@fasuch Award so as to materially decrease
the value of the Award without the express writig@proval of the holder.

11.2 Award Agreement No person shall have any rights under any Awaadhtgd under the Plan unless and until the Compadythe
Participant to whom such Award shall have beentgrhshall have executed and delivered an Award é&geat or received any other Award
acknowledgment authorized by the Committee expragsinting the Award to such person and contaipimyisions setting forth the terms of the
Award.

11.3 Modification of Award After Grant No Award granted under the Plan to a Participaay be modified (unless such modification
does not materially decrease the value of the Apatdr the Date of Grant except by express writtgreement between the Company and the
Participant, provided that any such change (a) sloébe inconsistent with the terms of the Plarg ¢b) shall be approved by the Committee.

11.4 Limitation on Transfer Except as provided in Section 7.01(c) in the addRestricted Shares, a Participanights and interest unc
the Plan may not be assigned or transferred dtlaer by will or the laws of descent and distributiand during the lifetime of a Participant, onlg
Participant personally (or the Participant’'s peedaapresentative) may exercise rights under taa.PThe Participant’s Beneficiary may exercise
the Participant’s rights to the extent they arereéigzable under the Plan following the death ofFlagticipant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the
extent permitted under Section 16(b) of the Excleahg with respect to Participants subject to sBehtion, the Committee may grant Non-
Qualified Stock Options that are transferable, aithpayment of consideration, to immediate familgmiers of the Participant or to trusts or
partnerships for such family members, and the Cdtamimay also amend outstanding Non-Qualified S@g#ons to provide for such
transferability.
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11.5 Taxes. The Company shall be entitled, if the Committeerds it necessary or desirable, to withhold (ouepayment from the
Participant in lieu of withholding) the amount afyawithholding or other tax required by law to bithlield or paid by the Company with respect to
any amount payable and/or shares issuable underParticipant’s Award, or with respect to any in@mecognized upon a disqualifying
disposition of shares received pursuant to thecgseof an Incentive Stock Option, and the Company defer payment or issuance of the cash or
shares upon exercise or vesting of an Award unheksnnified to its satisfaction against any liaiifior any such tax. The amount of such
withholding or tax payment shall be determinedhsy €Committee and shall be payable by the Partitigiasuch time as the Committee determines
in accordance with the following rules:

(@) The Participant shall have the right to elect t@ttes or her withholding requirement (i) by havinghheld from such Award
at the appropriate time that number of shares ofifion Stock, rounded up to the next whole sharese/ti@ir Market Value is equal to the amc
of withholding taxes due, (ii) by direct paymenthe Company in cash of the amount of any taxesired| to be withheld with respect to such
Award or (iii) by a combination of shares and cash.

(b) Inthe case of Participants who are subject toi@edit of the Exchange Act, the Committee may inepssch limitations and
restrictions as it deems necessary or appropriglteraspect to the delivery or withholding of steacd Common Stock to meet tax withholding
obligations.

11.6 Surrender of AwardsAny Award granted under the Plan may be surrexttier the Company for cancellation on such ternthas
Committee and the holder approve. With the conggktite Participant, the Committee may substitute\® Award under this Plan in connection
with the surrender by the Participant of an eqadgnpensation award previously granted under ttaa Bt any other plan sponsored by the
Company; provided, however, that no such substitushall be permitted without the approval of tlmmpany’s stockholders if such approval is
required by the rules of any applicable stock ergea

11.7 Adjustments to Reflect Capital Changes

(a) Recapitalization In the event of any corporate event or transadjitcluding, but not limited to, a change in then@non
Stock or the capitalization of the Company) such agerger, consolidation, reorganization, recapétbn, separation, partial or complete
liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, reverseck split, split up, spin-off, or other distribati of stock or property of the Company, a combaorati
or exchange of Common Stock, dividend in kind, thieo like change in capital structure, number détanding shares of Common Stock,
distribution (other than normal cash dividends3hareholders of the Company, or any similar coeoggent or transaction, the Committee, in
order to prevent dilution or enlargement of Papticits’ rights under this Plan, shall make equitalble appropriate adjustments and substitutions, a:
applicable, to or of the number and kind of sharggect to outstanding Awards, the Purchase Priéercise Price for such shares, the number
and kind of shares available for future issuana@euthe Plan and the maximum number of sharespest of which Awards can be made to any
Participant in any calendar year, and other detatitins
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applicable to outstanding Awards. The Committes| dtave the power and sole discretion to deterrttiseamount of the adjustment to be made in
each case.

(b) Merger. (as amended May 14, 20)&ffective upon the consummation of a Mergerpalistanding Awards under the Plan
shall terminate. However, all such Awards shallteaninate to the extent they are Assumed in cdiorewith the Merger. The Committee shall
have the authority, exercisable either in advari@g actual or anticipated Merger or at the tiharmactual Merger and exercisable at the Date of
Grant of an Award under the Plan or any time whileAward remains outstanding, to provide for tHedupartial automatic vesting and
exercisability of one or more outstanding unvegtedrds under the Plan and the release from rdsingbn transfer and repurchase or forfeiture
rights of such Awards in connection with a Merger,such terms and conditions as the Committee pegify. The Committee also shall have the
authority to condition any such Award vesting ardreisability or release from such limitations ugba subsequent Termination of Service of the
Participant within a specified period following teffective date of the Merger. The Committee mayvjute that any Awards so vested or released
from such limitations in connection with a Mergbal remain fully exercisable until the expirationsooner termination of the Award. Any
Incentive Stock Option accelerated under this 8ecil.7(b) in connection with a Merger shall rem@ircisable as an Incentive Stock Option
under the Code only to the extent the $100,00@dbihitation of Section 422(d) is not exceeded.

(c) Options to Purchase Shares or Stock of Acquiredg2migs. After any Merger in which the Company or a Sulasidshall be
a surviving corporation, the Committee may grafussituted options under the provisions of the Ppamsuant to Section 424 of the Code, repla
old options granted under a plan of another parth¢ Merger whose shares or stock subject tolthepiions may no longer be issued following
the Merger. The foregoing adjustments and mannapplfication of the foregoing provisions shall letedmined by the Committee in its sole
discretion. Any such adjustments may provide ferg¢limination of any fractional shares which migttterwise become subject to any Options.

11.8 No Right to Continued ServiceNo person shall have any claim of right to bentgd an Award under this Plan. Neither the Plan nor
any action taken hereunder shall be construedvarggany Participant any right to be retained ia slervice of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries.

11.9 Awards Not Includable for Benefit PurposeBayments received by a Participant pursuantagtbvisions of the Plan shall not be
included in the determination of benefits under pegision, group insurance or other benefit plardiegdge to the Participant which is maintained
by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, excephay be provided under the terms of such plaget@rmined by the Board.

11.10 Governing Law. All determinations made and actions taken purstgatie Plan shall be governed by the laws off@alia and
construed in accordance therewith.
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11.11 No Strict Construction No rule of strict construction shall be implieghinst the Company, the Committee, or any othesqrein
the interpretation of any of the terms of the Ptmy Award granted under the Plan or any rule ocgdure established by the Committee.

11.12 Compliance with Rule 168 . It is intended that, unless the Committee deteesibtherwise, Awards under the Plan be eligible fo
exemption under Rule 16b-3. The Board is authdrineamend the Plan and to make any such moditatio Award Agreements to comply with
Rule 16b-3, as it may be amended from time to tane, to make any other such amendments or modiifitatis it deems necessary or appropriate
to better accomplish the purposes of the Plargint Ibf any amendments made to Rule 16b-3.

11.13 Captions The captions (i.e., all Section headings) usetiérPlan are for convenience only, do not cortstidupart of the Plan, and
shall not be deemed to limit, characterize or affeany way any provisions of the Plan, and atiyisions of the Plan shall be construed as if no
captions have been used in the Plan.

11.14 Severability. Whenever possible, each provision in the Planesedy Award at any time granted under the Plafi beanterpreted
in such manner as to be effective and valid ungpli@able law, but if any provision of the Planamy Award at any time granted under the Plan
shall be held to be prohibited by or invalid unédpplicable law, then (a) such provision shall bended amended to accomplish the objectives (
provision as originally written to the fullest ertegpermitted by law and (b) all other provisiondfué Plan and every other Award at any time
granted under the Plan shall remain in full forod affect.

11.15 Amendment and Terminatian

(& Amendment The Board shall have complete power and authtyigmend the Plan at any time; provided, howehat,the
Board shall not, without the requisite affirmatiaeproval of stockholders of the Company, make angradlment which requires stockholder
approval under the Code or under any other appédalw or rule of any stock exchange which listsr@mon Stock or Company Voting Securities.
No termination or amendment of the Plan may, witlibe consent of the Participant to whom any Awsdrdll theretofore have been granted ut
the Plan, adversely affect the right of such irdlin&l under such Award.

(b) Termination. The Board shall have the right and the poweetminate the Plan at any time. No Award shall ttgd under
the Plan after the termination of the Plan, buttémmination of the Plan shall not have any ottifrce and any Award outstanding at the time of the
termination of the Plan may be exercised after itgsitton of the Plan at any time prior to the expia date of such Award to the same extent such
Award would have been exercisable had the Platenoiinated.

11.16 Foreign Qualified Awards Awards under the Plan may be granted to such@rept of the Company and its Subsidiaries who are
residing in foreign jurisdictions as the Commitbeéts sole discretion may determine from timeitoe. The Committee may adopt such
supplements to the Plan as may be necessary apajgte to comply with the applicable
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laws of such foreign jurisdictions and to affordtiRdpants favorable treatment under such lawsyidexd, however, that no Award shall be granted
under any such supplement with terms or conditioosnsistent with the provision set forth in tharl

11.17 Dividend Equivalents For any Award granted under the Plan, the Coramishall have the discretion, upon the Date of Gran
thereafter, to establish a Dividend Equivalent Asttowith respect to the Award, and the applicabheafd Agreement or an amendment thereto
shall confirm such establishment. If a Dividendilzglent Account is established, the following terghall apply:

(@) Terms and ConditionsDividend Equivalent Accounts shall be subjecsiich terms and conditions as the Committee shall
determine and as shall be set forth in the apgicAtvard Agreement. Such terms and conditions melade, without limitation, for the
Participant’s Account to be credited as of the réaate of each cash dividend on the Common Staitkam amount equal to the cash dividends
which would be paid with respect to the numberhafres of Common Stock then covered by the relatedrd if such shares of Common Stock had
been owned of record by the Participant on sucbrdedate.

(b) Unfunded Obligation Dividend Equivalent Accounts shall be establisaed maintained only on the books and recordseof th
Company and no assets or funds of the Companylshakt aside, placed in trust, removed from thiend of the Company’s general creditors, or
otherwise made available until such amounts argaligtpayable as provided hereunder.

11.18 Adjustment of Performance Goals and Targdtstwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thatcary, the Committee shall have
the authority to adjust any Performance Goal, perémce target or other performaruased criteria established with respect to any Awader th:
Plan if circumstances occur (including, but notiféd to, unusual or nonrecurring events, changésitaws or accounting principles or practice
changed business or economic conditions) that caussuch Performance Goal, performance targetmdompnance-based criteria to be
inappropriate in the judgment of the Committeevjted, that with respect to any Award that is inted to qualify for the “performance-based
compensationéxception under Section 162(m) of the Code anddbelations thereunder, any adjustment by the Carmenshall be consistent w
the requirements of Section 162(m) and the reguratthereunder.

11.19 Leqality of IssuanceNotwithstanding any provision of this Plan or applcable Award Agreement to the contrary, the Cattaa
shall have the sole discretion to impose such ¢immdi, restrictions and limitations (including sasding exercises of Options or Stock Apprecie
Rights and the tolling of any applicable exerciséqu during such suspension) on the issuance wf@an Stock with respect to any Award unless
and until the Committee determines that such issei@omplies with (i) any applicable registratioguigements under the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Committee has determined that an exemptiom finem is available, (ii) any applicable listingjregrement of any stock exchange on which the
Common Stock is listed, and (iii) any other ap@iesprovision of state, federal or foreign law,liming foreign securities laws where applicable.
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11.20 Restrictions on TransfeRegardless of whether the offering and sale of ComB8tock under the Plan have been registered under
the Securities Act of 1933 or have been registeregualified under the securities laws of any stéite Company may impose restrictions upon the
sale, pledge, or other transfer of such CommonkSiacluding the placement of appropriate legenstock certificates) if, in the judgment of the
Company and its counsel, such restrictions aressecg or desirable to achieve compliance with tiegipions of the Securities Act of 1933, the
securities laws of any state, the United Statemgrother applicable foreign law.

11.21 Further Assuranceés a condition to receipt of any Award under tharRla Participant shall agree, upon demand of tmepany,
to do all acts and execute, deliver and performaddiitional documents, instruments and agreememitshwnay be reasonably required by the
Company, to implement the provisions and purpo$éseoPlan.

DM3\1400199.1
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Exhibit 21.1

INOVIO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Subsidiaries

Subsidiary Name(1)
Jurisdiction of Organization

Genetronics, Inc.

California
VGX Pharmaceuticals, LLC

Delaware
VGX Animal Health, Inc.

Delaware

Q) In accordance with Instructions (ii) to Exhif21) to the Exhibit Table in Item 601 of RegutettiS-K, Registrant has omitted from the above tahkeof its subsidiaries
because such omitted subsidiary does not consttsignificant subsidiary of registrant as of the ef the year covered by this report.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference infdlewing Registration Statements:

©CoNOGO,WNE

A Al el
Nookwdhpko

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.
. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.

388123) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, |i

388126) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, |i

338670) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, |i

333698) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, |i

333584) of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, |i

38B8077) pertaining to Genetronics Biomedical Caafion 2000 Stock Option Pl
328061) pertaining to Genetronics Biomedical Caaion Amended 2000 Stock Option P
338126) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporatiddmended 2000 Stock Option PI
332938) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical CorporatRB07 Omnibus Incentive Pli
338769) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporat@®07 Omnibus Incentive Pl
338035) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporatiinal Genomics, Inc. Equity Compensation P
383559) pertaining to Inovio Biomedical Corporat@®07 Omnibus Incentive Pl
333-16pPertaining to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, ;2007 Omnibus Incentive Pl
333-13%pBrtaining to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, ;12007 Omnibus Incentive Pl.
333-18}p2rtaining to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, ;2007 Omnibus Incentive Pl
333-18pPertaining to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, ;12007 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
333-18pP2rtaining to Inovio Pharmaceuticals, ;2007 Omnibus Incentive Pl

of our reports dated March 13, 2015, with respethé consolidated financial statements of Inoviarfhaceuticals, Inc. and the effectiveness of adezontrol over financial
reporting of Inovio Pharmaceuticals, Inc. includedhis Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Inovio Pharreaticals, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 13, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&%(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, J. Joseph Kim, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl®fInovio Pharmaceuticals, Ir

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadom@ny untrue statement of a material fact ort dnstate a material fact necessary to make #tiersents made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statesere made, not misleading with respect to #reg covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the regyigtas of, and for, the periods presented in gpsnt;

The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisclosure controls and procedures (as defin&kamange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootret financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrand have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proeedatbe designed under our supervision, to ensate
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtmws by others within those entities, partidylduring the
period in which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveairitial reporting to be designed under our supenvjgd provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitjnafitial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and presenthib report our conclusions about the effectasmof the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on sueluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesteant's internal control over financial reportithgt occurred during the registrant's most refiecal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the caserofanual report) that has materially affectedsaeasonably likely to materially affect, the régist's internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(spgdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent eu@huaf internal control over financial reporting, the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's bo&directors (or persons performing the equivalemictions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are reasonabkgly to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to re¢cqmebcess, summarize and report financial inforomatand
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisatifole in the registrant's internal control ofreancial
reporting.
Date:March 13, 2015 /sl J. bsepH K M
J. Joseph Kim

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-&%(
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Peter Kies, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Fornkl@¥-Inovio Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadom@ny untrue statement of a material fact ort dnstate a material fact necessary to make #tiersents made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statesere made, not misleading with respect to #reg covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the regyigtas of, and for, the periods presented in gpsnt;

The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisclosure controls and procedures (as defin&kamange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootret financial reporting (as defined in Exchangg Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrand have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proeedatbe designed under our supervision, to ensate
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtmws by others within those entities, partidylduring the

period in which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveairitial reporting to be designed under our supenvjgd provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitjnafitial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally

accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and presenthib report our conclusions about the effectasmof the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on sueluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesteant's internal control over financial reportithgt occurred during the registrant's most refiecal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the caserofanual report) that has materially affectedsaeasonably likely to materially affect, the régist's internal

control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(spgdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent eu@huaf internal control over financial reporting, the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's bo&directors (or persons performing the equivalemictions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are reasonabkgly to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to re¢cqmebcess, summarize and report financial inforomatand
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéatn the registrant's internal con
Date:March 13, 2015 /sl PeTer K IES
Peter Kies

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Inovio Rinaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form K@er the year ending December 31, 2014 as filetth Wie Securities ar
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Rgpeech of the undersigned, in the capacities@nthe date indicated below, hereby certifies, yamsto 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90&dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his kndgée

Q) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; an

2) The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations of the Comp
Date:March 13, 2015 /sl J. bserH K M
J. Joseph Kim

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:March 13, 2015 /sl PeTER K IES

Peter Kies
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




